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Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited (formerly
known as “Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited”)
(“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together with the Company,
collectively the “Group”) principally engages in the provision of (i)
private educational services; (ii) STEAM Education, VR and Digital
Entertainment sales and services; and (iii) investment in securities.
The Group also offer money lending service to further utilize the
cash flow generated from our business.

For the year ended 30 June 2023 (“Year”), the Group recorded
revenue of approximately HK$117.61 million (2022: approximately
HK$90.05 million), representing an increase of approximately
30.61% as compared to the last financial year. Despite the absence
of share-based transactions during the Year, loss attributable to
owners of the Company for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$28.54 million (2022: loss of approximately HK$32.89 million),
such loss was mainly attributable to (i) a significant decrease in
fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
of approximately HK$13.98 million primarily as a result of the
impairment loss on both listed securities and private investments
with reference to the bearish sentiment in Hong Kong and
global stock market; (ii) an increase in marketing expenses to
approximately HK$3.80 million; (iii) an increase in finance cost to
approximately HK$2.10 million; and (iv) the impairment loss on
trade and other receivables of approximately HK$7.93 million in
aggregate.

BFHEAE (BEBRREESEARAR (AIBIEEHE
(B REEBAERARD(AAR]) REKBEAR
(BAQRGBIAERFBREREOLALER
% ¢ (iDSTEAM# B - VREEIGIREEHE KRS : &
(K EFEHF - AEBMBHEERS - LWE—F A
BMEBRELREIRERE

HZE2023F6A30BILFE(AFE])  XEEH
BUA#9117,610,0007% 75 (20224 : #990,050,000
BT RE—EMBRFELMBH30.61% - BER
REFIEARNDAERNRS  BAFEEARQ A
BB A B B 18 #728,540,00058 7T (20224 : B
32,890,000/ 7T) - EEEBENEZHAR)IZAFE
STABEM S RVE E A FEKER L 413,980,000/
T TERHREEREERTHNERBEER LT
BHERALAREREEE  (DTBEERAIENE
#93,800,0007 7T + (iii) B 75 Bk A 38 AN = £92,100,000
B RVESREMERFEREESES XD
7,930,000/ 7T °
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BUSINESS REVIEW
(i) Provision of Private Educational Services

E 3 3C1)
() REALABKBERE

Our provision of private education services business include
primary tutoring services, skill course and test preparation
courses, secondary tutoring services and English language
training and test preparation courses. The revenue derived
from provision of private education service amount to
approximately HK$27.13 million during the Year (2022:
approximately HK$26.33 million). The business environment
for the education industry in Hong Kong has been changing
rapidly since the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic. To adopt
the changes, the Group has launched online classes and other
online learning modes to allow students to keep up with the
pace of learning.

During the Year and as at 30 June 2023, our learning centre
was operated under our brand name of “Modern Education
(B B)” to provide secondary tutoring services, where we
offered both physical class and online class to students to meet
different needs. Revenue recorded from secondary tutoring
services was approximately HK$0.89 million, representing
a decrease of approximately 25.83% compared to the last
financial year (2022: approximately HK$1.20 million).

During the Year, the Group derived revenue from the English
language training and test preparation courses approximately
HK$85,000 (2022: approximately HK$77,000).

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had 7 directly-owned education
centres and 29 franchised centres operating under the brand
name of “Modern Bachelor Education ((R4%/]\E24)". During
the Year, there were 3 new franchisees joined the franchisee
scheme. The number of course enrolments recorded from
directly-owned education centres was approximately 15,300
(2022: approximately 15,500). Revenue generated from
directly-owned education centres was approximately HK$20.23
million, representing a slight increase of approximately 1.86%
as compared with approximately HK$19.86 million for the last
financial year. Revenue contributed from franchised centres
to the Group during the Year remained relatively stable at
approximately HK$4.08 million as compared to approximately
HK$3.91 million in 2022.

BMIRENFLABERBEFRE/ N BHER
% REREREARE  PEFERBAKRE
BEIRERARE  -RAFE - RARHLA
HAE RS UL A 427,130,000/ 7T (20224 49
26,330,000/ 7T) ° B COVID-19%& fEHE 2 DA -
ERHETENERNRRSREY - AEYE
g AEECHITELREREME FBFEX
NSEBER FEBERT -

RAREE RR2023F6 8308 » HFAMUIIBREK
BlmBEaEHEPLIRHPBHEZIRSE - X
MELREERREIR LERBURRTRAE
koo REHE RS S ALE90,0004 5T ¢
B _E— (B B 2R 2 #)25.83% (20224F - 49
1,200,000/ 7T) °

RAFE - NEE KA REF R EARZH K
A#185,0007 7T (20224 © #977,000/47T) ©

M2023F6A30H - AEEBTHEEHEP L
ROORIFF &R AR/ NEL | RS EE -
RAFE  3EHMBFHECEMMARFTELT
g c EEHBTRLRBHRA AKL15,300%4
(20224F : #915,500%) - BEEEHEFLEL
AU A 4920,230,0007% 7T 8 = — BB BRF E A
19,860,000/ TT B &3 IN491.86% o R FF4s &
DRAFEARNE BRI KA GFRYEETE
#)/54,080,000/8 7T » M20224F BIl49/43,910,000
T o
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEBNWRRDN

(ii) STEAM Education, VR and Digital Entertainment

sales and services

Following the emergence of the concept of Web 3.0, and
a growing demand on STEAM education services in Hong
Kong, the Group offered various STEAM courses under the
brand name of “UFO School”. During the Year, the Group
generated revenue of approximately HK$1.83 million from the
provision of STEAM Education services, represented a growth
of approximately 281.25% as compared to approximately
HK$0.48 million in the last financial year.

Apart from the provision of STEAM education services, the
Group also generated revenue of approximately HK$4.82
million from sales of VR products and provision of related
services and approximately HK$83.99 million from sales
of gaming products during the Year (2022: approximately
HK$6.43 million and HK$54.04 million, respectively).

(iii) Money Lending Business

Besides the aforementioned business segments, the Group also
offered money lending service to utilize the cash flow generated
from other segments for corporations and individuals. China
Rich Finance Limited (“China Rich”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, is a holder of the money lender’s
license under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (“Money Lenders Ordinance”). China
Rich has adopted money lending policies and procedures for
handling and/or monitoring the money lending business in
compliance with the Money Lenders Ordinance.

China Rich is principally engaged in carrying out money
lending business by providing secured and unsecured loans
to its customers. It is operated and managed by a director and
a loan manager, who have years of experience in accounting,
business development and/or financial services and
management.

Through the business and social networks of the senior
management of the Group, China Rich would identify and
be referred potential clients, which would include corporate
and high net wealth individual clients. China Rich would then
assess the credit and risk of such potential customers based on
its credit policy and procedure. Below set forth the key internal
control measures and procedures of China Rich:

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT
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RAFE  AEBEBRESTEAMBE R EL
YA #1,830,000/8 7T » B £ — B KEFEH
480,000/ TTIE fN%7281.25% °
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Loan application and approval

In progress of loan applications, internal credit assessments
would be performed to decide the proposed loan size and
interest rate charged. The internal credit assessment included
but not limited to:

verification and background checking, such as the
identity documents and statutory records (i.e. identity
card, address proof, business registration certificate, latest
annual return, etc.);

— obtain income or asset proof of the borrower and
guarantor, such as share certificates, bank statements
and security statements, etc.;

—  the valuation documents of the collaterals (if any); and

—  the verification of the authenticity of the information
provided.

Furthermore, China Rich would perform public search towards
the borrower and guarantor (if any) to ensure compliance
with the relevant requirements and regulations of anti-money
laundering and counter-terrorist financing (“AML & CTF").
For each loan application, rather than a pre-set minimum
amount of income/revenue/profit/total asset/net asset level, the
management would determine and approve the loan amount
and interest rates based on the relevant financials, repayment
ability and the overall quality of borrowers/guarantors and the
respective collaterals, subject to business negotiations and
market conditions. In general, the aggregate value of 12-month
income/profit before tax and net asset value/net worth of the
prospective borrower or its guarantor are the key financial
benchmarks adopted by China Rich and which should not be
less than the proposed loan amount and the relevant interest.
The loan approval will be further subject to the judgement of
the management, where certain factors may also be considered
in loan assessment as additional factors that would greatly
affect the likelihood of the loan recoverability, such as the
credit history, career profile, business or family background of
the borrower/guarantor and the purpose of the borrowing.

~ Management

BHFFEREM
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B BHE E R RE R FIE - REEE
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RAERANEEABED - BRENRER
B R RAAR R R EE R EIE RS NA
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Recovery and collection of loan receivables

Upon granting the loan, China Rich would keep track of the
repayment records and loan portfolio on an on-going basis and
conduct recoverability review at each period end, in particular
for any past due loan accounts. China Rich would follow the
review procedure as follow: (i) obtain and review the repayment
records of every loan and interests repayment to ensure every
repayment is repaid on schedule and at the appropriate
amount; (ii) communicate actively with the customers for past
due repayment; and (iii) conduct legal action when considered
necessary. China Rich would further obtain the updated
financial information from the borrowers when late repayment
records were noted to assess the recoverability of loan.
Different procedures and effort are put onto the loan recovery,
appropriate actions, such as sending legal demand letter,
legal proceedings arrangement, etc., would be considered by
China Rich, subject to the recovery situation of the loans and
negotiation with customers.

As at 30 June 2023, all the loans receivables of China Rich
were unsecured loans. The management of China Rich are of
the view that the composition is reasonable and in the interests
of the shareholders as a whole, considering that a relatively
higher interest yield could be associated with an unsecured
loan, given that the borrower can fulfill China Rich’s loan
approval requirements as mentioned above.

Impairment provisions

The Group adopted estimated credit loss allowances (“ECLs”)
according to the requirements of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard (“HKFRS”) 9 issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Group made
impairment provision on loan and interest receivables primarily
based on the future macroeconomic conditions and borrowers’
creditworthiness (e.g. the likelihood of default by customers).
Such assessment has taken regard of quantitative and
qualitative historical information and also, the forward-looking
analysis.

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT

W 21 2 36 5 FE K B L
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The following table shows the China Rich’s loan balance as at
30 June 2023 by different nature of loans.

TREFEEN2023F6A30H R TREREE
Bl B RERE -

Loan % of total

Total principal loan principal

number of as at Interest rate as at

borrowers 30 June 2023 per annum Term 30 June 2023

151420235

683081

R2023%F £

6A30A# BEN

BRAEEY e FR= HR BAk

HK$'000 % Months %

FET % A %

Unsecured loans ERAER 17,353 9-15 12 100.0
Total @it 17,353 100.0

For the Group’s loan portfolio as at 30 June 2023, outstanding
principal amount of loan receivables before certain impairment
was approximately HK$17.35 million, of which the entire
balance represented the principal amount of loan receivables
from seven individual customers.

A maturity profile of the loans and interest receivables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the maturity date, net of
provision, is as follow:

BAEER2023F6A30AMERBEEME @ &
ETRHEMNEBRERN D AREEASROR
17,350,000 7T * 2 BHHBERBRLREARTF
RN ERA S

JEWE TR M B R HIR BB B 1B B
MEHERT

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T/87T

0-90 days 0%90H 2,811 8,059
91-180 days 91%180H - 11,320
181-365 days 181%365H 11,165 -
13,976 19,379

China Rich’s five largest loan receivables and interest
receivables amounted to approximately HK$16.22 million or
92.68% (2022: HK$24.23 million or 80.90%) of its total loan
receivables and interest receivables, of which approximately
HK$7.28 million or 41.60% (2022: HK$10.89 million or
36.36%) was made to the largest customer.

EE 2 AREREREHE416,220,0008 T -
{5 H U E R B B 48 %R 92.68% (20224
24,230,000/ 7T 5(80.90%) * E 47,280,000
#BT41.60% (20224 : 10,890,000 7T 5k
36.36%) KEHZRAREF °
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Loan receivables with outstanding principal and interest as at
30 June 2023 in aggregate amount of approximately HK$3.52
million (2022: approximately HK$10.57 million) which have
been past due and impaired as at the reporting date, and
additional impairment loss of approximately HK$22,000 (2022:
approximately HK$4.46 million) and reversal of impairment
loss of approximately HK$7.07 million (2022: HK$Nil) were
respectively recognised for the Year.

Investments
Assets Investments
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”)

During the Year, the Group continued to participate in the stock
market for securities trading. The Group acquired listed securities
in 21 listed companies in Hong Kong and disposed listed securities
in 13 listed companies in its investment portfolio during the Year.
As at 30 June 2023, the Group had financial assets at FVPL with a
fair value of approximately HK$65.56 million. The Group recorded
a loss in fair value change of approximately HK$13.98 million, in
aggregate, on financial assets at FVPL (2022: loss of approximately
HK$6.18 million) with reference to the bearish sentiment in Hong
Kong and global stock market.

R2023%F6 H30A WABEERE R SWEKE
TARFEXI3,520,00078 7T (20224 : 410,570,000

BL) ERBMEAHEABERE BR
REE DRI EREINAEEIEL22,000% T
(20224 : #94,460,0007% 70) KR B B B # B 4
7,070,000 7T (20224 : T IT) ©

RE

BERE

BERAFEGABZ ((BEAFEFAED )L BEE
RAFE  AEBEBNREMELEELRS ° &
EERAFECRE2IMEALTMRAGBMN LETES
YHEEREEATHISH LT RARN LEHES - B
20236 A30H  AEERATEFAEZNE/RE
EZ AF{EX65,560,000/8 7T - NEBBLEBEREER
BHERBEBRNRZAFEFTABSNSREE
BRAFEZBEBEATEL 13,980,000 7T (20224F :
E518 496,180,000/ 7T) °
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Details of the significant investments and other investments in the
portfolio under financial assets at FVPL with a value of 5% or more

MR2023F6A30H ' AT EFAEBENEHEEMA
AANBEEAEELEZBEES%HIA LNEAE

of the Group’s audited total assets as at 30 June 2023 are as follows: B REMWEFBELOT :
Percentage Percentage to
held to the the Group's
total issued Fair value audited total
Number of  share capital Investment  as at 30 June assets as at
Description of investments Principal businesses shares held of the company cost 2023 30 June 2023
20234
6A30H
ERHE HEEE
ERTRA R2023F BEX
R 5 BENRR 6A30H BEEN
REMT TEER E e BOl REKK MATE Bl
(approximately) HK$'000 HK$000  (approximately)
(B1#) FET BT (#14))
Significant investment
EARE
Convoy Global Holdings Limited Financial advisory business, 348,904,000 2.34% 122,116 16,399 9.68%
(“Convoy”), incorporated in the money lending business,
Cayman Islands proprietary investment
business, asset management
business and securities
dealing business.
REBHRERERARA(ERER]) - BUERER E5%% 8
iNGEE AR alifAv EREREE AETEER
Other investments
HitR &
Listed equity securities* - - 48 488 34,693 20.47%
EHRARE S
Unlisted equity funds 11,019 11,951 7.06%
FLTRAES
Grand total 181,623 63,043 37.20%
s
*  [Listed equity securities included the securities of 13 companies which L LTRAFBZFCEISEIRE B EXZHBRAA]

are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and the securities of 10 companies which
are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange. Each of the investments
included in the listed equity securities does not exceed 5% of the

Group’s audited total assets as at 30 June 2023.

([ ER LETRYR A2 55 RIOF R BB
GEM MBI R RIZ % o LTRAZFLZFEEHEE
RE UK EBIBAE B R 2023F6 H30 HAE F X 48 B EH)
5%
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Details of the change in fair value of financial assets at FVPL during

the Year are as follows:

RAFE  BAFEFABENEREEZATEE

BB

Net realised Net unrealised

fair value fair value

gain gain (loss)

for the Year for the Year

AEECENE AEERER

ATE AFEWR

Description of investments BE MM Wz F 88 (E518) 35
HK$'000 HK$000

FEIT FET

Convoy B - (3,929)
Listed equity securities* TR ES 1,914 (12,983)
Unlisted equity funds ELETRAES = 970
Convertible bond AR E - 45
Grand total BET 1,914 (15,897)

*

Listed equity securities included the securities of 21 companies which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and the securities
of 11 companies which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Performance and future prospects of the Company’s significant
investments

Trading in the shares of Convoy (“Convoy Shares”) has been halted
since 7 December 2017, and the Listing Committee of the Stock
Exchange decided to cancel Convoy’s listing under Rule 6.01A of
the Listing Rules on 28 May 2020 (“Delisting Decision”). Although
Convoy had made a written request for a review of the Delisting
Decision on 5 June 2020, the Listing Review Committee of the
Stock Exchange upheld the Delisting Decision on 21 April 2021.
Accordingly, the Stock Exchange cancelled the listing of Convoy
Shares with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 4 May 2021.
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From the announcements of Convoy dated 21 and 22 May 2021,
both of which were published on Convoy’s website, Convoy has
appointed J P Jenkins Ltd in the United Kingdom, an electronic
trading platform for non-listed companies, to provide matching
services for shareholders of Convoy who wish to sell Convoy Shares
with potential investors who wish to acquire Convoy Shares. From
the announcement of Convoy dated 29 April 2021, a possible
offer (“Possible Offer”) in relation to the purchase of all Convoy
Shares was made by AGBA Acquisition Limited, a special purpose-
acquisition company listed on the National Association of Securities
Dealers Automated Quotations exchange of the United States
of America. The Possible Offer was later terminated which was
disclosed in the announcement of Convoy dated 12 June 2021.
The Directors would continue to monitor the situation of Convoy to
protect the interest of the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$117.61 million
for the Year, representing an increase of approximately 30.61% as
compared to approximately HK$90.05 million recorded in the last
financial year.

During the Year, revenue generated from the segment of provision of
private educational services is as below:

—  Secondary tutoring services: a drop in revenue to approximately
HK$0.89 million, representing a decrease of approximately
25.83% as compared to approximately HK$1.20 million
recorded in the last financial year.

=  English language training and test preparation courses:
a relatively stable revenue at approximately HK$85,000,
representing an increase of approximately 10.39% as
compared to approximately HK$77,000 recorded in the last
financial year.

—  Primary tutoring services, skill courses and test preparation
courses, and franchising: an increase in revenue to
approximately HK$24.31 million, representing an increase of
approximately 2.27% as compared to approximately HK$23.77
million recorded in the last financial year.

BIEREERERY T B A2021465821 8 k228
HAE  BEREEEBER ) P Jenkins Ltd(—EA3E

EFTRRAMBZEFRGFR)ABBELEREZRG
WRZBRRERBEBEREZRMOBEIREE RS
HBRS - BRERZBEA2021F4A298 M A% -
AGBA Acquisition Limited(BREBMITEREFLFR S
FrEme—RESEKENBEARDIELBEEBE 2
BREBROOBEZN(BEZEN]D - BEZHEED
®RiE - BRFEREZBHA2021F6A12BEMRE
WE  EFHEBERRANBERAREREE BT

N
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Bt % [ B8

LON

RAFE  RAEBEHFKRAXLL7,610,000/87T -
8 — B8 R E 15 #9£990,050,00078 TTHE A4
30.61% °

RAEE  REMABERBAMEEHBANT

- HREHIRE WA ELBI0,000ETT © B
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During the Year, the Group recorded revenue from the segment of
STEAM education services, VR and digital entertainment: (i) trading
of VR products and provision of related services of approximately
HK$4.82 million (2022: approximately HK$6.43 million); (ii) the
STEAM education services of approximately HK$1.83 million (2022:
approximately HK$0.48 million); and (iii) trading of gaming products
of approximately HK$83.99 million (2022: approximately HK$54.04
million).

During the Year, the Group recorded loan interest income from
the segment of money lending business of approximately HK$1.67
million (2022: approximately HK$3.25 million).

Other income, gains and losses, net

For the Year, the Group’s other income, gains and losses recorded
a net gain of approximately HK$1.06 million (2022: net gain of
approximately HK$4.54 million). Such gain was mainly due to the
net effect of (i) service charge income of approximately HK$1.96
million; (ii) impairment loss on trade and other receivables of
approximately HK$7.93 million in aggregate; and (iii) reversal of
impairment loss an loan receivables of approximately HK$7.05
million.

Staff costs

The Group’s staff costs decreased by approximately HK$18.92
million or approximately 41.15% compared with the last financial
year, which was primarily a result of absence of the one-off equity
settled share-based transactions of approximately HK$19.06 million
incurred during the last financial year.

Tutor contractor fee

The Group’s tutor contractor fee increased by approximately
HK$0.42 million or 20.13% to approximately HK$2.48 million as
compared with the last financial year. Such movement was generally
consistent with the increased revenue from STEAM education
services.

RAFE » REBESSKASTEAMHEE R - VREH

IBIRLE S EHW A : (WVRERE 5 RIRHEBIRSEH
U A 494,820,000 7T (20224 © 496,430,000/ 7T) :
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F 1 £9480,000% 7T) : R(iNBEEME HHKAL
83,990,000/ 7T (20224F : %754,040,000/ 7T) °

RAFE  AEEHSREBEEHSBOEFRHNE
WA 491,670,000 7T, (20224 = #)3,250,000% 7T) °

Hip A - s R A& - B8
RAFEE - AEBOEMKA - s REBREFR
491,060,000/ 7T (20224F + Uz % 88 494,540,000/

T0) c ARSI EEARN TISEREZEMRE : ()
AR & WA 491,960,000 7T ¢ (i) E 5 M H th FE UK

A2 MERERATEL7,930,0008 7T ¢ K (i) B E K
B BB R [M4)7,050,00078 7T
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Marketing expenses

The Group’s marketing expenses increased significantly by
approximately HK$3.01 million or approximately 382.34% to
approximately HK$3.80 million for the Year as compared with
approximately HK$0.79 million for the last financial year, which
was mainly due to the extension of the Group’s marketing activities,
including the collaboration with a YouTube Channel, during the
Year.

Other operating expenses

The Group’s other operating expenses (“other operating expenses”)
were mainly comprised of the following:

SRS
AREARFEEONTSERRASXRE—BAYRFEED
790,000/ JL A 832 AN #73,010,00078 T 5 #1382.34%
£#)3,800,000/8 7T * WHEBRHARNAEERAFE
BRMSHERELE(BEE—EYouTubeBB A 1F) P
2o

Hip &<

AEEHEMELSHE (EEERT)EE 07N
THEHE:

HK$'000
FET
(approximately)
(#E49)
Rental related fees and charges (including building HemEERRT S

management fee, air conditioning charges and (BEEFEREE  =HEMN
government rent and rates) T AT A K 2= fm) 1,753
Legal and professional fee ERRBEER 1,283
Auditor’s remuneration 1% S B 357 B 840
Printing and stationery ENm) & X B & A 300
Other daily operation related expenses* HitvBE 2 ERARZ 6,726
Total HBET 10,902

* Other daily operation related expenses mainly include but not limited
to consulting fee, electricity and water charges, cleaning charges,
telephone and fax charges, postage and courier fees, computer
expenses, cartage, licence fee, transaction fee, repair and maintenance
fee, insurance fee and other interest charges.

For the Year, other operating expenses increased by approximately
HK$3.00 million or approximately 37.93% compared with the last
financial year. Such increase was mainly as a result of the increase
in the business entertainment expenses of approximately HK$1.09
million for the Year as compared to the last financial year.

* HEMAREERBHXEZEEBTRR)FAE - K
JEREH  EE - HRER XZE  HERRE
EBER - RRERAEMFBHX -

RAFE @ HtQ %R &8 E— @R BFEE N
#93,000,000#8 705k 4937.93% - BRI MHEEH
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Finance costs

The Group recorded finance costs of approximately HK$2.10 million
during the Year (2022: approximately HK$0.95 million), in which the
amount represented the finance costs recognised on lease liabilities
and other borrowing.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year was
approximately HK$28.54 million (2022: approximately HK$32.89
million). Despite the absence of share-based transactions during
the Year, loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$28.54 million (2022: loss of
approximately HK$32.89 million), such loss was mainly attributable
to (i) a significant decrease in fair value of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of approximately HK$13.98 million
primarily as a result of the impairment loss on both listed securities
and private investments with reference to the bearish sentiment in
Hong Kong and global stock market; (ii) an increase in marketing
expenses to approximately HK$3.80 million; (iii) an increase
in finance cost to approximately HK$2.10 million; and (iv) the
impairment loss on trade and other receivables of approximately
HK$7.93 million in aggregate.

OUTLOOK

With the application of VR, augmented reality and artificial
intelligence to our distinct businesses under the brand names of
“Modern Education GRXZA)” and “Modern Bachelor Education
(RA/NET)7, our students can allocate their study schedules
flexibly without geographical and time boundaries, and at the same
time, allow the Group to expand its business to bigger markets and
new segments. The mixture of traditional learning and technology-
based learning will help our students and the Group improve their
efficiencies as a whole.

With the help from the experts across the Group, the Group aims to
be a content and solution provider in the STEAM education industry.
The Group has become a more comprehensive education services
provider by diversifying and expanding its business in the education
industry and is more agile in response to market dynamics and
opportunities.
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Looking forward, the Group foresees the complementary effect and
synergies, in particular, the new approach of learning and a more
diversified business of the Group. The Group targets to explore more
business sectors and provide more professional education supports
not only to retails clients but also to corporations.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has established an adequate liquidity risk management
system to manage its short, medium and long-term funding and to
satisfy its liquidity management requirements.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group’s total balance of cash and cash
equivalents amounted to approximately HK$13.86 million (30 June
2022: approximately HK$14.51 million), of which 99.19% is held in
Hong Kong dollars, 0.23% is held in Renminbi and 0.58% is held in
United States dollars. Current ratio (defined as total current assets
divided by total current liabilities) was 2.42 times (30 June 2022:
7.62 times).

During the Year, the Company entered into a guarantee agreement
with an independent third-party financial institution pursuant
to which the Company guaranteed to repay the unsecured
indebtedness in respect of the revolving loan facility agreement
entered between the financial institution and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. The advancement of principal sum of
HK$22.00 million was made during the Year. The borrowing will
mature in December 2023 and bear a fixed interest rate of 11.00%
per annum. The amount is denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group’s interest-bearing other borrowing
and net borrowings (total interest-bearing liabilities less cash and
cash equivalents) were amounted to approximately HK$21.06
million and HK$7.20 million, respectively.

As at 30 June 2023, the gearing ratio of the Group was 33.15%
(30 June 2022: 11.31%). Gearing ratio is total debts divided by the
sum of total equity and total debts. Total debts refer to total liabilities
minus the sum of tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and dividend
payable (if any).
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IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF LOAN
RECEIVABLES AS AT 30 JUNE 2023

As at 30 June 2023, all of the loan receivables were entered with
the counterparties with maturities before the date of this report,
unsecured and interest-bearing at fixed rates mutually agreed
between the contracting parties, ranging from 9% to 15% (2022: 9%
to 15%) per annum. Loan receivables with outstanding principal and
interest as at 30 June 2023 in aggregate amount of approximately
HK$3.52 million (2022: approximately HK$10.57 million) which
have been past due and impaired before the date of this report.
During the Year, approximately HK$7.05 million of reversal of
impairment loss on loan and interest receivables was recognised
(2022: impairment loss of approximately HK$4.46 million) due to
the partial settlement of a loan impaired in the previous financial
years.

The Group estimates the loss allowances for loan receivables by
assessing the expected credit losses (“ECL"). This requires the
use of estimates and judgements. Where the estimation is different
from the previous estimate, such difference will affect the carrying
amounts of loan receivables and thus the impairment loss in the
period in which such estimate is changed. The Group has a policy
for assessing the impairment on loan receivables on an individual
basis. The assessment includes evaluation of collectability and
ageing analysis of the loan receivables and on management’s
judgement on credit worthiness, collateral and past collection history
of each borrower. Further details of the impairment assessment
of the loan receivables are disclosed in notes 6 and 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND TREASURY POLICIES

The Group consistently employed prudent treasury policies during
its development and generally financed its operations and business
development with internally generated resources and equity and/
or debt financing activities. The Group also adopted flexible and
prudent fiscal policies to effectively manage the Group’s assets and
liabilities and strengthen its financial position.
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EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The income and expenditure of the Group are mainly denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and as such the impact of foreign exchange
risks on the Group was considered minimal. Hence, no hedging or
other arrangements have been implemented to reduce the foreign
exchange risks.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had a total of 88 full-time employees
(30 June 2022: 81 full-time employees). They received competitive
remuneration packages that were constantly monitored against the
market pay rate, and with incentives such as discretionary bonuses
or employee share options based on the Group’s and individual's
performance. The Group provided comprehensive benefits packages
and career development opportunities. In-house and external
training programmes were provided as and when required.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2023 and 2022, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 30 June 2023 and 2022, there were no capital commitments
contracted for but not provided in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group had neither pledged any assets nor any general banking
facilities as at 30 June 2023 and 2022.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal during
the Year.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, as at 30 June 2023, the Group did
not have any other plans for material investment or capital assets.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The fair values of listed equity securities are determined based on
the quoted market closing price available on the Main Board and
GEM of the Stock Exchange at the end of the reporting period.

As at the date of the board of Directors’ approval of these
consolidated financial statements, the realised and unrealised losses
on financial assets at FVPL from changes in fair value on financial
assets at FVPL held as at 30 June 2023 amounted to approximately
HK$1.22 million and HK$5.85 million respectively.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Yip Kai Pong, aged 45, is an executive Director. Mr. Yip was
appointed as an executive Director on 15 April 2021. He is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Yip joined the
Group in February 2021 and is currently a business development
manager of a subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Yip graduated from
The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 2002 with
a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration in Economics. He
has more than 12 years of experience in the securities industry with
extensive management and compliance experience, in particular
experience as a responsible officer and a representative specialised in
Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 2 (dealing in futures contracts),
Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Mr. Li Ming Him, aged 31, is an executive Director. Mr. Li was
appointed as an executive Director on 1 June 2023. Mr. Li obtained
a bachelor’s degree of business administration in accounting in 2017
and has more than 7 years of experience in fund administration
services and related sectors. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Li
has served as the vice president of a fund administration company
in Hong Kong. Mr. Li has extensive experience in the establishment
of private funds and partnerships, and the management of various
aspects of fund operations and corporate governance.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yuen Chun Fai, aged 44, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Yuen was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 2 February 2022. Mr. Yuen obtained his bachelor
of science degree in accounting and finance from The London
School of Economics and Political Science in 2002. Mr. Yuen is a
fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and is
also a Certified Public Accountant of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He has over 19 years of experience
in the fields of financial reporting, financial management and
audit in Hong Kong, China, Malaysia and Singapore. Mr. Yuen is
currently an independent non-executive director, the chairman of
the audit committee and a member of the nomination committee of
Cornerstone Technologies Holdings Limited (stock code: 8391), a
company whose shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). Mr. Yuen is also currently
the company secretary and authorised representative of Edvance
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1410), a company
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Profiles of Directors and Senior Manz
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enior hégement

Mr. Hong Ka Kei, aged 37, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Hong was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 20 January 2023. Mr. Hong obtained his Bachelor of
Commerce (Accounting & Finance) degree from the University
of New South Wales in 2009. Mr. Hong is a member of the CPA
Australia. He has over 12 years of experience with a number of
multinational corporations and government-subvented body in
the fields of human resources and accounting in Hong Kong and
Australia.

Ms. Leung Sze Ki, aged 34, is an independent non-executive
Director. Ms. Leung was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 20 January 2023. Ms. Leung obtained her
Bachelor of Business Administration degree in Accountancy from
Hong Kong Baptist University in 2011. Ms. Leung is a Certified
Public Accountant of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. She has over 10 years of experience in the fields of
financial reporting, financial analysis and auditing.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tang Chi Kong, aged 34, joined the Group in December 2021.
Mr. Tang is currently the Company Secretary of the Company.
Mr. Tang obtained the Bachelor of Arts degree in Accounting
and Finance from the University of Keele in United Kingdom in
July 2010. Mr. Tang is a Certified Public Accountant of The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a Certified
Financial Risk Manager. Mr. Tang has over 12 years of experience
in the field of auditing, accounting, financial management and
company secretarial matters.
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The directors (“Directors”) of Bradaverse Education (Int'l)
Investments Group Limited (formerly known as “Hong Kong
Education (Int'l) Investments Limited”) (“Company”) present the
annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (“Group”) for the year ended 30
June 2023 (“Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Group
as of 30 June 2023 are set out in Note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report (“Consolidated Financial
Statements”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year, the material
factors underlying its financial performance, and the outlook of
the business of the Group can be found in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report. These
discussions form part of this report of the Directors.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The principal risks and uncertainties related to the business of the
Group are as below:

Sourcing risk

The Group depends on its tutors to provide tutoring services
to its students who look for quality test-taking skills, unique
complementary teaching methods and stable tutor-student
relationship. The service contracts of the Group’s tutors with the
Group may not be renewed upon expiry. The business may be
adversely affected if the Group is unable to recruit other experienced
tutors or retain the existing tutors to provide the tutoring services.
The Group will keep searching new quality tutors to join the Group
in order to reduce the concentration of revenue generated from its
existing tutors for receiving the highest tutor contractor fees.
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Business interruption risk

The Group rents education centres for its business to provide
tutoring services to students. Renewal of leases of education centres
at reasonable prices is important for the stable development of the
business. However, the leases may not be renewed upon expiry and
relocation of education centres may be needed. The business may
therefore be adversely affected if the Group is unable to maintain
the existing education centres or unable to find suitable locations
for the new education centres. The Group will renew such leases or
licences situated in prime locations in a timely manner before their
expirations and maintain an updated portfolio of potential premises
as back up options for relocation of eduction centres in order to
minimise the adverse effect of the relocation.

Competitor risk

The private tutoring industry in which the Group operates is
in fierce competition. The decrease in the number of students
and the increase in the number of small-scale tutoring centres
have intensified the market competition. The Group also faces
significant competition in the offering of major programmes and the
geographical locations of its eduction centres. If the Group fails to
retain and attract new students, the market share may drop and its
profitability may be adversely affected. The Group will enhance its
competitiveness through maintaining a high-quality teaching team
and a good brand image to hold and further increase its market
share.

Infringement risk

The society, as well as the Group’s business, places great
significance on the protection of intellectual property rights.
Generally, the laws affecting the Group include the Trade Marks
Ordinance (Chapter 559 of the Laws of Hong Kong (“HK Laws”))
and Copyright Ordinance (Chapter 528 of the HK Laws (“Copyright
Ordinance”)). Violation of such laws may expose the Group to
litigation risks, which will adversely affect the financial position as
well as the brand image of the Group. The Group will stay alert to
any updates of the relevant legal issues and update its internal
policies when necessary to avoid any breach of the regulatory
requirements.
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In addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies
of the Group are shown in Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to environmental sustainability. We strive
to encourage higher environmental protection awareness at the
Group’s offices and education centres by promoting the practice to
consume electricity and natural resources wisely among the Group’s
employees. The Group also commits to the principle and practice
of recycling and reduction by implementing green office practices
such as encouraging the use of recycled paper for printing and
copying, double-sided printing and copying, and reducing energy
consumption by switching off idle lightings, air-conditioning and
electronic and electrical appliances.

The Group will continually review its green practices to integrate
environmental, health and safety management and compliance
considerations into its operational processes. The Group also
maintains dialogue with employees and business partners.
The Group is determined to improve the performance of its
environmental practices in its daily business operations in order to
create a sustainable environment.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and has taken measures to minimise the risk of non-
compliance with such requirements which may otherwise lead to
adverse impact on the business operation and financial position of
the Group. Such measures include setting up on-going review on
the newly enacted laws and regulations, and establishing various
management systems and measures such as internal control
procedures and staff training. The Group also constantly monitors
the operation of its business to ensure compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations.

On the corporate level,
requirements under the Rules (“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock

the Group has complied with the

Exchange”) including the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the HK Laws) (“SFQ”), relating to, among others,
disclosure of information, dealings in securities, and corporate
governance.

On the operational level, the Group has complied with the Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the HK Laws) and the
guidelines recommended by the Office of the Privacy Commissioner
for Personal Data when collecting and processing data from
students. The Group has also paid attention to the Copyright
Ordinance when preparing and delivering teaching materials.
Besides, the Group has complied with the Education Ordinance
(Chapter 279 of the HK Laws) when applying for relevant certificates
for operating the education centres and the Trade Descriptions
Ordinance (Chapter 362 of the HK Laws) in preparation and
publication of advertisement.
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On the human resources level, the Group has abided by the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the HK Laws), Employees’
Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the HK Laws), Minimum
Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the HK Laws), Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the HK Laws), equal
opportunity legislations (including Sex Discrimination Ordinance
(Chapter 480 of the HK Laws), Disability Discrimination Ordinance
(Chapter 487 of the HK Laws), Family Status Discrimination
Ordinance (Chapter 527 of the HK Laws) and Race Discrimination
Ordinance (Chapter 602 of the HK Laws)) and Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the HK Laws) to safeguard
the health, safety, interests and benefits of the Group’s employees.
Details of the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations
are set out in the environmental, social and governance report (“ESG
Report”) which is set out on pages 56 to 92 of this annual report.

To the best of knowledge of the Directors, save as disclosed in the
ESG Report, the Group has complied in all material aspects with
relevant laws and regulations, that have a significant impact on the
Group during the Year. The Group is not aware of any other material
breach or non-compliance with the laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operations of the Group.

Relationship with Employees, Customers and Suppliers
(a) Employees

The Group believes that employees are valuable assets. The
Group provides competitive remuneration packages to attract
and motivate employees. The Group regularly reviews the
remuneration packages and makes necessary adjustments to
conform to the market standard. The Group is also passionately
committed to training its staff and provides them with rewarding
career paths and people-friendly working environment.

(b) Customers

The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability in
providing quality services to its customers. To ensure
continuous improvement of the quality of services, the Group
regularly reviews its teaching materials in order to meet the
students’ demand and the market trend. The Group believes
that maintaining good relationship with students can help
strengthen its market competitiveness in the industry.
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(c) Suppliers

The Group understands the importance to work closely with its
suppliers (who are mainly its tutors) to ensure the sustainability
of its business. The Group has established long standing
relationships with its suppliers and ensure they share its
commitment to quality and ethics.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s operation for the Year by operating
and reportable segments is set out in Note 7 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements and the paragraph headed “Business Review”
under the section of “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the Consolidated
Financial Statements on pages 106 to 107 of this annual report.

The board of the Company (“Board”) does not recommend the
payment of a final dividend for the Year (2022: nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published consolidated results and assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 252 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of
the audited consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted
to HK$17,000 (2022: HK$15,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 15 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in Note 36 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws
of the Company (“Bye-laws”) or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”).

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the shares of the
Company (“Shares”). If the Shareholders are unsure about the
taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in,
or exercising of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised
to consult their professional advisers.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 110 of this annual report and the statement of
financial position of the Company in Note 44 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves available for distribution of the
Company during the Year are set out in Note 44 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Income from the Group’s five largest customers in aggregate
contributed to approximately 72.07% of the Group’s total income
during the Year and income from the Group’s largest customer
contributed to approximately 33.73% of the Group’s total income
during the Year.

None of the Directors, their close associates as well as substantial
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors each owns
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) were among
such five largest customers.
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During the Year, the Group’s five largest suppliers in aggregate
contributed to approximately 98.59% of the Group’s total purchase
of finished goods and the Group’s largest supplier contributed to
approximately 44.97% of the Group’s total purchase of finished
goods.

None of the Directors, their close associates as well as substantial
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors each owns
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) were among
such five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and as at the date of this annual
report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yip Kai Pong
Mr. Li Ming Him (appointed with effect from 1 June 2023)
Mr. Tsang Ka Wai (resigned with effect from 1 June 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Yuen Chun Fai

Mr. Hong Ka Kei (appointed with effect from 20 January 2023)
Ms. Leung Sze Ki (appointed with effective from 20 January 2023)
Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee (resigned on 20 January 2023)

Mr. Fenn David (resigned on 20 January 2023)

Pursuant to Bye-law 83(2) of the Bye-laws, any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first
general meeting of Members after his appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting. Mr. Li Ming Him, Mr. Hong Ka Kei and
Ms. Leung Sze Ki will retire and, being eligible, offer himself for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
(“Annual General Meeting”).

Pursuant to Bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, at each Annual General
Meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years
and the retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company has

BAFATESBZ2EMM
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received from each of Mr. Yuen Chun Fai, Mr. Hong Ka Kei and
Ms. Leung Sze Ki an annual confirmation of independence. Based

on these confirmations, the Company considers that each of such BEIAL -
Directors to be independent.
DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS BEENREESHN

Each of the Directors has entered into either a service contract or a ZEZDHEARNFF LA TR E LHEZ IR -

letter of appointment with the Company as follows.

Name

g

Contract type
aRER

Directorship term

E=1H

Prior notice of termination

RIEZERBEA

Mr. Yip Kai Pong

RRHAEE

Mr. Li Ming Him

Mr. Yuen Chun Fai

BBk i S5 A4

Mr. Hong Ka Kei

ERBLE

Ms. Leung Sze Ki

REglnt

Letter of appointment

ZAEEfT

Letter of appointment

ZE&T

Letter of appointment

REHMH

Letter of appointment

ZAEft

Letter of appointment

ZE &t

Fixed term of three years commenced on
15 April 2021
B202154 A 15B BETEE AR A =5

Fixed term of three years commenced on
1 June 2023
H2023F6A1HRETRAERRA=4F

Fixed term of three years commenced on
2 February 2022
8202252 A2H Bt ElE R B =5

Fixed term of three years commenced on
20 January 2023
202351 H20B st EE SR B =15

Fixed term of three years commenced on
20 January 2023
B2023F 1 A20H B EEHRA=F

Two-month notice in writing

MEAEERA

Two-month notice in writing

mEAEEREMN

Two-month notice in writing

mfEAE A

Two-month notice in writing

{E A& mE

Two-month notice in writing

mEAEmEEMN

ERZAEAETARETETRERBFEREINR
o MERERERRBFAS LEREINESH
ARRREAEMKMERRET L —FARRBTERE
CETEBRERRSN AU AT R IERBRFE & 4

These appointments are subject to directors’ retirement from office
and retirement by rotation under the Bye-laws. None of the Directors
proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting
has entered into a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 21 to 22 of this annual report.

DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which
an existing or a former Director or an entity connected with such
Director had a material interest, directly or indirectly, subsisted
during or at the end of the Year, nor was there any contract of
significance in relation to the Group’s business between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2023, none of the Directors or chief executive
of the Company had any interest or short position in Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as the share option schemes of the Company disclosed in
Note 37 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and in the section
headed “EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS — Share Option Schemes”
below, at no time during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or
any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted
any right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company or
any other body corporate, nor had exercised any such right.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'’ OR OTHER'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 30 June 2023, so far as was known to the Directors and chief
executive of the Company, the following Shareholders (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336
of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and
the Stock Exchange under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO.

Long positions in the Shares
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Approximate
% of issued
share capital

Number of  of the Company
Name Nature of interest Class of Shares Shares held @
EARAT
ERTRAK
MBNESL
% ERtE I 63 38 5l FREROEA 2
Bradbury Investment Fund (SPC) Limited @ Beneficial owner & Interest of Ordinary 175,872,000 29.49%
— Bradbury Global Opportunity Fund SP controlled corporation
EnlA AR EERR Lk
Bradbury Private Investment IX Inc. @ Beneficial owner Ordinary 82,704,000 13.87%
ERBAEA TEk
Notes: Hiat

1. Bradbury Private Investment IX Inc. is owned as to 100% by Bradbury
Investment Fund (SPC) Limited — Bradbury Global Opportunity Fund
SP. By virtue of the SFO, Bradbury Investment Fund (SPC) Limited —
Bradbury Global Opportunity Fund SP is deemed to be interested in
the 82,704,000 Shares held by Bradbury Private Investment IX Inc..

2. 596,430,880 Shares were in issue as at 30 June 2023.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2023, so far as was known
to the Directors and chief executive of the Company, no other person
had any interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

1. Bradbury Private Investment IX Inc.fHBradbury
Investment Fund (SPC) Limited — Bradbury Global
Opportunity Fund SPH#EB 23z - RIBEEH K
& %% - Bradbury Investment Fund (SPC) Limited —
Bradbury Global Opportunity Fund SP#4% A&7 Bradbury
Private Investment IX Inc.3%7% #)82,704,0008% B% 17 # #E
Bk o

2. F2023%F6A308 B %17596,430,8808% 15 °
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AR R R B R PR e (TS sOR A -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 %k

33



34

Report of the Directors
EEEgwmE

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into by the Company or subsisted during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Every Director is, subject to the provisions of the applicable laws,
indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty in their offices
pursuant to Bye-law 164 of the Bye-laws. The relevant Bye-law was
in force during the Year and as at the date of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY OF THE GROUP

The emoluments of the employees of the Group is set up by
the management on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence, and comparable market statistics. The Directors’ fees
and other emoluments shall be determined by the Remuneration
Committee, with delegated responsibility by the Board, with
reference to the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group. The employees and directors of the
Group may be rewarded with share options for the Shares under the
Share Option Scheme as detailed in the section headed “EQUITY-
LINKED AGREEMENTS — Share Option Scheme” below.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed below, during the Year, the Company has not
entered into, or there has not subsisted at the end of the Year,
any other equity-linked agreement (as defined in section 6 of the
Companies (Director's Report) Regulation (Chapter 622D of the HK
Laws)).

Share option schemes
Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme of the Company (“Share Option Scheme”)
was adopted pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual
general meeting on 4 December 2020 and became effective on
8 December 2020 (“Effective Date”). The purposes of the Share
Option Scheme are to attract and retain the best available personnel
and to provide additional incentives or rewards to employees and
the directors of the Group and the associated companies of the
Company (“Associated Companies”) for their contribution to, and to
promote the success of, the Group and the Associated Companies.
The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effecting for a period
commencing on the Effective Date and expiring at 5:00 p.m. on the
business day preceding the tenth anniversary of the Effective Date,
i.e. 7 December 2030.
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An offer for the grant of options, which may specify the minimum
period determined by the Board on a case by case basis for which
the options must be held before they can be exercised, must be
accepted within 21 days inclusive of the day on which such offer
is made. The amount payable for the acceptance of the option is
HK$1.00 which shall be paid upon acceptance of the offer. The
subscription price of the share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely
determined by the Board and notified to the participant and shall be
at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant
of the option; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5
business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option;
and (iii) the nominal value of the share on the date of grant of the
option.

The Board may grant options under the Share Option Scheme
generally and without further authority in respect of such number
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not exceed 10% of the
shares in issue on the Effective Date. The Company may at any
time refresh such limit, subject to the Shareholders’ approval and
issue of a circular in compliance with the Listing Rules, provided
that such refreshed limit shall not exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue as at the date of approval of such limit. The maximum number
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under all the share option
schemes of the Company does not exceed 30% of the Shares
in issue from time to time. The total number of Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company (including both exercised and outstanding options) to
each participant in any 12-month period up to and including the
date of grant must not exceed 1% of the Shares then in issue unless
approved by the Shareholders and issued a circular in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may
determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant
subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.
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On 30 June 2022, the Company had granted share options to the
eligible participants to subscribe for a total of 58,080,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.05 each in the capital of the Company at the
exercise price of HK$1.76 per share for a validity period from 30
June 2022 to 29 June 2025 pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.

Details of the above grant of share options are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 30 June 2022.

As at 30 June 2022, the total number of shares available for issue
under share options granted under the Share Option Scheme was
58,080,000. Movement of share options during the year ended 30
June 2023 as below:

202256 A30R * ARREREBEBRETENSE
RERERNBREARTEESR]L76ETRES
#£58,080,000/x A1 BIAX A A G AR EI{E0.05/8 7T < &
R - AREIA2022F6 H30R 20256 H29A o

BRI BB IR 2 RS BN AN 2 B B 81 520224F
6H30BZ R °

R2022F6 A30H © RIBBRME SR 2 BREIR
TR ETT 2 AR {7 48 81/558,080,000% ° pAEIE 2023
FOA30RLEFE  BREZESHIT

Lapsed/
Outstanding at Granted Exercised Forfeited ~ Outstanding at
Exercise Vesting 1 July during during during 30 June
Date of grant price  Exercise period period 2022 the year the year the year 2023
R2022% RER R2023E
7TR1R RER RER BAN/ 6A308
RipH ke s ] L HATE EEL BYif:d bl HATHE
Directors
£
Yip Kai Pong 30 June 2022 176 From30June 20221029 June 2025 No 5,808,000 - - - 5,808,000
EE 022%66A308 022F6R308Z 2025564290 i
Employees 30 June 2022 176 From30June2022t029 June 2025 No 52,272,000 - - - 52,272,000
& 022%66A308 022F6A308Z 2025564290 i
58,080,000 - - - 58,080,000

The closing price of the Shares immediately before the share options
granted on 30 June 2022 was HK$1.76.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of issued
Shares was 596,430,880 and the total number of Shares available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme was 27,088 ordinary
Shares of HK$0.05 each.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme and details of
movements in the share options are set out in Note 37 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions for the Year set out in Note 41 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements, none of these transactions
constituted connected transactions or continuing connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PENSION SCHEME

Details of the pension scheme of the Group are set out in Note 43 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events occurring after the end of the Year
of the Group are set out in Note 45 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has applied the principles in and adopted the code
provisions of the corporate governance code set out in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules (“CG Code”) as its own corporate governance
code. During the Year, the Company has complied with all the
provisions of the CG Code and the Listing Rules except for the
deviations as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report which is
set out on pages 39 to 55 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, there is sufficient public
float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as
required under the Listing Rules during the Year and as at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold

or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the year ended 30
June 2023.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, together with the management and the
Company’s external auditors, have reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed risk
management and internal controls systems and financial reporting
matters, and reviewed the financial results for the year ended 30
June 2023.

AUDITORS

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June
2023 were audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited (“Baker Tilly”)
who will retire at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Baker Tilly as auditors of the Company is to
be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Yip Kai Pong
Executive Director
Hong Kong, 22 September 2023
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The board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of Bradaverse
Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited (formerly known as
“Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited”) (“Company”) is
committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance
within a sensible framework with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence. The Board believes
that good corporate governance is essential to the success of the
Company and its subsidiaries (“Group”) and the enhancement of
shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles in and adopted the code
provisions of the corporate governance code set out in Appendix 14
(“CG Code”) to the Rules (“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”) as its own corporate governance code. During the year
ended 30 June 2023 (“Year”), the Company has complied with all
the provisions of the CG Code except for the deviations as disclosed
in this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors (“Code of
Conduct”). Having made specific enquiries of the Directors, each
of the Directors confirmed his/her compliance with the required
standards set out in the Model Code and the Code of Conduct
throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises five
members, two of whom are executive Directors, namely Mr. Yip
Kai Pong and Mr. Li Ming Him. The other three members are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yuen Chun Fai,
Mr. Hong Ka Kei and Ms. Leung Sze Ki.

During the Year, Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee and Mr. Fenn David
served as independent non-executive Directors until their resignation
which took effect on 20 January 2023.

During the Year, Mr. Tsang Ka Wai served as an executive Director
until his resignation which took effect on 1 June 2023.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 21
to 22 of this annual report.
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Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and overseeing the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance. The Board has established various Board
committees and has delegated to these Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.
All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith and in
compliance with the standards of applicable laws and regulations,
and have acted in the interests of the Company and its shareholders
(“Shareholders”) as a whole at all times.

The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of the Company
including: the approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those that may involve
conflicts of interest), financial information, appointment of Directors
and other significant financial and operational matters. During
the Year, four Board meetings were held to perform the above-
mentioned duties and responsibilities.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary of the
Company (“Company Secretary”), to ensure the Board procedures
and all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Each Director
is able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making request to
the Board.

Management functions

While the Board is responsible for the overall strategic direction and
governance by considering and approving the Group’s strategies,
policies and business plan, the functions of implementing the
approved strategies and policies as well as managing the day-to-
day operations and administration are delegated to the executive
management. The functions and work tasks of the executive
management are periodically reviewed by the Board.

Appointments of the Directors are subject to retirement from office
and retirement by rotation under the bye-laws of the Company
(“Bye-laws”) and the CG Code.

EEEEME

EEe R ERENERARRNREEREBEEK -
RERERKR - BEFGERUSEEFZES - I
ETUFEFZEHNEBERENNSERL -
EREFCEREMER AR 2 EREHMEITH
E2BE T BEERTEARAREBRRIBERDE
B AITE -

EXgREARANMBEIESRE  BREMAEREE
PIERREE  ERRRLEE  ANEZEMARE
BHIE  EARZ(LEAES RN mERE) - B
X ZEEFEREMEAMBREESLE - RAF
BER- BRTHREFEEH  UBETLEBAEMR
£

PrAEESEYR 2| ERMERE —HEBEERA LK
RAEZARWE(RARAWEDWE RERY - iR
BOEEERFLMAERRAER - RESFARN
BEBRAT  EABEFSREBRESFELERE
R BBRAXBAREEE -

=
EEeNBECRESENERRE R RER A8
THEREFEEIABASEMNRE - BUORREB
g ERPITEBRBNEBERBRUARATEEER
RITHEREREARENTEREET HTER
EHEEBERTEIRehESSETEE -

EENZEAETARANAR (AR REEER
SRIETEFRERRERENBRE -

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT



In accordance with Code Provision A.4.2 of the CG Code, any
new Director appointed to fill a causal vacancy shall be subject
to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after the
appointment, and according to Bye-law 83(2) of the Bye-laws, any
new Director appointed as an addition to the Board shall hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company
and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Pursuant
to Bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws, at every annual general meeting
of the Company, one-third of the Directors (or, if their number is
not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not
less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Pursuant to Bye-law 84(2) of the Bye-laws, a retiring Director is
eligible for re-election at that general meeting.

Code Provision A.1.8 of the CG Code provides that appropriate
insurance cover in respect of legal action against directors should be
arranged. Currently, the Company does not have insurance cover for
legal action against the Directors. However, every Director is, subject
to the provisions of the applicable laws, indemnified out of the
assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or
sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty in their offices pursuant to Bye-
law 164 of the Bye-laws. In view of the above, the Board considers
that the Directors’ exposure to litigation risk is manageable and that
benefits to be derived from taking out insurance may not outweigh
the cost.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the Year, all of the
Directors received regular updates and presentations on changes
and developments of the Group’s business and the legislative and
regulatory environments in which the Group operates. All Directors
are also encouraged to attend relevant training courses. Effective
from September 2012, all Directors are required to provide the
Company with his or her training record on a yearly basis. During
the Year, each of the existing Directors, Mr. Yip Kai Pong, Mr. Li
Ming Him, Mr. Yuen Chun Fai, Mr. Hong Ka Kei and Ms. Leung Sze
Ki participated in appropriate continuous professional development
activities by ways of attending training or reading materials relevant
to the Company’s business, amendments on Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Hong Kong Laws) and the Listing Rules, or
directors’ duties and responsibilities.

TXERERSE

BREBEEEE AT Z TR EAL MG EMEZRE
RS ZROFTEESTHANERERNE K
RASLEXBREIESR  MREARFESIMG - F
MEZEFELESSRAZTIEZZENEEER
RAZ TEBERBFAG AL  YERATFSERR
ZRE LEREE - REARESHDIK - RARF]
BEBRRBFASL D22 EFEMEFAR
WHI=H=2BFE ARBOIETIR=02Z —HH
B)RWmERE HEUER(BEREEEHERE
CER)HAZLB=FHFRE—R - REHARE
84(Q)ffk - REEENABBRNZERRNE LEEE
£

EEEATUZTARXFEALSGRE BRESF
EEREDARFALEENRRE - B ARARTE
PREEEMERAORRFARR - AT - REBEERRX
BIEX - FSEEREBANSI6AGERTEREREAR
HITRAMEL AERERNEMTRAMAERA
BEHRBARINMAFRR  BR  WE  BX BF
KA BEARRBEERGEMIERRE - BER
- EEERREEMAE EZRR BRI BN
AR P SR 2 4 BE SRR BARAC AN

EENFEERRE

EERIA—EASERE NAFERN EEERE
HERERAASEXRGRASRELSEMEEIREE
RENEBHLBRZBEMEMREN - AR IREE
FIEEE2NARIEIIRIE - B2012F9A K - IR
EEASFAARRREEEIRE RAFER -
REEEREMBLELE  FTHREL BIKELELE  E
RREEMRFHEZLZARBHFFIINEHEREAR
NAIER - BAEEGIE622F R AHEHI R LR A8
BARREEREIBERBNERSZ T A2 MEE
MIFEEXEREE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 %k

Corporate Governance‘ Repo —

41



42

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of the chief executive officer of the Company and
the chairman of the Board (“Chairman”) have been vacated since
9 November 2017 and 19 December 2017 respectively as the
Company has not been able to identify suitable candidates for the
positions and remain vacated as at the date of this annual report.
The aforesaid vacancies constitute a deviation from Code Provision
A.2 of the CG Code, which set out the code provisions applicable to
the chairman and the chief executive of a company.

Since 19 December 2017 when the position of the Chairman has
vacated, to facilitate discussion of all key and appropriate issues by
the Board in a timely manner, the executive Directors have actively
co-ordinated with the senior management of the Company to provide
adequate, complete and reliable information to all Directors for
consideration and review.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board has during the Year met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors, representing at least one-third of the Board
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise. All independent non-executive
Directors were appointed for a specific term of three years.

Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
received a written annual confirmation of independence from each
of the independent non-executive Directors during the Year. The
Company considers all independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in the Listing Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tang Chi Kong was appointed as the Company Secretary on
15 December 2021 and is responsible for facilitating the Board
processes, as well as communications among Board members,
with Shareholders and management. During the Year, Mr. Tang has
taken not less than 15 hours of the relevant professional training to
update his skills and knowledge.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this annual report, the remuneration committee
(“Remuneration Committee”) of the Company comprises one
executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. Leung Sze Ki (chairman of the Remuneration
Committee), Mr. Hong Ka Kei and Mr. Li Ming Him.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but
without limitation): (i) making recommendations to the Board on
the policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and
the senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policies on such remuneration;
(i) determining the remuneration packages of all individual executive
Directors and the senior management and making recommendations
to the Board of the remuneration of non-executive Directors; and
(i) reviewing and approving compensation payable to the executive
Directors and the senior management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with the relevant
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive.

Directors’ remuneration policy

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held three meetings
to review the remuneration policy and remuneration packages
of the Directors and the senior management and assessed the
performance of the executive Directors and reviewed the terms
of their service contracts in accordance with the Remuneration
Committee’s written terms of reference. The remuneration packages
of the executive Directors and senior management are determined
by the Remuneration Committee, with the delegated responsibility
by the Board, with reference to the duties, responsibilities and
performance of such executive Directors or members of senior
management and the results of the Group. No executive Director
can be involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.
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The annual remuneration of the members of the senior management
by bands for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration bands

Fr A8 5!

RAFE  RERED 2 SREEREKE 2 FEHH
;o T -

Number of Individual

A

Nil to HK$1,000,000

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the Year are set out
in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this annual report, the nomination committee
(“Nomination Committee”) of the Company comprises one executive
Director and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Hong Ka Kei (chairman of the Nomination Committee), Ms. Leung
Sze Kiand Mr. Li Ming Him.

The major functions of the Nomination Committee are to assist the
Board to identify suitable individuals qualified to become Board
members, assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors, propose appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
their succession planning, review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity
Policy”) with effect from 1 September 2013. The Company
continuously seeks to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and
to maintain the highest standards of corporate governance and
recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity in the Board. A
diversity of perspectives can be achieved through engaging directors
in possession of diversified skills, regional and industry experience,
educational background, race, gender and other qualities, etc.
The composition, experience and balance of skills of the Board are
regularly reviewed to ensure that the Board retains core members
with longstanding knowledge of the Group alongside new Director(s)
appointed from time to time who bring fresh perspectives and
diverse experience to the Board. The Board appointments will
continue to be made on a merit basis and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, with due regard to the Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee is responsible for
ensuring the diversity of the Board and reviewing the Board Diversity
Policy from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness and
the Group will disclose the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy in the Corporate Governance Report on an annual basis.

Director Nomination Policy

In December 2018, the Board has adopted a director nomination
policy (“Director Nomination Policy”), which serves to improve
the transparency of the process and criteria in selecting and
recommending candidates as Directors. Under the Director
Nomination Policy, Board appointments will be made on a merit
basis and candidates will be considered against objective criteria
including their academic background, qualifications, skills and
knowledge, character and integrity, willingness and capacity to devote
commitment on discharging a director’s duties, and compliance with
the criteria of independence under the Listing Rules, if applicable.
Where a candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, his/her independence will be assessed
in accordance with, among others, the factors as set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules, Code Provisions A.4.3 and A.5.5, and
recommended best practice A.3.3 of the CG Code, as applicable. In
the context of re-appointment of retiring Directors, the Nomination
Committee shall review the candidate’s overall contribution and
performance, including attendance of Board committees, Board and
general meetings, and level of participation and performance on the
Board, and make recommendations to the Board for consideration
and to the Shareholders for re-election at the general meetings.

TXERERSE

ESEZNEKR
E=Z2B20I3F9AIBEERA—REFEZ TL
BR(IEZEZTEBEK]D - ARATHSKEFE
FEZAMN  #RESTEEZERER  YHAK
BREEEZ NN E - ZIUCTHAEBRZEH
BEZUeRiE  BERITELR HESS Bk
MR R EMBEELRKHEZEFTER - EF 24
B BBREEREFENEERRT  UEREZTSR
BHAKEAERMRB 2 OKES - A TR
ETHEIEFUREFTEHREHNAT L TALR - &
EZENENZESEBEARAREA RRA - UEHE
BERBREAN UBEZREZTSZLIEK - 24
ZECRRARREFES LA TRRTETES T
LB - URERERFEAY  MASEREFELE
ERBREARBEESTSZ LEHRNEBBENR

ESERABE

MR2018 128  EFERMTEFRABR(EFR
ABR]) AR ERSREREBEERREANBRE
RIFEHERE - REEFRABE  EFTENEN
RERARARES BRA - REBREZEBREA -
BRESNSEMER - B - WEELAH - miEHEm
B BRELEARATANERLENBETESR
B ARERETLETRNBATELENREGE
) - MR EREEFRBILIFNTES  K2H
THEBREEFEE) EHRAESISEREEER
SR STRNRX A4 GRRFALSRA KRR RE
FREAIIMGUHER) FE 2 AFETHE - NER
REEEWNERT  RERESHEMREANER
BRIRKRE  BRESZES EFgMBREREN
HEER  UREEFEEEAEMSERKREKRFE - I
MESFSELZEUAHRZRE  ARABRRELEEZ
BUARBIRAE BETEE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 %k

Corporate Governance"Repmt -

45



46

TEERHRE

In terms of nomination procedures, any Board member may
nominate or invite a candidate for appointment as a Director to
be considered by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination
Committee will then evaluate the personal profile of the candidate
based on the selection criteria set out above, undertake due
diligence in respect of such candidate and make recommendation
for the Board’s consideration and approval.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held three meetings to
nominate new Director, review the structure, size and composition
of the Board, and review the arrangement for re-election of all
the retiring Directors at the forthcoming general meeting of the
Company, the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee and
the Director Nomination Policy.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at the date of this annual report, the audit committee (“Audit
Committee”) of the Company comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Leung Sze Ki (chairman of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Hong Ka Kei and Mr. Yuen Chun Fai. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board by
providing an independent review of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, internal control and risk management systems of
the Group, overseeing the audit process and performing other duties
and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held two meetings to review
the annual and interim results of the Group and terms of reference
of the Audit Committee, make recommendations to the Board and
the management in respect of the Group’s financial reporting and
internal control procedures and to review the re-appointment of the
external auditor.

The Audit Committee has also reviewed the Group’s significant
internal controls and financial matters in accordance with
the Audit Committee’s written terms of reference and made
relevant recommendations to the Board. The Audit Committee’s
review covered the audit scope and findings, external auditor’s
independence and performance, the Group’s accounting principles
and practices, the Listing Rules and statutory compliance,
connected transactions, internal controls, risk management, financial
reporting matters (including the interim and annual results for the
Board’s approval) and the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function as well as their training programmes and budget.
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There was no disagreement between the Audit Committee and
the Board in respect of matters about selection, appointment,
resignation or dismissal of an external auditor.

During the Year, there were no material uncertainties or events or
conditions that might cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is collectively responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties with written terms of reference equivalent
to Code Provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. During the Year, the
corporate governance policies of the Company were reviewed by
the Board. The Board also reviewed and monitored the training
and continuous professional development of the Directors and the
senior management, the Company’s compliance with the CG Code,
disclosure in this corporate governance report and the policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT MEETINGS

The attendance of the existing and former Directors at the general
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Notes:

(1)  No Board meeting was held during the tenure of Mr. Li Ming Him in
the Year.

(2) Four Board meetings were held during the tenure of Mr. Tsang Ka Wai
in the Year.

(3) Two Board meetings were held during the tenure of Mr. Hong Ka Kei
and Ms. Leung Sze Ki in the Year.

(4) Two Board meetings were held during the tenure of Ms. Jor Stepanie
Wing Yee and Mr. Fenn David in the Year.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year. The
Directors have prepared the consolidated financial statements of
the Group on a going concern basis, and have selected appropriate
accounting policies and applied them consistently, with applicable
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and pursuant to the
relevant statutory requirements.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditors,
Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited (“Baker Tilly”), are set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 93 to 105
of this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group which are designed to manage
and mitigate risks, rather than eliminate risks, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss, and the review of their effectiveness.

During the Year, the Board has reviewed the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, which covers financial,
operational, compliance procedural and risk management functions,
and considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function. The Board concluded
that the risk management and internal control systems are adequate
and effective.
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Main features of risk management and internal control
systems

The key elements of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems include the establishment of a risk register to
monitor the identified risks, the assessment and evaluation of
risks, the continuous updating of risk responses for the key risks
identified to ensure the effectiveness of the mitigation procedures
that will be in place. Furthermore, a risk matrix approach is adopted
to determine the significance of the risk after evaluation of the
risk in accordance with the likelihood and impact of the risk event
identified.

While the Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective internal controls are maintained, the management is
responsible for designing and implementing internal control systems
to manage all kinds of risks faced by the Group. The operating
units and support functions are facilitated and coordinated by the
management, which ensures that risk management processes and
mitigation plans follow good practices and guidelines established in
their day-to-day operations.

The Group’s risk management activities are performed by
management on an ongoing process. The effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems is evaluated
at least annually to update the progress of risk monitoring efforts.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The Group develops a preliminary inventory of events that could
influence the achievement of the Group’s business objectives. The
Group identifies outside and inside events by reviewing its external
and internal environment and stakeholders, which have an influence
or potential influence on the Group’s ability to achieve its strategy
and business objectives.

The risks identified are evaluated with a risk matrix which prioritises
risks according to the likelihood of their occurrence and the
significance of their impact on the achievement of the Group’s
business objectives. Following the review of the risk matrix, the
Group selects and deploys the corresponding risk responses and
investigates the mitigation procedures to be executed to ensure the
identified significant risks were managed to an acceptable level.

Corporate Governance
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Process used to review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems

The Board has reviewed the need for an internal audit function and
are of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the
business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to appoint
external independent professionals to perform internal audit function
for the Group in order to meet its needs. The Board continues to
review the need for an internal audit function annually.

During the Year, an independent consultant (“Consultant”) was
engaged to perform a review on the risk management and internal
control systems. The Consultant has reported findings and areas
for improvement to the Board and management. The Board and
management are of the view that no material defeats are noted in
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. The
recommendations from the Consultant are properly followed up by
the Group to ensure that they are implemented within a reasonable
period of time. The Board considers the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems are adequate and effective and no
significant control failings or weaknesses was identified for the Year.

Inside information policy

The Group has established policies for the handling and
dissemination of inside information for purposes of strengthening
the confidentiality of inside information, maintaining the fairness of
information disclosure and protecting the legal interests and rights
of the investors. The Group is in compliance with Part XIVA and
relevant parts of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Hong Kong Laws) and the Listing Rules. The Group
has reasonable measures on keeping the sensitive information
confidential and ensures that the inside information of the Group
is disseminated to the public timely, completely and accurately.
In addition, each personnel is granted a specific level of access
to the price sensitive and inside information. The Directors, senior
management and employees are informed the latest regulatory
updates.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditors, Baker
Tilly, for their audit services for the Year was HK$840,000. Baker
Tilly did not perform any non-audit services during the Year.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company maintains a two-way communication channel to report
the performance of the Company to the Shareholders and investors.
Annual reports, accounts and interim reports containing full details
of the Company'’s activities are despatched to the Shareholders and
investors. Such reports and other announcements of the Company
can be accessed on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

To ensure disclosures are made to the Shareholders and investors
effectively, and to ensure that the same information is made
available to the public at the same time, price sensitive information
is released in the form of official announcements in accordance with
the Listing Rules.

In addition, the Company maintains contact with the Shareholders
through annual general meetings or other general meetings, and
encourages the Shareholders to attend those meetings.

Notice of general meeting is sent by mail to the registered
Shareholders. Agenda and resolutions are set out in the notice of
general meeting.

A proxy form for use at a general meeting of the Company is
enclosed with the notice. Shareholders who do not intend or are
unable to be present at the meeting should fill out the form and
return the same to the branch share registrar and transfer office
of the Company in Hong Kong, so as to appoint a representative,
another Shareholder or the chairman of the meeting as their proxy.

The Shareholders Communication Policy ensures that Shareholders
and the investment community are provided with ready, equal, and
timely access to information about the Group (including its financial
performance, strategic goals and plans, material developments,
governance and risk profile), and also allows them to engage actively
with the Group. The policy sets out various communication channels
including, among others, the Group website and Shareholders’
meetings, through which Shareholders, both individual and
institutional, may communicate with and provide feedback to the
Group from time to time. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure
its effectiveness.

The Board reviewed the Group'’s shareholders and
communication activities conducted in 2023 and was satisfied
with the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders
Communication Policy.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS % 3R 9 #E R
Procedures for Shareholders to convene a general BRREBHEBRRABNER
meeting

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the ~ TR FBES AN G 2418 - BHZE1981F A aA
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (“Act”) and applicable legislation (IREDED RBREEERETHAR -

and regulation.

1. An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in 1.

each year. General meeting, other than an annual general
meeting, shall be called a special general meeting and may
be held in any part of the world as may be determined by the
Board.

2. Shareholder or Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of 2.

the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Company’s registered office or head office in
Hong Kong at Unit 1708, 17/F, Tower Il, Admiralty Centre, No.
18 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for the attention to the Board
or the Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do
so in accordance with the Act.

3. The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, 3.

and must be signed by the requisitionists and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more
of the requisitionists. The requisition will be verified with the
Company’s branch share registrar and upon their confirmation
that the requisition is proper and in order, the Company will
ask the Board to convene a special general meeting by serving
sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory requirements
to all the registered Shareholders. On the contrary, if the
requisition has been verified as not in order, the Shareholders
concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, a
special general meeting will not be convened as requested.
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Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws,
the Act and applicable legislation and regulation.

1. Either (i) the Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth
of the total voting rights of those Shareholders having the right
to vote at such meeting; or (ii) not less than one hundred
Shareholders, at the expenses of the Shareholders concerned,
can submit a written requisition to move a resolution at a
general meeting or a statement of not more than 1,000 words
with respect to the matter referred to in the proposed resolution
or the business to be dealt with at a particular general meeting.

2. The written requisition must be signed by the requisitionists
concerned and deposited at the Company’s registered office
or head office in Hong Kong at Unit 1708, 17/F, Tower I,
Admiralty Centre, No. 18 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for the
attention of the Company Secretary, not less than six weeks
before the meeting in the case of a requisition requiring notice
of a resolution and not less than one week in the case of any
other requisition.

3. The requisition will be verified with the Company’s branch
share registrar and upon their confirmation that the requisition
is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the
Board to (i) include the resolution in the agenda for the annual
general meeting; or (ii) convene a special general meeting
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered Shareholders, provided that
the requisitionists concerned have deposited a sum reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in giving effect
thereto.
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Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws,
the Act and applicable legislation and regulation.

If a Shareholder wishes to nominate a person (“Candidate”) to
stand for election as a Director at the general meeting, documents
including, (i) a written notice signed by the concerned Shareholder
expressing his/her intention to propose the Candidate for election
as a Director at the general meeting; (ii) a written notice signed by
the Candidate indicating his/her willingness to be elected, together
with the Candidate’s biographical details as required to be disclosed
under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (iii) the Candidate’s
written consent to the publication of his/her personal data, must be
validly lodged at the Company’s registered office or head office in
Hong Kong at Unit 1708, 17/F, Tower Il, Admiralty Centre, No. 18
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong or at Tricor Investor Services Limited, the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong
at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.
The minimum length of the period, during which such notice(s)
are given, shall be the period specified in Bye-law 85 of the Bye-
laws and that (if the notices are submitted after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting approved for such election) the period
for lodgment of such notices shall commence on the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting.

Detailed procedures for the Shareholders to propose a Candidate
for election as a Director are available on the Company’s website at
www. bdveduii.com.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Specific enquiries by the Shareholders requiring the Board’s
attention can be sent in writing to the Company Secretary at the
Company’s head office in Hong Kong at Unit 1708, 17/F, Tower
I, Admiralty Centre, No. 18 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong. Other
general enquiries can be directed to the Company through those
communication channels as shown on the Company’s website at
www.bdveduii.com.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”)
which allows the Shareholders to share the profits of the Company
whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth.
Declaration of dividends is subject to restrictions under the Laws
of Bermuda, the Bye-Laws and any applicable laws, rules and
regulations. The Company may declare dividends from time to time
depending on the following factors:

(i)  the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

(i) the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

(i) the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of the Group;

(iv) the Group’s liquidity position;

(v) the general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

(vi) any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time by the Board
and there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any
particular amount for any given period.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the Year.
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ABOUT THE COMPANY

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited (formerly
known as “Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited”)
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively as the “Group”)
principally engages in the provision of (i) private educational
services, which include primary tutoring services, skill course and
test preparation courses, secondary tutoring services and English
language training and test preparation courses under the brand
name of “Modern Education GRARZEE)” (“MEHK”) and “Modern
Bachelor Education GRAA/NE L) (“MBE”); (ii) trading and services
from Virtual Reality (“VR”) and digital entertainment business; and
(iii) investment in securities. The Group also offers money lending
service to further utilize the strong cash flow generated from our
business.

The Company has been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) since July 2011
and has been providing quality education services to students of all
ages and with different needs. Despite the outbreak of Coronavirus
Disease 2019 (“COVID-19") which has hit the education sector
hard since late January 2020, the Group made every endeavor and
formulated appropriate strategies to provide quality tutoring services,
such as expanding the capacity of small physical classes by a short-
term rental of premises. Moreover, the Group has also been actively
exploring market opportunities to better deploy its resources and
introducing the online classes to supplement its traditional physical
classes with an aim to bring its business of connecting its students
and celebrity tutors into a new digital era. In addition, the Group has
developed and become a more comprehensive education services
provider through the establishment of a hybrid business model in
the education industry that brings metaverse experience and merges
with traditional learning.

ABOUT THE REPORT

This is the seventh Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
report published by the Company. By reporting on the ESG policies,
measures and performances of the Group for the financial year from
1 July 2022 to 30 June 2023 (“Reporting Year”), the report enables
stakeholders to learn more about its progress and direction on
sustainability issues.
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Reporting Scope

Focusing on the core and significant business units within the
Group, the scope of this report covers the business operations of
1) the headquarter office; 2) the back office and education centre
under MEHK; and 3) the back office, warehouse and education
centres under MBE in Hong Kong.

Reporting Boundary of ESG Data'
BE  HERERMBHBREHE

BEHE
BEIRAKBAZLREANEHE DB - AR EH
BEIREREBNTIIZEEBEE  DERER 21
REEETHRGMERRAE DL - KWK
THTORGMER  BRERKEHDL

Office and Warehouse
MEEREE
5

Reporting Standards

The report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements
of the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG
Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. A
full index is inserted in the last section of this report for reference.

e As at 30 June 2023, the total floor area of operating premises covered
in the report was 27,085 sq. ft. (30 June 2022: 24,014 sq. ft.). The
change is due to the adjustment in the scale of operations.

Education Centre
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Governance Repor

Four principles, namely Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and  A#RENHEELL5PEERERTERE) - NEE
Consistency, have been applied throughout the preparation and 24t FEE—HIE -
presentation of the report.

Materiality Material ESG issues are identified through stakeholder engagement. Internal and external factors

BEEM such as company strategy and industry trends are taken into account in this process.
BRAKNHELEBFIEEZNRE HERELREFHE - HWBEGEERAANXRRITEBLS
WINEFA % o

Quantitative Information is presented in a quantitative manner where feasible.

(4 BRERTERATENEHLTAED -

Balance The report identifies and describes both the achievements and challenges faced by the Group.
F AR E & 58 Rl K HE it AN 5 [ A A R R TR B ) PR

Consistency The Group presents information on a consistent basis to facilitate comparison of its performance
— B from year to year.

AEESN-BNEELINEHNURIRFHERBETLER -

On 22 September 2023, the report was approved by the board of ~ 2023F9A22H » AREDEARNREES([ES

directors of the Company (“Board”). g -

Feedback Mechanism BB

This report will be disseminated in print and electronically as part of ~ ANZR& G 1E AR EB2023FFERE ([FiR])H—26
the Group’s annual report 2023 (“Annual Report”). D AR & B F 5 B o

Comments and suggestions from stakeholders can help the Group BHENERREZTHIAEERTEFAEBRED
to build a more detailed and robust sustainability strategy. If you — AJ3FEERERR - MEARERHMBIRE HELE
have any questions or suggestions regarding this report or other  SAEE AT MREMHEE  BERAR R Z A AME
ESG matters, please contact the Group by writing to the Company ~ ([RAEIME ) EAEBEA - it 5AHBEZBE185
Secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”) at Unit 1708, /BEF L2/E17#1708F -

17/F., Tower I, Admiralty Centre, No.18 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT STATEMENT

We are aware that sustainability is an integral part of creating
shared values with our stakeholders and are committed ourselves
to a high standard of corporate social responsibility. With the aim of
protecting the environment, caring for our employees and making a
more positive contribution to society, we are dedicated to integrating
sustainability into the Group’s corporate strategy and day-to-day
business operations.

The Group, as part of the education system, strives for contributing
to a better future generation. With this in mind, the importance of
providing unparalleled and reliable educational services to achieve
all-around student demands needs no further emphasis. We also
nurture our staff and offer career development opportunities to
further ensure business continuity. On the environmental front, as
part of our environmental mitigation measures, minimising paper
usage by doubled-side printing, recycling of waste paper and using
FSC certified A4 paper are promoted within the Group.

In an effort to strengthen our sustainability management, we
established an ESG working group led by the Board and the Group’s
management (“ESG Working Group”) in the last reporting year.
During the Reporting Year, this ESG Working Group developed
policies focusing on procurement and supply chain with the aim of
strengthening relevant environmental and social risk management.
In addition, we have engaged a consultant to conduct training for
the Board and management to help them prepare for future target
setting.

Environmental, Social a
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Mindful of different social needs and expectations, we strive to
work with stakeholders at different levels to strengthen the overall
sustainability governance. By listening to their views, a more
informed decision can be made on the allocation of resources to
achieve our social and environmental goals. While we still have a
long way to go, by working together, we will continue to go above
and beyond in building a sustainable business.

ESG GOVERNANCE

The Board believes that good corporate governance principles
and practices are essential to the success of the Group and the
enhancement of stakeholder value. Under the authority of the Board,
the ESG Working Group is responsible for developing and refining
sustainability strategies and policies applicable across the Group,
primarily in the areas of environmental protection, employment,
operational responsibility and community investment. The ESG
Working Group reports to the Board and assesses the Group’s
sustainable development strategies, targets and performance
regularly.

Sustainability Governance Structure with Board
Oversight
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Board of Directors
EEg
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ESG Working Group
RE HERERIFEIE

Responsibilities and Functions

- Determine and review the Group’s ESG vision, objectives and strategy

- ldentify, determine and evaluate ESG risks and opportunities
- Develop and review ESG policies and procedures

- Set targets and review progress

- Oversee ESG reporting
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Risk Management and Internal Controls

The effectiveness of risk management is critical to the long-term
growth and sustainability of the Group’s business. The Board is
responsible for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems, while
management is responsible for risk management activities. The risk
management and internal control systems are assessed by the Audit
Committee at least annually.

ESG risks are embedded in the Group’s risk management framework
and internal control systems. To manage ESG risks in operations,
including those related to climate change, natural resources, health
and compliance, various controls and operational procedures are
in place to mitigate their associated impacts. All significant risk
management measures are regularly reviewed to ensure their
continued effectiveness. The Finance and Company Secretarial
Department follows up on tasks related to ESG risk management
and internal control systems and submits them to the ESG Working
Group for discussion and review. The results are then presented to
the Board for approval.

More details of the Group’s approach to risk management and
internal control systems can be found in the Corporate Governance
Report in the Annual Report.

Compliance Management

The Group recognises that breaches of laws and regulations will
seriously affect its business operations, performance, financial
position and reputation. Its business is governed by various laws
and regulations, including but not limited to the following which
have significant impacts on the Group: the Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57 of the laws of Hong Kong “HK Laws”), the Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the HK Laws), the
Copyright Ordinance (Chapter 528 of the HK Laws), the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the HK Laws) and the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the HK
Laws), as well as ordinances relating to air pollution, water pollution
and waste management.
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Environmental, Social an’(;\;e)rahce Report
BE HERERRS

The importance of regulatory compliance is recognised and
monitoring measures are in place to ensure compliance with relevant
laws and regulations. The Group also keeps abreast of the latest
regulatory developments and provides relevant training to relevant
employees. During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of
any cases of non-compliance with the above laws and regulations
that resulted in significant fines and non-monetary sanctions.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

On the basis of the experience and communication with customers,
external organisations and employees, the Group has integrated five
different stakeholder groups that are important to its business. These
groups include employees, students, investors and shareholders,
government and regulators and the community.

The engagement of stakeholders enables the Group to ensure that
its business and sustainability strategies are aligned with the views
and expectations of its stakeholders and also guides the Group
in identifying significant ESG issues and managing related risks
and opportunities. The Group regularly engages with stakeholders
through a variety of channels.
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Stakeholder Concern/Expectation Communication Channel Response
o E Bx/ HE BERE el &
Employees e Rights and interests e Emails, memorandums and e Continuously improve human resources related
e Compensation and benefits notices systems to protect the rights and interests of
o Clear career path e Training programmes employees
e Team building activities e Provide a comfortable and safe working
e Job performance reviews and environment
appraisals o Take initiative to listen to staff comments and
opinions
EE o R RN o FTHH  BRHLAEA s THIREANBEREBEAGUAREREEDN
o HERAEF o IEHIETE s
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Stakeholder Concern/Expectation Communication Channel Response
BHE Bx HE BRERE el &
Students e High-quality services Company website Implement policies to enhance campus safety,
e Transparent and reliable Service brochures quality of service management, responsible
information Satisfaction survey marketing and privacy protection
Dialogue Take the initiative to get feedback from students
24 s REXR® NS FERRAMBRERE  REERES
o FHRAIEHNEH RBEE/IHF BEENEHRELRE
mEEHE THEMELENREER
H3E
Investors and e Return on investments Company website Maintain good corporate governance

shareholders

REEMBR

Government and
regulators
BT R EEKE

Community

Iz

e Transparent and timely
updated information

o REMDRK
o FEHAEREEHMMNER

e Operating in compliance

op

AR

e Community participation

o HREZA

Interim and annual reports
Annual general meeting and

extraordinary general meetings

DRI
RHIRERFERE
BERBERE RBRREH
N

Conferences and meetings
Emails and letters

EHRET
ETBHRIER

Volunteer community work
Social media
EBMHEIE

MR

Update the information through company
website, announcements, notices and reports
from time to time

RERFNEEER
TEBBARMEE A%  BARBREEH
BE#

Keep track of latest regulatory development

ERSHMNEEHR

Organise and support charitable activities

MR R HEELY
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Materiality Assessment

With a view to identifying ESG issues of importance to itself and its
stakeholders, the Group commissioned an independent consultant
to carry out a substantive assessment through a questionnaire.

Phase
P ER

BEEMFME
RBNHEFRERNEREEEERNRE 48

kER#HE AKBEZABLERBBARSHEE
TTEE MR -

Action

T8

Phase 1 — Identifying relevant issues

PEER]1 - BRI

Phase 2 — Collecting stakeholder feedback

PEER2 - WERBF D ERBEER

Phase 3 — Identifying material issues

ER3-HAEERE

Phase 4 — Validation
R4 -%E

The Group identified 19 relevant ESG issues based on a review of global trends
in sustainable development and local reporting criteria.
RIBFHAIHEZERN2HBYE REHRETENRE - REE2HR191E48
BEIRE e REREME -

The Group collected stakeholder feedback through a questionnaire. In the
Reporting Year, the respondents were extended from directors to management,
general staff and consultants.

AEEREBFESHABRERFNENREER - RNOEFE  XTEHESE
REEEE  —RETNER -

Materiality of each relevant issue was assessed through the survey scoring.
Based on the results of the assessment, 6 significant issues were prioritised.
BBRETHECEEEZEENEZ L ETHME - REFHER  6EEE
BB RELER -

The list of material issues was submitted to the ESG Working Group for review.
EEZENFECRRERE g RERITHENEETES -
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We conducted a materiality assessment that included internal
evaluations and surveys with both our internal and external
stakeholders and an importance matrix was developed to prioritise
ESG issues. The six issues in the “very important” area of the matrix
were identified as the most material for the Group to address and
report on.

Somewhat
Important

ZILHE

Greenhouse gases and

Environmental, Social and Governance F

Protection of customer
information and

=

FETTH—REEEFEREEAR RN E
TTABRRHE RFE - A RGIEEZEEMERLIR
CHERERBEETELNF  BERIFFE
2 |REONEZBRRER SARETRERMES
MRBEEHE °

s

Very
Important

HEEERE

rivacy

REFPEM R \

Diversity and inclusion

Health, safety and Anti-corruption

(72
k) air pollutants well-being k&S
= BERE R ARG R ~ &3 RAEAt ' '
2L Employment Service quality
S i system an safety
w ==
pe ﬁ (EEHIE BEEERZE
§ E - V}\g%e Protection of
N a
£ = \. o Training and lntellectyal
Q . property rights
g Impacts on the environment development e
= and natural resources \ epl g
HRSE KA RERNTE -~ . Responsible
Materials Human rights marketing and
W;:}Eer e R N advertising
Community / - BEEEHRES
Less investment / Climate
Important HEKRE Supply chain risk %Erget
TAREE management {
HFE S8 E B B 12

v

Importance to the Group

HEAKENERM

OUR OPERATIONS

With a strong sense of responsibility, the Group places particular
emphasis on protecting the interests of students — providing them
with a healthy and safe learning environment, protecting their
privacy and ensuring that the Group’s information is reliable and
accurate. The achievement of these goals is based on a fair and
ethical operating system and collaborative sustainable practices
in the supply chain. A range of policies relating to campus safety,
service quality management, supply chain management, business
and ethics ensure that the Group’s operations meet the expectations
of internal and external stakeholders.

BANEE

AEBAABRANEER  HHERRESLNF
@ - REfRH—EREERZENEERE  KE
M FIROBRAL - WHRERA KRB MBS EMERE © %
ZERNBERERRTRA TEBNEEHE A RMH
ERNAFEBIEER - AEECHE— R ERE
ZE RBERERE  HERERE  BERERAER
HYBRSR - PARELR B2 8 W) 2 M BB M SNERH5 £ & o9 B3
.
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RE dHgREARE

Responsible Service

Student Interest

Data Privacy

BEAE

Protection of
Intellectual Property
Rights
O o8 A E

Responsible Marketing

Communications

BEANEHER

BEENRE
B4 7z

The growing importance of data privacy is more evident than before amid technological
advancement and increased use of data, especially as online teaching and learning becomes the
norm practice. Having a large student base, the Group has an indispensable responsibility for
data protection. The Staff Handbooks and Employee Code of Conduct clearly set out the Group’s
requirements in terms of privacy and security to ensure that all employees are fully instructed and
that all relevant regulations and laws are strictly adhered to.

In sync with the Group’s firm stance on maintaining the strictest standards of confidentiality, virus
scanning and internet protection software is installed on servers and every personal computer,
and its effectiveness is regularly checked. At the same time, reminders on virus updates
and vigilance against suspicious emails are sent to staff to ensure daily information security
management.

BEERMGES MBIREREREIN - BBRLENEREAS LR LERERELBERRE

aEE’J’IEER"F - ANBEABRZ  AEEHBEREAETAHRNEE - BTFMRET
TRSTRABREAREELRBMZ2 I ENER - AERMEETEHBRI RS ES - XA

T%L—rﬁfrﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁ’]f@/ﬁﬁ 0

EASEERSKBRRERENRELIZRY - ARSNEGEAEKELZE T RSHHEM

EMARESRN  UTHREEERML - AR mEEHRSNHAIREFBHNESSHE

ATET  UEREEEALEZERE -

Intellectual property rights of the Group are its important assets and as such, the Group has
made every effort to protect them. Meanwhile, the Group respects the intellectual property rights
of any third party. According to the Staff Handbooks, employees should not infringe or violate
the patents, trademarks, copyrights or intellectual property rights of any third parties. These
guidelines are reviewed annually by management to ensure their effectiveness.

AEENHBERSEEREE  RUAKEEDRENBER - AN AEEESEETSE
=HHABERE - RIEETFM  ETIAGRLIERETAF=ZTNERN - BHIF - REKH
BEE - ZFESIGFEREEEETEN  ABEREARIE -

Through providing clear and reliable information about its services, the Group helps students
make informed choices and protects their interests. To prevent exaggerated or false claims, copies
of promotional materials should be reviewed and approved by the directors of each business unit
before distribution or publication.

BEREHREBERENBW LA EEM  NEEEBS A ML AE R EL REDFIAF
& AP LEBEARERRR  SEMHEESBEXTIE ZAIEAZEB I FNTELETERN
KL -
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Student Satisfaction

Since the Group is a student-focused organisation, it is devoted to
make every effort to achieve continual improvement in the quality
of its educational services by listening and responding to student
feedback in order to help each student maximise their potential.

The Group has always prioritised the needs and satisfaction of
students. A Complaint Handling Procedure has been established
as a guideline for employee to handle enquiries and complaints
from students and parents. In addition, the Group takes the
initiative to understand and assist students with different needs. For
example, MEHK conducts surveys to collect students’ opinion on
course arrangements, focusing on the quality of the courses, their
arrangement and the location of education centres.

During the Reporting Year, the Group received 7 complaints about
course arrangements, refunds and the attitude of employees
and tutors. Investigations and appropriate follow-up actions were
immediately carried out by the relevant departments and personnel
of respective business units, including the Customer Care Officer,
Service Excellence and the General Manager, to resolve these
complaints. As a result of these complaints, the Group undertook a
review and improvement of its services with a focus on improving the
customer experience, including training for employees and tutors
involved in compliance cases.

Student Health and Safety

The Group takes ensuring the safety and well-being of its students
very seriously. Floor plans indicating fire escape routes, alarm bells
and exit signs in case of emergency are prominently displayed in the
education centres. The Group took precautionary measures such as
temperature screening at entrances and more frequent disinfection
and hygiene measures in the education centres and dance college
to protect students from the virus.

Environmental

BLHEE

HRARESAEE ST ONER - B NEBRE
REEEENRE - B8N TERSEHE RS
B NEPBEBLARERERHEN -

AEE-EEBENFTLMBZEREEN - AEH
EHERFRERERF (FREEBRESLENREEN
TREREIER © WO - NEBEE) T REMERENE TR
FROBE - o RABBLETHERNRER LY
RIELHNER  ERIRELR  RETHNH
BERUOKME o

R|EFE  REBRD7TEBNRRIZLHE - B
KR B MERNREE AT o AR PIR B EH D BA
8 BRETPRBIM  =BRENEKE AR
FATY REVEE WIRETE - UWIRREBIRF - B
RZERF - NEBEHERBETEESNIE - BH
REEFER SRHEPRARRIINEENEE

T -

SLERERLTD
AEEFFERBRRBENT2MBEL - HEF LD
BEMBERARTIANERERS EENESHAOR

W FEE - AREERRENERFRESLERTRE
RE - IR A ORARRIARNEE T OMERES
BrAETT SRR E S ME LG -
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Ethical Business

Upholding integrity is key for the Group in producing positive
influence and promoting fair and sustainable development
of the society. The Integrity Code of Conduct included in the
Staff Handbook spells out the Group’s position in relation to
bribery, requesting for interest, and receiving business gifts and
entertainment clearly. For example, as stated in the Staff Handbook,
all employees are prohibited from soliciting or receiving any forms of
advantage from any business associates.

The Group is committed to achieving the highest possible
ethical standards in all of its practices. In doing so, it regularly
communicates with its staff on the importance of integrity. The
Group has also established a confidential whistle-blowing system
as a channel for its employees to report any illegal behaviours.
The whistle-blowing system will be reviewed continually to provide
guidance in reporting and handling procedures. If any person of
the Group is suspected to have involved in illegal or dishonest acts,
anyone can provide relevant information through reporting channels
such as the Human Resource and Administration Department and
the Company Secretary. A more elaborated reporting channels
and mechanism is considered to be launched in future which
is dedicated to external stakeholders to address their relevant
concerns.

HERNEE

BELE RAKEELRGBYENEELERTR
AEERNER - ETFMPeHRETRERRPE
A S EARE  REFIE - B AR MR
FHEMILE - flan - ETFMAL - EEEY
PEAEREBREHRRIEZEMTZ AR -

AEBERNEBAEEINESBEREE - HIBE
o HERESTIHRAGHEREETER - A&E
NERBYRENBEEHE - FREEBRE(MIEIET
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BE HERERERE

Becoming a more active supporter of the fight against corruption

BMEXFRESIE

Corruption has a corrosive impact on society. It undermines democracy and the rule of law, as well as distorting market
forces. When the fight against corruption has become one of the top global priorities, Hong Kong has a proven track record
in preventing and exposing corrupt activities. Hong Kong has consistently remained in the band of the top 20 economies
with very low level of corruption in the world in the Corruption Perceptions Index since its launch in 1995. Among 180
countries/territories in the Corruption Perceptions Index 2022, Hong Kong is ranked the 12th least corrupt place, one of the
top performers in the Asia-Pacific region. It is vital for companies in Hong Kong to ensure compliance with the increasingly
stringent anti-corruption regulatory framework.

Through the development of anti-corruption related policies and a whistle-blowing mechanism, the Group plays an active
role in the fight against corruption. As part of the Group’s induction training, new employees are provided with information
relating to anti-corruption through the Staff Handbook and these guidelines are also made available to employees in the
course of their work.

Moreover, a training session was arranged for directors and employees during the Reporting Year to arouse their awareness
of ethical business standards and to ensure a full understanding of the Group’s expectations. The related anti-corruption

~

AN RBEFER - AEEE/REZRESLH—&HIEI

WER
-

materials, videos and case studies were sent to all employees through emails and invited them for discussion and feedback.

BEnfiteAERAUMRE BERIEDL  UKBETSHKF RESIFEXREZHRNEEEEZ— MBS
ERIERBEE SRS HEEAHENEE - AEREBIELIIBFERRMUN - BE - BERBEZRKFEN
TEQBEA - RIF[2022F /5 REH] - BENRRIBEEZRIBOEABR MEPHAFEI2M - TREEABRIIFER
BoE e — - BRETHZBERAORESEEERYBEARMNEEHEE -

AEBEEBHERBSHBARRMERRHIERE S THETRERGRER - ARERABBIIKSEBE8 TFMAH
ABREBREERRESHER - BENANEREIGZSES -

UemREREBREENERLERKREZHIZFEAN
SEEY - AKBECEEETHEMHSEBENORESEN RERRGIMBEXTE2RESR - YEFRFETHWER

J

Particular emphasis is also placed on the prevention of insider
trading by the Group. In order to strictly prohibit employees from
disclosing confidential or insider information outside the Group for
gain, the Group has established an Employees’ Code for Securities
Transactions.

There have been no reported irregularities or legal cases relating to
corruption and other unethical behaviour against the Group or its
employees during the Reporting Year.

AEBETFHRAH EABRI S - BBEEREE REF
MRAARE AN ERZRATLER - AERECHE
BEEFRH TR

RBEFEAR  ARERERIIBES AT BEE
%ﬂﬁﬂﬁ:ﬁzﬁﬁ,jxﬁZL%E${¢%/£1$7K1¢E’H&

HH

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 %k

69



70

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE HERERERSE

Supply Chain Management

The business nature of the Group is provision of educational
services. Its major suppliers include providers of printing, stationery
and uniform. While the Group does not rely heavily on suppliers,
it understands that the supply chain could increase the ESG risks
of an organisation and has increased its focus on working with
suppliers to minimise the environmental and social impact of its
operations.

Dedicated to working with and procuring from reputable and ethical
suppliers, a Procurement Policy was developed during the Reporting
Year that requires suppliers to be assessed for their environmental
and social performance at the time of purchase. The Procurement
Policy also encourages the purchase and use of durable, recyclable,
energy efficient and clean products.

Apart from setting out requirements on supplier and product
selection, the Group also developed a Supplier Code of Conduct
in the Reporting Year, which sets out clear guidelines for ethical
business conduct in relation to employees, society and the
environment respectively.

Human and
labour rights

Business ethics

BmEER

AR THEF

The Group carries out regular reviews of supplier performance
against the above code of conduct and considers to terminate
engagement with non-compliant suppliers as part of its supplier
management process if any violation is found. Going forward, it will
explore the development of a sophisticated approach to identifying
and managing potential environmental and social impacts along the
supply chain in order to develop effective and strong partnerships.

Health and safety

HEEER

AEENEBHERRHEHERY - EX2HERE
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Environmental
protection

RESSS BERE

AEERELATRATIEHEANKBETENRR
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OUR PEOPLE

The Group understands that safeguarding the health and well-
being of its employees is not only a corporate imperative, but also a
fundamental objective in itself. With these responsibilities in mind,
the Group’s duty of care is multifaceted and includes making every
effort to create decent work, prevent discrimination, reduce injuries
and illnesses, promote equal participation, social inclusion, diversity
and support personal development.

Employment System

Employees are the foundation of the Group and the dedication and
commitment of each employee is vital. As an employee-focused
employer, the Group is committed to treating all employees fairly
and with respect. Reward and compensation policies are set fairly
based on the performance and ability of employees, while the Group
reviews its compensation and benefits programs regularly to ensure
that its remuneration packages remain competitive. In addition, the
Group continues to conduct regular review of its benefits packages
including its medical scheme, training subsidies and performance-
based bonus to align them with prevailing offers in the market.

Employment practices relating to these compensation and benefits,
as well as other key areas including, but not limited to, recruitment
and dismissal, promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunities, diversity and anti-discrimination, are included in the
Group’s Staff Handbook and communicated to each employee to
safeguard their interests.

Additionally, to ensure that employees are able to achieve and
maintain a healthy balance between work and family responsibilities,
the Group implements family-friendly practices such as offering
flexible working hours or allowing work from home. Different
recreational activities were also arranged for example, lunch
gathering and workshops were organised during the Reporting Year
to increase the sense of belonging of employees.

Ehwronment, Social and Covermro oo
RE  HEREARS
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~

Working towards greater diversity and inclusion

LHnE% T HE

Attaining a diverse and inclusive work environment is not only an important part of making a company a great place to build
a career. A diverse workforce with different ideas and perspectives helps to create better solutions for the clients and thus
contributes to the sustainable development of the company.

The greater effort of diversity and inclusion for the Group means seeking diversity in the workforce from entry level positions
to leadership positions and supporting diversity throughout the employment system. In strict compliance with equal
opportunities legislation such as the Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the HK Laws), the Race Discrimination
Ordinance (Chapter 602 of the HK Laws), the Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 487 of the HK Laws) and the
Family Status Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 527 of the HK Laws), the Group is committed to developing an organisation
and culture where all talented people, regardless of gender, disability, pregnancy, family status, race, religion, age, sexual
orientation and nationality, can have and see a pathway to success.

During the year, as part of these ongoing efforts, the Group developed a Diversity and Inclusion Policy, which outlines
measures to promote diversity and inclusion in the workplace, including the introduction of training to raise awareness
among employees. The Staff Handbook also requires employees to maintain appropriate demeanour and behaviour
to eliminate discrimination and harassment in the workplace. Employees who encounter or witness any act of sexual
harassment can report it directly to the Human Resources and Administration Department or the Company Secretary for
investigation.

The Group will review these policies, guidelines and measures on diversity and inclusion from time to time with a view to
improving them.

BERZTABNIERRMEERARANREEERETNEE R - AETRBENBHNZ T BT ATFA
EEFMBRRN R EMRERRNARFHERE -
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In relation to labour standards, the Group is aware that child labour
and forced labour not only put its reputation at risk but, more
importantly, are linked to possible violations of fundamental human
rights.

The Group prohibits the use of any form of child labour or forced
labour in its operations. During the recruitment process, the
Human Resources and Administration Department will check the
identity documents of candidates to avoid employing child labour.
Reimbursement, cash compensation and compensatory leave will
be provided to eligible employees who agree to work overtime on
weekdays and rest days. In addition, employees may voluntarily
terminate their employment contract by giving notice to the Group.

Overview of key performance indicators

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had 88 full-time employees (30 June
2022: 81) and 47 part-time employees (30 June 2022: 46). Female
employees make up more than 53.3% of the employees.

RETEATE  AEEEHINET KRGS T ME
BEAGERE BFEENEAEIRREILEESTA

AEER TEHLSEREREATANETHEH S
T RBEERET - ANBERRTERBERERYE
MEMERANE  WERERAET - HRNEEETIIE
BEAEBEMINEERER - AEEBRERHR
i MeMEMMEERR - I BEATBBRAN
SEHHBHNTN - BRELEREEH -

BREMIEEHE

20236 H30R - AEEEF88E 2R & (2022
F6H30R : 81%) R4A7THFBIE B (202246 430
B :46%) Kt REEHEEBEAS33%AL -

Number of employees EEAH

2022/23 2021/22
2022/23%F 2021/224F
By gender Male Xl 63 52
IR B 5 Female 7 72 75
By age group Below 18 18BFA T 1 0
RE R4 RIE 18-29 18&F2975% bb 56
30-39 302 395% 40 36
40-49 40E495% 25 24
50 or above 50BR A £ 14 11
By employment type Full time 21 88 81
ZRBERE S Part time R 47 46
By position Non-managerial grade EEER 96 92
LR E S Managerial grade BB 27 26
Director grade FER 12 9
Total 25T 135 127

Change & &) 6.3%
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Employee turnover

BERAER

2022/23

2022/23%F

By gender Male Xl 28 (44.4%)
IR B 5 Female 7 44 (61.1%)
By age group Below 18 185A R 0 (N/A) CTNERR)
BEEARE D 18-29 18E297% 41 (74.5%)
30-39 302 397% 14 (35.0%)

40-49 402 497% 12 (48.0%)

50 or above 50 A 5 (35.7%)

By employment type Full time 2 68 (77.3%)
ZEBEAE D Part time SR 4 (8.5%)
By position Non-managerial grade IEEER 67 (69.8%)
LR E S Managerial grade EIEH 2(7.4%)
Director grade =44 3(25.0%)

Total #&5t

To get a better picture of the Group’s workforce, data on other
workers was also collected during the Reporting Year.

72 (53.3%)

RTERHETHARENSE NN RREFET

WETHMTIEENER -
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Number of other workers

Ht THEEAR

2022/23
2022/23F
By gender Male St 43
= RIE D Female 7 137
By age group Below 18 18BRA T 1
RERARE D 18-29 18E297% 145
30-39 302 397% 15
40-49 402 497% 10
50 or above 50852 A £ 9
180

Health and Safety BEREZE

Creating a healthy and safe working environment is the Group’s
commitment to all employees, in particular to protect them from
work-related injuries and occupational diseases. Although the Group
does not identify positions with a high risk of occupational hazards
due to the nature of its business, the Group provides health and
safety guidelines to its employees in the Staff Handbook. To take
this a step further, the Group developed a Health and Safety Policy
to foster a health and safety culture and ensure high standards of
occupational safety.

To go beyond policies and guidelines, tips on workplace health
and safety are shared with employees. Additional preventive
measures were implemented during the COVID-19 pandemic, such
as increased disinfection and cleaning of offices and education
centres, enforcement of the requirement for employees to check
their temperature daily, and the distribution of surgical masks and
alcohol-based hand rubs to employees.

BIYBREMZENTEREIDASELHHMA R THYAK
o LHEREMMARE THEIERBER - BEX
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i AEEEREETIFMPREEBAHTRERR
2185 - RERREE—FEH - AEESE T RER
ZERR  WEBERERRZEXE - WHREE R
RRITLE o

REE-—TEBRRREENH  RARERS =
B TIES AT R 2 2 MR » F£COVID-19& B HIMHE
TRERER T RSN TRDI i - BN A ERIKE S
DHESENER  BRBAREEEERANMRTE -
AR AEE DI OB RBERBEF A

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 %k

715



4 i

76

Environmental, So al and Governance Repoft
RIE HERERERSE

The wellbeing of employees is also a top priority for the Group and as
such, the Group encourages calorie burning and nutritional intake,
and offers recreational activities as well as other team building
activities to enhance the health and well-being of its employees.

There was no work-related fatality or injury in the last three years,
including the Reporting Year.

Development and Training

Through providing training for its employees, the Group believes
it can improve their performance and nurture their professional
growth. While training plans are described in the Staff Handbook,
the specific programmes are ultimately tailored to the identified
needs of different business units and may range from professional
and technical training to personal development skills. For example,
during the Reporting Year, in addition to monthly in-service training,
MBE provided training in summer course promotion and teaching
skills enhancement, while the dance college provided up-to-date
information and teaching techniques related to dance examinations.

Besides continuous and effective training to facilitate knowledge
acquisition and knowledge transfer, appropriate performance
appraisals are used to monitor the development of employees. The
well-structured and open annual performance appraisal system,
applied to all employees, is reviewed periodically and enhanced to
encourage two-way feedback between employees and their reporting
officers.

Overview of key performance indicators

In the Reporting Year, the Group trained 143 employees and
other workers, an increase of 134.4% compared to the previous
reporting year while a decrease of 2.6% of the total number of
employees. However, the average training hours decrease by 57.1%
compared to the previous reporting year. This is due to changes of
organisational priorities.
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Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT



Number and percentage of employees and other workers trained

ZRINEERHEMIEEABRBDL

2022/23 2021/22
2022/234F 2021/224F
By gender Male Xl 81 (76.4%) 26 (50.0%)
IR B 5 Female 7 62 (29.7%) 35 (46.7%)
By position Non-managerial grade IEEBR 129 (46.7%) 52 (56.5%)
AR E D Managerial grade BB 3(11.1%) 4 (15.4%)
Director grade =14 11 (91.7%) 5 (55.6%)
Total 485t 143 (45.4%) 61 (48.0%)
Change # +134.4% (-2.6%)
Average training hours T35 35 9 B 2
2022/23 2021/22
2022/234%F 2021/224F
By gender Male B 2.1 9.2
IR B Female I 1.5 0.4
By position Non-managerial grade EEER 15 0.2
R AR B Managerial grade EER 20.0 55.0
Director grade = 1.0 5.0
Total 4851 1.8 4.2
Change # -57.1%

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 F3f 17
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OUR ENVIRONMENT

The nature of the Group’s business is such that it does not involve a
direct destructive impact on the environment. However, recognising
that climate change and resource scarcity are unavoidable
challenges in today’s global context, the Group has developed an
Environmental Protection Guideline that incorporates measures to
protect the environment throughout its operations. The Guideline
outlines the Group’s principles for managing and reducing its
environmental impact.

To ensure continuous improvement in our environmental
performance, we have established environmental targets on
greenhouse gases (“GHG”) emissions, energy efficiency, waste
and water use. To ensure the effectiveness of these targets, they
are reviewed annually and updated when necessary. The Group’s
environmental targets are listed in the table below:

RAWRER

AEENEBEETS RERANERBEEVE -
Rl ARBRAMREECREREZ RE SRR
SRR T A e BB - AR EE BRI R
3l - Heh A REEE P REBRNBENE - %53
BER AR EE R KR L L ERE BN RA -

RERFENSHRMANRREY  HAMETEER
BORERBDYN - BERARE - BEYMAKOIR
ZEER - BFERAAERZEZBENERLE - XEL
BREH - ARBEZREARRINAT :

Aspects Targets Base year
[Em B HEFE
Waste Reduce 10% by 2028 2023
REZY) E2028F AR 2 10% 2023%F
GHG Emissions Reduce 10% by 2028 2023
SRS BEA TE20285F ADF A 10% 20234
Electricity Reduce 10% by 2028 2023
ES) TE20285F B A 10% 20234
Water Reduce 10% by 2028 2023
K TE20284F AR A 10% 2023%F
Waste Management BEYER

The Group recognises its obligation to properly and effectively
manage and reduce the waste generated from its operations. In
order to reduce the amount of non-hazardous waste, the Group
provides clear guidance to its employees through environmental
guidelines on reusing stationery, recycling paper and bringing their
own cutlery rather than using disposable tableware.

The hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are collected regularly by
waste collectors and both are disposed of appropriately.

AEBRMNEBEBREARCEIE RO HEEM
ELHBERY - BRI ETEEVNEE  AEEE
BRFESIARERIBWHMNIES - BREEERX
H EREREEHER  WEBERER—REER -

BEYMREREEENUEREERTREREY BT
BV MMEIELERE -

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT



Overview of key performance indicators
There were no hazardous waste generated during the Reporting
Year and in the previous reporting year.

As for non-hazardous waste, a total of 0.13 tonnes were generated
during the Reporting Year. This change was mainly due to the
restructuring of the Group’s operating sites.

Environmental, Social a

BRE #HEREARES

HRENEEHE
RBEFERE—BAREFE A EELEVEES
BEERY -

RBEFE AREZ2EELTEZTEREYWH0.13
Mg o WWEMLEBARNAKEE L LSMNEAMK -

Waste disposal BEYNEE
2022/23 2021/22 Units Change

2022/23%F 2021/22% Efy 21t
Total Hazardous waste 0.00 0.00 tonnes N/A A3
BEEEDEE L7
Intensity of hazardous waste 0.00 0.00 tonnes/thousand sq.ft N/A i
BEEEYEE W, FEHER
Non-hazardous waste 0.13 0.31 tonnes -58.06%
BmEEEY 8
Intensity of non-hazardous waste 0.005 0.013 tonnes/thousand sq.ft -61.54%
BEEEVEE Mg, FF 75 ER
Carbon and Energy Management e & pE R & 18
Extreme weather events and natural disasters due to climate change  SIEE (LS| A HH R R EMH R B RLEA e E AR
may impose an impact on the Group’s operations and business. ERNEERERELATE - BERENREE(LH
GHG are the main culprits of climate change. TTH e

The Group’s GHG emissions are mainly from the purchased
electricity consumed in its daily operations. In order to minimise the
adverse impact on its operations and the environment, the Group
reduces GHG emissions mainly by adopting energy saving measures
as set out in the Environmental Protection Guideline, including
setting the air-conditioning temperature in offices to 25.5T,
adjusting the brightness of monitors to appropriate levels,

and other power saving behaviours.

In line with previous years, the Group quantified its GHG emissions
during the Reporting Year. The quantification process was carried
out in accordance with the Guidelines? compiled by the Hong Kong
Environmental Protection Department and the Electrical and
Mechanical Services Department. The relevant quantified data will
provide a basis for the management to set carbon reduction targets.

2 Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions
and Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional
Purposes) in Hong Kong

AEENAERBHNEZRE BB EEF BRI
BEN - REERIHHLZBEMREEENTHE

£ FAEETIERBRARFAREESIIEHOEERE
EHRRDRERBHN  BREHAEZRHRERE

#3255T BT EREREEEERIKFALEM
EHRAETS -

HBEFE B AKRERREFEHEAEREH
BUETTEIL - BILREDREBETEBRZFREE MKE
TRERENESIZET - HEANELEEEREERE
SEHOREE B IR R KR ©

2 EEEEYEE - EFER
R B B AR5 15 5

RNHEABR) B EREHRL
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Overview of key performance indicators

During the Reporting Year, the Group had no GHG emissions under
Scope 1, i.e. fugitive emissions from stationary sources, mobile
sources or fire extinguishing systems and refrigeration systems.
Scope 2, which includes GHG emissions from electricity purchased
at all operating sites, is the Group’s largest GHG emission.

Waste paper disposal and fresh water and sewage treatment, are
also contributors to the Group’s GHG emissions. However, Scope
3 emissions do not cover all of the Group’s operations as water
consumption data is only available for some of the operations,
including the back office under MEHK, the warehouse under MBE,
and education centres under MBE.

The total GHG emissions amounted to 241.15 tonnes of CO,-¢,. This
figure represents an increase of 28.45 tonnes, or 13.4%, compared
to the Group’s total GHG emissions for 2021/22. The increase in
GHG emissions was primarily due to the restructuring of the Group’s
operation.

FBREXIERHE
RBEFE  AKRBEYTEELGEINLERES
R BR B EERSE  RERBH BN RGBS
RGEENREETN - BE2ERENAA L EME
KEBEENELNAREREBHN  SAKEZADN
BERBBERR

R AR Ba B A BOR K B 5K BRI FTE £ M BEN B B 10
AEERRERBHMES - A - ARERERFE
DEENLH(BRAKRHEETNRINER - AR
NEETETHRERRRNEBLETHHE P LN
FKBUE - BEBNHERAE TREARAEEMANZE
HoFh o

RERBHMAEE24]1. 15 _ (LIRSS - ZEUIE
BRARKER2021/22F A ERBEE A EEHN28.45
B X13.4% - RERBHNELNDETEARAE
EEEEAM -

GHG emissions BERBHER
2022/23 2021/22 Units Change
2022/23% 2021/22% E{x 21t
Scope 1: Direct GHG emissions 0.00 0.00 tonne of CO,-e N/A A3
HE]: ERAERBHEN mE — EALHRE
Scope 2: Energy Indirect GHG emissions 164.09 154.83 tonne of CO,-e 6.0%
HE2 - e REEREREBHN WE—SEALIRE 2
Scope 3: Other Indirect GHG emissions 77.06 57.87 tonne of COx-e 33.2%
#E3 : EfAEAEREBHEN WS iREE
Total GHG emissions 241.15 212.70 tonne of CO,-e 13.4%
mERBEREE mE — S LHRE
Intensity of GHG 8.90 8.86 tonnes of COZ—e/thousand 0.5%
BERBRE square feet
mE — bk E
?¥7§§@€

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT



During the Reporting Year, total energy consumption in use was
164.09 MWh. This figure represents an decrease of 81.67 MWh, or

W MAREABE

RBEFE  AEBEMERRRBFEEER164.09
HKERF o ZEIRE2021/22F sE IR HFEEE M 1 81.67

33.2%, compared to the total energy consumption in 2021/22. The  JKELBF » 833.2% ° sZm P IR AL B L EE AT
decrease was due to the change of operations of the Group. E
Energy consumption RETRUEFE
2022/23 2021/22 Units Change

2022/23% 2021/22%F EB{x HE
Purchased electricity 164.09 24576 MWh JKEL B -33.2%
SN S
Intensity of energy 6.06 10.23  MWh/thousand square feet -40.8%
BERH e 2 KEE, TEH

EN

Paper and Water Management HRRKER

Using resources efficiently and responsibly is the Group’s
responsibility. Besides energy, the main resources consumed by the
Group are paper and water.

While the Group has put waste recycling into practice to minimise its
impact on the environment, it understands that it is more beneficial
and cost-effective to reduce waste than to recycle. In order to
reduce waste, particularly by reducing waste paper at source, the
Group replaces printed circulars and memos with electronic versions
and encourages paperless meetings. It also utilises different social
media channels for branding and uses electronic messages instead
of printed flyers for advertising and promotion.

In terms of water usage, the Group obtains water from municipalities
and has no difficulty in sourcing water that is fit for purpose. To
conserve water, it regularly checks taps for leaks and repairs taps
when needed. The flow of water from the taps is also controlled to
avoid excessive use of water.

BERRBEEMERERRANSENEEMAE - BRet
RN REBDERN T EERBMAFAMK -

BEASESEZMRENEEE  SEHRED
FTERERK  AEBIRAR D BERZYE L B YRR
EWEANBERRANE - RBRLBERYEL - L
HEBBIERBERDBERESE AEBEUAEFHEAR
RITEBE AT - URBERLEEE - AEE T
ERZEARKEREETREER  YEAETE
BERERESRETESREE -

ERKTE  AEBERKETREK - RKEGERK
BRAOELERE - BTEHHORK  AREEEHRE
IKBEBREIRK » WHEFRBRFEIEKEESR - KEED
HKRIFSZ B - @R BE K -
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Overview of key performance indicators

Since the Group operates from leased space, where water supply
and consumption is fully controlled by property management, water
usage data is not available for most of the operating locations.
During the Reporting Year, the Group obtained water usage data
for the back office under MEHK, the warehouse under MBE, and
education centres under MBE. Water usage at these operating
locations is shown in the table below.

FBREXIERHE

HRAKEEHEESHANEE  HKERKEEZAY
XEERRHER] - ER AR & E i 3 HOX &R K
BiE - RREFE  AEERSRABBETHRY
MmER BERNBLETHEBERRRNBLETH
HERONFAKEE - 5L EHHOAKENTE
PR e

Water consumption FEKE
2022/23 2021/22 Units Change
2022/23% 2021/22% Efy HE
Total water consumption 64.00 48.00 cubic metres 33.3%
FEE=YIN < ST AR
Intensity of water 2.36 5.29 cubic metres/ -55.4%
thousand square feet
k=R MK FERER
Environment and Natural Resources REBERRXARER
Apart from emissions and use of resources, the Group’s business — BREEM R ERFERIN - REBMER L EL EHIRE

operations do not have a significant direct impact on the
environment and natural resources, and the Group is working to
further reduce the environmental impact associated with its activities
and operations. In addition to measures relating to emissions and
resource use, the Group is striving to integrate environmental
protection into its procurement processes. The green procurement
guidelines in the Group’s Procurement Policy developed in the
Reporting Year are an important step in this regard. For more details
of the Procurement Policy, please refer to the section headed “Supply
Chain Management” in this ESG report.

In addition, the Group will continue to refine and establish its
environmental policies and guidelines, management systems
and key performance indicators, which it believes will enable the
Group to better integrate environmental management into its daily
operations.

RRAABRELERERTE  BARERONE—
B EE R R EERBORRZE - FREIUEK
REREABBOEGES - NEBR D KIRERER
AERBRE - AREHRBBERR RS FEHEH
RRKEEL  BHRANEE—F - BARBEX
ME—FTHE  FL2HARERE HEREBEARRET
[MHEEER]— -

BEAN - AR B G A AR ST K I E LIRIB R g 3l
BIEHIE R AREMIER - AELESEIRE S
HRREERAAKENAEEEZF -
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OUR COMMUNITY

As a caring enterprise, the Group is keen to understand the needs
and meet the expectations of its stakeholders and the communities
in which it operates. The Community Investment Policy, developed
during the Reporting Year, aims to guide the Group’s community
investment activities in a more systematic and effective manner.

With a particular focus on the welfare and education of children,
youths and the elderly, the Group participated in various charity
events and community services during the Reporting Year, donating
a total of HK$17,000 cash donation to support local charities.

In an effort to help students in need, the Group supported Egive
For You Charity Foundation by participating in its activities relating
to the donation of learning materials. In addition, the Group also
supported the Child Psychoecology Foundation which is dedicated
and compassionate organization committed to providing unwavering
support for the holistic development and well-being of children.

From 2012, the Group has been awarded the Caring Company logo
by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service in recognition of its
contribution to the community. In the future, the Group will continue
to explore ways to leverage its strengths to help the community thrive
and make a greater positive impact on the community.

EMHE
AEEBEMEE BB THREASHEREEEMEL
BHFRLmEHERE - HREFEAFTHOHLRE
BREEREAKEURE AR LRI ARREL
EmREE -

AEEBLHEBMIRE  BFIFRRENBNRHE -
RBEFELESARZ R MERRT - 5 HLBHE
17,0008 TTHR IR AL A B E AR -

RTEPEFTENRL  AEEER2EBEAEE
SR BIBRBM AEBRELSTE © 1o - REETR
XEREVCERRESE - RELERRESER/—
MREWE HEZONRE BORRENZEH
BRGUDEULREHBETBHIE -

B2012% i - AEE—BERFEL S RGE SEERD
RERBERS BETAKEELEATR o KK
AEEREERRNAEEZEPHREDHRLY
HRELAEANBEEZENTR -
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX RE - HERERBEESIARES

Aspects Description Page/Remark
=) 3t BR et
Al Emissions BER#

General Disclosure Information on: 61, 62,78, 79

—REE

Al.l

Al.2

Al3

Al4

Al5

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,

discharges into water and land, and generation of

hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BRAERKORERBEYER - MK R EIHET

EENEEBEEYHNEELSH

(@) B &

(b) BFHEITABERTENEEERZ RERS

The types of emissions and respective emissions

data.

HER iR LR KABR B R -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)

greenhouse gas emissions and intensity.

B EELD RREE (SBE))R=RBHERE K

Total hazardous waste produced and intensity.

FELRERENEERTE -

Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity.

FEXBEZEZENRERTE -

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken

to achieve them.

WM PRET MV HEE B E R REIE L B R

EE 2P EE -

84  Bradaverse Education (Intl) Investments Group Limited JEFH#& (BE) B A £ EAR AT

There were no air emissions involved in
the Group’s operations.

REBAOERB TS RERIEN

78-80

80

78,79

78,79

78



Aspects Description Page/Remark
=] i BR
Al.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous 78
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HlEBEEREZRZEYN L - REMPIE]
STHVHEE B R R REDE L BRI R -

A2 Use of Resources &R fif F

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including 61, 62,79, 81
energy, water and other raw materials.

—MRIREE BERERER(BERIR - KREAMRMED K
%= o

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in 81
total and intensity.

RENESMEER SHEEREAEERT
ER

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. 82
BEKERHEE °

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and 78
steps taken to achieve them.

HIR PRI LB BERE AR B R R RESE LB
EATERER ) P 5 -

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing During the Reporting Year, there
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) were no problems in sourcing water
set and steps taken to achieve them. encountered in the Group’s operations.
HSKEGE AR AT BEREE - FIEIVA REBEFE - AEBEN S EEKIUK
K B IR R ARERE L B RATEREE 5 - TR L AT RRE o

78

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products The Group’s operations did not involve

and per unit produced.
R MTAREMENBERSEESMNIGE -

the use of packaging materials.

REBEBTY RERSENH -
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Aspects Description Page/Remark
=] i BR R
A3 The Environment and Natural Resources BiE & X R &R
General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact 82
on the environment and natural resources.
—MRIREE BARBEITAHRERRABEREKNERZENIL
&® o
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on 82
the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.
HREBEDHHRERRAERNERTERE
RRERBBAZENTH -
A4 Climate Change iR &t
General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant 78

—RWE

A4l

climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer.
BRREHEKRRAEEHBETAEETZENE
ARIEHEBEEEHEGE

Description of the significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

HABEERAESHRETAELELENEARRK
HEEE  MEXRREERBTZENTY -

86  Bradaverse Education (Intl) Investments Group Limited JEF&#E (BE) B A £EAR A7

The Group has identified that climate
change could lead to an increase in the
frequency of extreme weather events
and may affect the infrastructure of
the Group’s offices and educational
centres, while damage to the
ecosystem may reduce the supply of
paper on which the Group relies. To
address these risks, the Group has put
in place extreme weather contingency
measures to ensure the security of
systems and documents, and has
taken measures to reduce paper
consumption and promote recycling of
paper.

RNEBE B PR IR (L] e G B3R R
RREEHEE WAl AKERAD
EEBRELBEPLELELE R
REERRGNBEARRASAEE
PRk RELE - REHZER
B - NS E B HIE R oK R e # R
i ABERREGEXHLZ R - WER
S HER D AR IEHE - R AR B
Y o



Aspects
JEH

Description

tipus

Page/Remark

BR e

B1 Employment {E{&
General Disclosure

—RE

Bl.1

Bl.2

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment

and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal

opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other

benefits and welfare.

ERAFHERGEE BEEKEA  IERH &

B TFE#E  Zalt REBEUARHEMEER

By

(@) BE: &

(b) BFHBETABEAZENHEBERLER
HEF

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age

group and geographical region.

ZHR - BERE - FRAENKLEZSNES

B -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and

geographical region.

RIER - FleMR RitEE DR MALLE -

B2 Health and Safety @ % 2

General Disclosure

—REE

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and

protecting employees from occupational hazards.

EHARHELZ2TIERBIRREEEHE2BEMLE

EH) ¢

(@) BE: &

(b) BTFTHBITATEAZENHBEZ AR
BB KL -

61,62,71,72

73,75

74

61,62, 75,76
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Aspects Description Page/Remark
=] i BR R
B2A! Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred 76
in each of the past three years including the
reporting year.
RBE=F(BERBEFE)BAITIEBERMIETH
AE KR -
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 76
EIGIEEAIERY -
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety 75,76
measures adopted, and how they are implemented
and monitored.
HLFT SR AR B R R R 2 2 HE e - A NABREHL
TREEEL -
B3 Development and Training 2 & & 3Z 3l
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and 76
skills for discharging duties at work. Description of
training activities.
—MRIAREE ERRABRERITIIEBRENMH REENEK
5K o HIRIEINES o
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and 76,77
employee category.
BRI REEFEAESHNZIIEEB DL ©
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee 76,77

by gender and employee category.
RUERIREEERE S  BREETHHFEHE
HlB R -

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT



Aspects Description Page/Remark
=] i BR
B4 Labour Standards %5 T %8
General Disclosure Information on: 61,62,73
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
— MR E BRAYIEE Teioa 4 Ta -
(@) BE &
(b) BFHBITABEAXZENHERERRER
BB ES
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment 73
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
i 51 R BB P A0 15 b LA 2 B T K 98 Il 85
T »
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such There were no such practices

practices when discovered.
RN E R IE R E R A BB TR &
,%%\ o

discovered in the Group’s operations.
REAEBzEEP I EERNES
e
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Aspects Description Page/Remark
=) i BR R
B5 Supply Chain Management {4 fE 8 &

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks 70

— B

B5.1

B5.2

B5.3

B5.4

of the supply chain.
EEHREENRE R SRBEBUR -
Number of suppliers by geographical region.

miEE D EHEE -

Description of practices relating to engaging
suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices
are being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

B AR HERNED - mERITTEBIED
WEHEREE  URBERITRERRE -
Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

BB HEENRE Rt RARANED -
IARIBBIMITREER A -

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

R BRE HEEREE S ARRE R KRS
B - LARMEBMITRERTE -

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT

The Group has five major suppliers
related to printing. They are all located
in Hong Kong.
REBALARORAEEMRES - KF
BLREE -

70

70

70



Aspects Description Page/Remark
=) i BR
B6 Product Responsibility &= R & 1E

General Disclosure Information on: 61, 62, 65-67

—RREE

B6.1

B6.2

B6.3

B6.4

B6.5

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling

and privacy matters relating to products and services

provided and methods of redress.

FHMREEMNRBNERELZ S BE &R

BERILBEEARBRAER

(@) B &

(b) BTFHBITAGEAZENHBER AR
BB K

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject

to recalls for safety and health reasons.

EEREEXEMBHTRLT 2 EERIEHMA
BN GRS A

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.
BEANE M RREHIRFEE U REH X -
Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

it B A T SRR AR ERE S VB Al -
Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

BB ERERERERBKERT

Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

HuH BB ERRE RFLRBBUER - A RAERBEBIT
RERFE -

There were no recalls concerning the
provision and use of products and
services for safety and health reasons.
B A AP IR At I A 0 EE m S IR 7S
7 2 B 2 FR 38 p 1 [0 U ) R4 o

67

66

Recall procedures are irrelevant to the

Group’s operations.

Bl R 7 B AN SR B 2 i T T AR o
66
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Aspects
JEH

Description

tizpus

Page/Remark
BR e

B7 Anti-corruption R &35
General Disclosure

—RBE

B7.1

B7.2

B7.3

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.

BRI IERRR - BR - BEFROEREN

(@) BE: &

(b) BTFHBETABEAZENHEBERIER
AR -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt

practices brought against the issuer or its employees

during the reporting period and the outcomes of the

cases.

REBEMAHETASHEEREYEELENE

SRARMNEE RFAER -

Description of preventive measures and whistle-

blowing procedures, and how they are implemented

and monitored.

e R B RET - ARBEARTRESR

FE o

Description of anti-corruption training provided to

directors and staff.

Ml MES R B TRENRESE -

B8 Community Investment # BR &

General Disclosure

—MRIE

B8.1

B8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand
the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

BN R2ERTRETACENELROTE
ENBREXBLIDSERIHRMBHOBK -
Focus areas of contribution.

TR o

Resources contributed to the focus area.

EEIBRBMBANER -
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

BRADAVERSE EDUCATION (INT’L) INVESTMENTS GROUP
LIMITED (FORMERLY KNOWN AS “HONG KONG EDUCATION
(INT’L) INVESTMENTS LIMITED”)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability)

=

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bradaverse
Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited (formerly known as
“Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited”) (“Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Group”) set out on
pages 106 to 251, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 30 June 2023, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30
June 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

1. Impairment assessment of goodwill

Refer to Notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements
for the Group’s accounting policies and accounting estimates
and judgements and refer to Note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements for detailed disclosures of the goodwill
recognised by the Group during the year ended 30 June 2023.

RRER
EERRBAREMASEMNTERAEN(EFE

EHEADETEZLE REZFEL  BFH
BEENABE BN B RS MR BREDN
BE] &P - REBEFBEHMASRM
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1. BEREML
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

iI's

Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)

The key audit matter
BREREHE

As at 30 June 2023, the significant net carrying amount of
approximately HK$20,655,000 of the Group’s goodwill was
allocated to a cash-generating unit, namely, the trading of VR
and digital entertainment services in Hong Kong, which those
activities arose from the UFO Interactive Group.

The assessment of the recoverability of such goodwill is based
on the future business prospects and the forecast business
performance of the business.

R2023F6A300 - ESEREBENEAKREFED
20,655,000 T EEE — AR ELEM - IRFERE
VREHBBREREES  SRAKRBEFZREHRE X
% o

MERARE AT @ R S TR B E B AR R ES AT R K IE
AIRBRIHETT

HARELEER(E

1.

BB R E R (F

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERERPNFAEESEIR

Our audit procedures included:

AHEE
=ari

evaluating the independence, competence,
capabilities and objectivity of the external valuation
expert engaged by the management;

evaluating the valuation methodologies and
assumptions including comparing source and
market data used in the underlying assumptions
for the valuation of UFO Interactive Group and with
reference to comparable companies;

assessing the appropriateness of the key
assumptions, including operating margins, pre-
tax discount rate and terminal growth rate, used
for calculating the recoverable amount of this cash
generating unit as adopted by the management for
the goodwill impairment assessment;

MEZIEF B

HEEEEZRAIIBEEERNBE L - B
- BENREEIE

AEHETERBR  BREEZ2EFTNELRAR
BEEFREBEREETEHENRRBRRAAN
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B
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

1.

Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)

The key audit matter (Continued)
BREEREE(E)

There is inherent uncertainty involved in forecasting and
discounting future cash flows, which are the basis of the
assessment of recoverability of goodwill and, accordingly, this
is one of the key judgemental areas upon which our audit
focused on. There is a risk that the key assumptions, estimates
and judgements on which the calculations are based are
inappropriate and that goodwill is misstated as a consequence.

ARz REEFHE R RMBRERRR S REARDE
ESRTHABRRE Rt ARMABEE T2 HEd — (AR
HETS S - ABRAERNEMKE 2 ARER - Aet RABL

THEE  SIBEEBHER -

AERELRSHEE
1. BERENEGE

How the matter was addressed in our audit (Continued)

EERERPNFEREEER(E)

Our audit procedures included: (Continued)

e assessing the actual performance in the year
against the prior year budgets to evaluate historical
forecasting accuracy made by management;

e evaluating the appropriateness of the relevant
disclosures in respect of the impairment
assessment of goodwill in the consolidated
financial statements; and

e assessing the management’s sensitivity analyses
on the key assumptions, to ascertain the extent to
which adverse changes, would result in the assets
being impaired.

BEENBREFBEE (B

s REL-—FEREFRAFENERRERR - UF
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

2.

Valuation of financial instruments classified as
Level 3 under fair value hierarchy

Refer to Notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements
for the Group’s accounting policies and accounting estimates
and judgements and refer to Notes 21 and 27 to the
consolidated financial statements for detailed disclosures
of financial instruments recognised by the Group as at 30
June 2023. Further details of the valuation technique(s) and
unobservable input(s) of financial instruments classified as
Level 3 under fair value hierarchy are disclosed in Note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The key audit matter
BEREREE

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss amounting to approximately
HK$4,521,000 and HK$65,557,000 respectively, in aggregate
representing 62.45% of the net assets of the Group as at 30
June 2023. In which delisted equity securities and unlisted
convertible bonds of approximately HK$17,369,000 and
HK$1,544,000 respectively were included in financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, and in aggregate represented
16.85% of the net assets of the Group as at 30 June 2023.
The financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income of approximately HK$4,521,000 are unlisted
investments held by the Group as at 30 June 2023. These
financial instruments are valued with inputs that were not based
on available observable market data and were classified as Level
3 fair value financial instruments as at 30 June 2023.

R2023F6A308 © EBEBEEEAE S RIH4,521,000% T K&
65,557,000 THEAFEFAEMEEKRENSHEE
EEAFEFABENEMEE - 612G B5EEMN2023
F6H30R EEREMG2.45% « H - I AF(EE AEBE
MEMEEDRIEREBRAZSKIELTAIBRBKRES DL
17,369,000/ 7T & 1,544,000 7T © & 1t EEBEN20234F
6A30R B EFEM16.85% < RAFEF AR M E U
S REELAL,521,0008 Tk BEEEN2023F6A30BFAE
MIELEMRE - ZELMITANRYIFERIESHITEE
TS ENEABEETHE - BR2023F68300 &S
BRE=HRATFESRIA-

p
B MRS

HARELEER(E

2.

PEAPVERRZE=ZRZEMIAZ
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B BRENSFTBRNARGEHEE A -
F2HRAMBHROMEIRS - UREB &
EEMN2023F6 A30H B R B LA
BER  F2HEREMBERRNN 2127 - B
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EERTABRBABBNE - TFBERER
fRA B ImR A MRS ©

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEERBRTNTERESER

Our audit procedures included:

= aagaray
=]

evaluating the independence, competence,
capabilities and objectivity of the external valuation
experts engaged by the management;

assessing and evaluating the appropriateness of the
valuation methodologies used by the independent
external valuers in estimating the fair value and key
assumptions used by the management in different
valuation models by reviewing the contract terms
and the relevant market conditions and businesses
of each Level 3 financial instrument;

RBIZIZF B

AEEEEZRNIIBEEERNELIE - B
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

2.

Valuation of financial instruments classified as
Level 3 under fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The key audit matter (Continued)
BREREEE)

The Group considered the aggregate amount of Level 3 financial
instruments is material to the consolidated financial statements
of the Group as at 30 June 2023.

In light of the unquoted and illiquid nature of these Level 3
financial instruments, the assessment of fair value was highly
subjective and required a number of significant estimates
and critical judgements to be made by the management. The
fair value of each of these unlisted investments and those
suspended or delisted shares were based on the best available
information to the management and do not necessarily represent
amounts which might ultimately be realised. The fair value of
these Level 3 financial instruments were subject to change
depending on future circumstances and cannot be accurately
determined until each of them is disposed.

EEERA/F AR TANBEYE BREMN202356A7
AMGEAMBIHERMEBEAX -

ERNZEF MM TANERELERDUEE - 2FED
AEABREENIEE  YFBEREFLEZRER G R
BEE A - BIAZEIF L TIRE A NZF 2 SR #
ANPEDEREEERAUEASNEMET T T —ERE
ARERRERNSE - ZFF AR TANQAFEES
REARBAMEMES  MELETRSR TARELE
ERTEAYE-

RARELEER(E

2. PEARAPVEREZE=ZRZEMIAZ
HE(#E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit (Continued)

ELERERPUNMEEEIEE)
Our audit procedures included: (Continued)

° reviewing the contractual agreements, relevant
legal document, if applicable, and obtaining the
investment confirmation to verify the existence and
accuracy of the Group’s ownership and/or number
of shares held in each Level 3 financial instrument;

e  evaluating the appropriateness and adequacy
of the disclosures of the valuation of each of the
financial instruments in the consolidated financial
statements; and

e  assessing the management’s sensitivity analysis
on the key assumptions, to ascertain the extent
to which adverse changes, would result in the
valuation of the financial instruments.

EENEREFERE (B

o BRIANWHZE  MEEAEXHUNER) - WES
REBRE  UEE B£EESEEZE=-fsmT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

2.

Valuation of financial instruments classified as
Level 3 under fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The key audit matter (Continued)
BREZEE(E)

There is a risk that inaccurate judgements made in the
assumptions and the key inputs of the valuation models could
lead to an inaccurate valuation of the unlisted investments
and those suspended or delisted shares. In turn, the amounts
at which these financial instruments were carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position, the net changes in
fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income could be materially misstated.

FEBRRLEERANERE ABIBMEN TN ERABNRE
ERHF ETRERZFERIGE RO EEGEENR
B M B EEHREFERTAESSVBRRARD
SHEALEGAERREMEEAKRERNRAFETARR
MERBEERBRATFEFAEMEZERSNEREENAF

HARELEER(E

2. PEARAPVERRZE=ZRZEMIAZ
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ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ 99



S

Indep

Auditor’s Report

I

éndent

BYBRBAHRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

3.

100

Impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables and loan receivables

Refer to Notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements
for the Group’s accounting policies and accounting estimates
and judgements and refer to Notes 24 and 25 to the
consolidated financial statements for detailed disclosures of
trade and other receivables and loan receivables recognised by
the Group as at 30 June 2023. Further details on the Group’s
credit risk are disclosed in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The key audit matter
HERERER

As at 30 June 2023, the Group’s trade and other receivables and
loan receivables amounted to approximately HK$32,554,000
and HK$13,976,000 respectively.

In determining whether there is objective evidence of
impairment loss over these receivables and consider whether
the impairment provision for trade and other receivables and
loan receivables is adequate require management judgement.

In determining the impairment provision/expected credit
losses of trade and other receivables and loan receivables,
the recoverability of these receivables was assessed by the
management taking into account the credit quality, likelihood of
their collection, and forward-looking information that is available
to management without undue cost or effort.

R2023F6H30R - BEEDHI%EE 32,554,000 T &
13,976,000/ TT Y B 5 I HoAth [l W 08 B2 FE IS 3K

REETEOFEZSREFBAAREBRENEBERARE
BE S N E A EYGIAR BN E RO ER BT B
FEEEE LA -
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EFER  ERELEEEEERIREAAEMEIAKES
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3. EFREMEBERIRERERERRETE
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERERPNAEESEIR

Our audit procedures included:

e understanding, evaluating and validating the
key controls over impairment assessment of the
receivables, which relates to the management’s
identification of events that triggered the
receivables becoming credit-impaired or resulting
in a significant increase in their credit risk since
initial recognition, and estimation of the amount of
these provisions;

e carrying out procedures, on a sample basis, to test-

check the accuracy of the aging of the receivables
as at the end of the reporting period;

BEENEREFEA

TR - A R E R U R R E R & BB 5
IR - R FE R B E I AR R R R
FEEREHEHEFEERR B TG EREAIRE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

3t

Impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables and loan receivables (Continued)

HARELEER(E

3. EZREMEBRRERERERRETE
(%)

How the matter was addressed in our audit (Continued)

EERBERPUNMEESEE)

Our audit procedures included: (Continued)

e  evaluating the management’s process for reviewing
the recoverability of the receivables by reference
to the credit quality, likelihood of their collection,
forward-looking information and the past settlement

history and repayment records;

e tracing a sample of the actual cash settlements
during the year to bank receipts; and

e tracing a sample of the post year end subsequent
settlements to bank receipts.

EENEREFERE (B
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

— lIdentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

—  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

—  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

—  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

—  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken into eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Tong Wai Hang.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 22 September 2023

Tong Wai Hang
Practising Certificate Number PO6231

BB ELGEEMBHRRARBENER
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REERABBBNERT  BEECHAFERS
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B BEEERBERETRIMZETER  BRIDEAREX
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T HeERBERSTAEABRERERNBERKR
BHEAN ARG - MEEZRENEERETEE
BRAERE-
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

2023 2022
2023% 20224
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
M st FET FAET
Revenue WA
— Provision of private educational services — — IR FLA B IR 27,125 26,328
— Interest income from money lending - EEFBRA 1,674 3,245
- Trading and services income from VR - REVREEISIRENEZE 5 &
and digital entertainment ARG WA 88,813 60,475
7 117,612 90,048
Changes in inventories of finished goods B MFEEEH 10 (76,591) (54,273)
Other income, gains and losses, net EmUg A -~ Wik MEHE - FRE 8 1,063 4536
Staff costs BT 10 (27,058) (45,975)
Tutor contractor fee ERIABRE (2,483) (2,067)
Lease payments HERH (899) (582)
Marketing expenses IS ER (3,796) (787)
Printing costs ENfH & A (374) (552)
Depreciation and amortisation P& KoY (6,848) (6,863)
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair A FEFABHNEMEEY
value through profit or loss N EEE (13,983) (6,184)
Other operating expenses Hingg &M 10 (10,902) (7,904)
Finance costs 5 A 9 (2,103) (950)
Share of results of a joint venture BiE—REeER A EE (824) (1,094)
Share of results of associates il RN e (19)
Loss before tax BrEiRTE R 10 (27,205) (32,647)
Income tax expense 3R 12 (1,446) -
Loss for the year FEBR (28,651) (32,647)
Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT



‘Statement of Prof

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023F6 A30R It F[E

2023 2022
2023% 20224
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
HtaE FET FET
Other comprehensive (expense) income,  H 2 mE (BIx) Uk -
net of income tax HBRFTEH
Items that will not be reclassified to profit TEE#H 7 EEERHIEHR :
or loss:
Fair value changes on movements in BAFEFAEMEE
equity instruments at fair value through WA TESE) s
other comprehensive income NEEEH (5,761) (7,961)
Items that may be reclassified HEGREE B BEmH
subsequently to profit or loss: L=
Exchange differences arising on BREBIMCEEBREENE
translating foreign operations HERE (2) -
Cumulative exchange loss reclassified to FE—HENBARRENSE
profit or loss on deregistration of a ZiEm ) RETE L EE
subsidiary 111 -
Other comprehensive expense for the year, FEHEMEEMAY @ FRATEH
net of income tax (5,652) (7,961)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FE2EM XA (34,303) (40,608)
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to: ITATEIEFE SRR
Owners of the Company KRABHEE A (28,541) (32,892)
Non-controlling interests Bl (110) 245
(28,651) (32,647)
Total comprehensive (expense) income for LA T AT EEFEE2E (FX)
the year attributable to: sk 45 -
Owners of the Company RABEAR A (34,193) (40,853)
Non-controlling interests e IR = (110) 245
(34,303) (40,608)
Loss per share BREER 13
— Basic (HK$) -BEXRCGET) (0.05) (0.06)
— Diluted (HK$) -#80871T) (0.05) (0.06)

The notes on pages 115 to 251 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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At 30 June 2023 7202346 H30H

2023 2022
2023% 20224
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
M st FET FAET
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREE 15 3,692 1,486
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 8,170 5,918
Goodwill [EES 17 20,715 20,715
Other intangible assets HEmEpEE 18 1,340 1,340
Interests in associates NN £ 19 10 =
Interest in a joint venture R—FEEE QAR 20 121 945
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAEMERKE
other comprehensive income M REE 21 4,521 10,282
Non-current deposits JERNERIR & 20 1,744 826
40,313 41,512
Current assets REBEE
Inventories B 23 525 790
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E bl FIE 24 32,554 29,018
Loan receivables BUE K 25 13,976 19,379
Amounts due from related parties JE UG RE B 5 3 IE 26 2,690 793
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFTABERN
profit or loss SREE 27 65,557 59,271
Bank balances and cash RITERNIR S 28 13,862 14,512
129,164 123,763
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R HEA IR 29 21,844 9,605
Contract liabilities EHBaE 30 3,271 1,841
Lease liabilities HEaE 31 5,131 4,405
Current tax liabilities BVEAfRIE B & 1,615 81
Amounts due to related parties JE 1< B8 7 OB 32 430 300
Other borrowing H b g 33 21,063 =
53,354 16,232
Net current assets REBEEFE 75,810 107,531
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAMS 116,123 149,043

108  Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JES i%i A (Bl 128 £ E AR A 7



At 30 June 2023 7202346 5 30H

2023 2022
20234 20224
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
Htat FHET FET
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEIBEE 34 = 88
Lease liabilities HEBE 31 3,541 2,093
Provision for long service payments REBRS B 35 359 432
3,900 2,613
Net assets BEEFE 112,223 146,430
Capital and reserves EAREHE
Share capital N 36 29,822 29,822
Reserves i 81,786 115,979
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 42 B A A FE{GHEZS 111,608 145,801
Non-controlling interests PR = 615 629
Total equity A 112,223 146,430

The consolidated financial statements on pages 106 to 251 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of Directors on 22
September 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Yip Kai Pong
R
Director

EFE

The notes on pages 115 to 251 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.

N E106E251 B iR A MR B2 MN202356F9H22
HEESESHERKETE  THTIALTRESE
E=3H

Li Ming Him
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For the year ended 30 June 202

3 B E20235F6 308 [LFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LN PN
Fair value Share Attributable to
Share Share  Contributed Merger Capital ~ resenve (non- Translation options  Accumulated non-contralling
capital premium surplus reserve reserve recycling) feserve esenve osses Subtotal interests Total
ATESE FER
BE RHEE ERE  AGER  BABR  (FAER) EXRE  BREER 23R Nt BREE &3t
HKS000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS000 HKS000 HK$000 HK$000
T FEL FEL FET T TEL TEL TEL TET T FEL L
(Note ) (Note i) (Note fi)
(W) (i) (W)
At1Juy 2021 RA1E7R1R 282 451,044 386,954 (28321) 45 (12588) (109) - (659,652) 16755% 384 167980
(Loss) profitfor the year FR(ER)ER - - - - - - - - (328%) (3289 x4 (32647)
Fair value changes on movements RATEFALMRERZHRE
in equity instruments at fair value through IAEHDTEEY
other comprehensive expense - - - - - (7,961) - - - (7.961) - (7.961)
Totel comprehensive (expense) incorne for the year FRRARRNELE - - - - - (7.91) - - (328%) (40,853) x5 (40,608)
Fouity setfled share-based transactions (Note 37) NEREEHRAAERNR S
(W#37) - - - - - - - 19,058 - 19058 - 19,058
At30 June 2022 H202266A308 282 451,044 386,954 (28321) 46 (20,549) (109) 19,058 (692,544) 145801 629 146430

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023F6 A30R It F[E

Attributable to owners of the Company

AAAREARE
Fair value Share Attributable to
Share Share  Contributed Merger Capital ~reserve (non- ~ Translation options  Accumulated non-controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserve recycling) reserve reserve losses Subtotal interests Total
AVEER FER
B& ROEE  RMEBR KB BARE  (FUER) EXfE BRERE  RHES Nt EREE it
HKS$1000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F&n f#n f#n k74 f#r fi#n fin Fi&7 F&n k74 Fi&7 F&n
(Note i) (Note ii) (Note i)
(&) (Kt (Rt}
At1July 2022 HNRETAIR 29822 451,044 386,954 (28,321) 446 (20,549) (109) 19,058 (692,544) 145,801 629 146,430
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - - - (28,541) (28,541) (110) (28,651)
Exchange differences arising on translating foreign BERMIERBRELNEL 28
operation 0 o o 0 0 = 2 0 0 V)] - (2)
Fair value changes on movements in equity instumentsat — RATE AR B2 EEZARA
fair value through other comprehensive expense IAEHDTEEY = = = = = (5,761) = = o (5,761) = (5,761)
Reserve released upon deregistation of a subsidiary HE-EHEATRERER - - - - - - 111 - - 111 - 111
Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year FE2AFR)NSLE = = = = = (5,761) 109 = (28,541) (34,193) (110) (34,303)
Capitalinjection from non-conroller shareholder FERRRELE - - - - - o o o o o 200 200
Deregistrafion of a subsidiary HE-HHBAR - - - - - - - - - - (104) (104)
At30June 2023 RA23F6A308 29822 451,044 386,954 (28,321) 446 (26,310) - 19,058 (721,085) 111,608 615 112,223
Notes: Hist -
(i)  The contributed surplus of the Group represented the credit arising (i) AREBZEHBLIERATN2015E5 8 H iR m %

(ii)

(iii)

The

from the cancellation of share premium account and the reduction
of share capital of the Company in May 2015. The balance may be
utilised by the directors of the Company (“Directors”) in accordance
with the Company’s bye-laws and all applicable laws, including to
eliminate the accumulated losses of the Company.

The merger reserve represented the difference between the nominal
value of the shares of Sino Network Group Limited (“Sino Network”)
and the Company issued in exchange for the entire issued share
capital of Express Education Limited in 2010 and Sino Network in 2011
pursuant to group reorganisation.

The capital reserve represented capital contribution arising from

transfers of interest in subsidiaries to shareholders and waiver of
amount due to a shareholder in prior periods.

notes on pages 115 to 251 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

(ii)

(iii)

E116ZF251 HFH M Rt

N

)

o

EBRMHIBRAMEL ZER - ARREE(ESEDA
RBARRZARAEER O ERERZER S
R AR R Z 2FTEE

A B ESino Network Group Limited (['Sino Network )
MARNBBBEEEEAR2010F B Express
Education Limited & 720114 B EXSino Network#) 2
HEBETRAMBEITARGEE 2EHEE -

BAFEFERENBEREARRERERE AR #En
MR EN —BRRORBMELNEE -
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT

2023 2022
2023% 20224
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
M st FET FAET
Cash flows from operating activities BETEAEBNRERE
Loss before tax BRI AIES R (27,205) (32,647)
Adjustments for: A TIEEEH AR
Share of results of a joint venture i e i X /NI 824 1,094
Share of results of associates JT%{EH?%%’D\ HES 19 =
Bank and other interest income 1T R EH AT A 8 4) (515)
Dividends income from listed equity J: A% 7N 75 25 B R B
securities 8 (61) -
Finance costs B 75 & A 9 2,103 950
Changes in fair value of financial assets at ~ BHAFEFABZHEREE
fair value through profit or loss 2N FEEE 13,983 6,184
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—MEHB AR 39 = (670)
Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary BRIERE —FEWEB AR RS 8 (6) -
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries LT A R ESIE 8 7 =
Loss on write off/disposal of property, W HEWE  WE KK
plant and equipment K& 18 8 434 312
Loss on disposal of a loan receivable HERIKE R EER 8 = 444
Gain on lease modification HEEFT W= 8 (124) (37)
Depreciation of property, plant and ¥ - BERREITE
equipment 15 899 1,399
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 16 5,949 5,463
Impairment loss on trade receivables, net & S EWFIERFEEIE
FER 8 3,925 1,737
Impairment loss on other receivables EH i E R IE Y R (B B 18 8 4,000 -
(Reversal of impairment loss) impairment  FEURE &) Opi{E B 1B % @)
loss on loan receivables, net REBE - 58 8 (7,048) 4,461
Write off of loan interest receivables il S P W B R B 8 79 =
Write off of amount due from an associate {554 FE Uk — RE Bt 2 A R Z0E 8 746 =
Reversal of provision for long service REIRS ¢ B ERE
payments 35 (64) (71)
Equity settled share-based payment AR S E AR (D BERR
expenses TNEAR 37 = 19,058
Rent concessions received BWERESER 38 = (150)




-
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £ 20236 A30H [t F &

2023 2022
2023% 20224
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
Hat FET FAT
Operating cash flows before movements in & &4 RTH)
working capital (1,544) 7,012
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERA g 265 (552)
(Increase) decrease in deposits, trade and &% - B 5 R E M EWFIAE
other receivables (12,410) 20,023
Decrease (increase) in loan receivables FE W E FORL A (35 0) 12,372 (7,868)
Increase in financial assets at fair value BATER ABEASR
through profit or loss (20,269) (30,997)
Increase in amounts due from related FE UL BB 5 SRR A AN
parties (2,437) -
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities EHAaEEMORLD) 1,430 (1,961)
Increase (decrease) in trade and other B 5 RE M FERRIE
payables 12,066 (902)
Decrease in provision for long service RRBBEERLD
payments 9) (30)
Cash used in operations EEMAE G (10,536) (15,275)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid, net EREBFER - FE - -
Net cash used in operating activities BEEEFTARR SR (10,536) (15,275)
Cash flows from investing activities REZBEBNESRE
Interest received 4 Bl
Dividend received 61 -
Investments in associates REEE R RIRIRE (29) -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEE¥Z - HE K& (3,336) (1,059)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant ~ HEWE - BE RREFS
and equipment 1 -
Purchase of other intangible assets BEHMEREE = (1,340)
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiary HEWBARRER 39 = 21
Net cash used in investing activities KEEEFARRE TR (3,299) (1,863)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 %k
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

2023 2022
2023% 20224
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
Wit FET FAET
Cash flows from financing activities RMEEFBAENESRE
Other borrowing raised g H A& R 38 31,000 =
Repayment of other borrowing EEEMER 38 (10,000) =
Advance from (repayment to) related parties 5 BB 75 228 (6] BB 5 18 20 38 130 (104)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEERE 2 EARH D 38 (5,903) (5,396)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENHEERE 2T EHD 38 (1,039) (950)
Interest paid on other borrowing B4 E A & 5K A B 38 (1,001) -
Net cash generated from (used in) financing B2 & EEFTS(FTR) 2
activities RE TR 13,187 (6,450)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents R4 RIB & HEWR A F5E (648) (23,588)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of F#IHIRE RIS EHEY
the year 14,512 38,100
Effects of exchange rate changes ERSFHHTE (2) -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the FNBEERIASEED
year 13,862 14,512

The notes on pages 115 to 251 form part of these consolidated £ 1156F251 B A& W iT AL S 454 B EHERH — 30
financial statements. e
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GENERAL

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 26 January 2011
and continued in Bermuda on 7 May 2015 (Bermuda time).
The registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. With
effect from 31 October 2022, the principal place of business of
the Company in Hong Kong has been changed to Unit 1708,
17/F., Tower II, Admiralty Centre, No. 18 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong. Its shares have been listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
since 4 July 2011.

Pursuant to the approval by the shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 30 December 2022,
the name of the Company in English was changed from “Hong
Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited” to “Bradaverse
Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited” and the dual
foreign name of the Company in Chinese from “& &2 & (&
BIORESEEERLF" to “RFEEHE(HAK)REEES
R A R])". The certificate of registration of alteration of name
of registered non-Hong Kong company was issued by the
Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong on 14 February 2023
certifying that the new English and Chinese names of the
Company have been registered in Hong Kong under Part 16 of
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

The Company acts as an investment holding company while its
principal subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision
of private educational services, investment in securities, money
lending business and trading of virtual reality (“VR") and
gaming products and provision of related services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

‘inal .'.;‘;.'”,f!fjffl‘,,
EABMBHREND

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023F6 A30R It F[E

—REHR
RATRR2011F1 A26 ARNHAEHS T MK &
R2015F5 7R (B RERB RN AREFER—
REHREZBRATF - KRBT MPFEELR
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM
11, Bermuda © B20225F10A31H#E © AR A
ERTECEMB O T RBEAERBISH G
BHRO2E17E1708E - AR{HB201147H4H
EREBBERSAARAR (B ER L
o

RIERERRART2022F 12 A308 #1179 E
RBERE EMILE - RABIMEXEEAIHong
Kong Education (Int’l) Investments Limited] % 244
[Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group
Limited] » WA AR N EHBHIBEEHE
(B IREEEBRARIERAIEFHAE (H
BIREEBERRLF] - EERFREMERKD
MR2023F2 R 14BEH L AMIETAAREE LR
EfiEEE - FRARRNFTREXEPEEE
RIEE A LG E6228 2 A& 163051 -

ARBR—HREZERAR METEMBRF
TERERELAHERYE REES BEX
BAREREE (VR])) BEREmE 5 & IEHAE
AR5

BHMBHRRARRRNINEEEET(ET])
!

Ho 3§
]

o
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs™)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 July 2022 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous contracts — Cost of
fulfilling a Contract

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT

FERAHTREETERBMBREER
(TEBFIHREZEA )

RAFERHERNSETERBUB RS
28

RAFE  AEECERERA T BEL G
RE(FEEGMAEDRAENKETE BTG
WELER - ZFERIN20229F7 A 1H R K
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EEMBIMEER  2018F E20205F HH U1

BEET HELE R FE
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BEGEAFELIE WE BELRE  BE
SREVERT R AT H P S RIR
BFEGEAFEI7 BRAN -BEITEHON
SREVER] DN
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KLFEAVBRRABNBEBELEEATE



APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Definition of Accounting Estimates !
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction!

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform = Pillar Two
Model Rules !

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contract and related
amendments !

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current 2
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 2

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKFRS 16

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —

(2020) Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause?
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements?
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture 3

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these new standards, interpretations
and amendments is expected to be in the period of initial
applications. So far, it has concluded that the adoption of them
will not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

Notes to the Consolic

FREVKBERMTE
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023F6 A30R It F[E

2. ERFITREEIEREMBREER
(TEBMBHREER ] HE)

E BB s RAE KBV ET RSB B R
s AR

IR B W REE TR T 5 2 B AR E 15 R A R #h
R RRERT B AN ERE LR

BREHRANRIRLR SHBREE!
BRBBREEREY
REF2RAERT

BRGEAFSRMER] GrHEMTER!

BRGHEARI2RN HRE-QXFELNEER
fE&] B EMBNETHE

ERGMEARIRN  EERERBRE-F-X
EH) EHAHAN
BREMBREEMELR RRaORARET

BRGENRIRMER] ABRDERRDRIFRE?

EREIENEING  HELEOEABAE
47

EANBBEENZICE SHEOHEEEE
tiEa]

BRREELMR(020F) HMBHHRMZT] - ERA
fER3%

HAGREREEGRN
HIE B 0 1R
BRGHEANETRE MR E THk
BRMBEREER
FTRNEET
ERMBREENEI0N REZLEBENAL
REBG A RERFZANEE
F2BHEMERT HEHTE

U R2023F 1A 1H SR 2 BRI FERAR -
2 R2024F1A1ARZRFRBNFREIMEAERY -

d REFHEE RS2 KRS FE IR AR -

AEBEFGHENER  RERETNEXE
RUEEASELZCTE - E5BEmR - &
AL SEHER - RERMEFTHIEHAKE &
EBYBBRRELEATE -
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Notes to the Consolidate

REMBHRERNE
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

Financial Statements

118

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the
disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
“Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of
Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participants ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results
of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e |level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES BERETTHERE
(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued) RERBEEE

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

e potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

e rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components of
equity including reserves and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted after re-attribution
of the relevant equity component, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

Notes to the Consolidated Fir
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9, or
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment
in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
acquired processes are considered substantive if they are
critical to the ability to continue producing outputs, including
an organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge,
or experience to perform the related processes or they
significantly contribute to the ability to continue producing
outputs and are considered unigue or scarce or cannot be
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to
continue producing outputs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated
as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at
the acquisition date (see the accounting policy for share-
based payments arrangements below);

e  assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured
in accordance with that standard; and
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXBHBEE

(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued) XBE6t(HE)

e lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the s HEAERFHBHEENFNBEBE(ERRSE
present value of the remaining lease payments (as defined B EHREERFE IR R LETE - B0
in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases WEAENKEERANEE  HUTHE
at the acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) FRON () HEHAR A YEE B BIeET 121 A
the lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition WL LE (BB EEEBEAK - FRHE
date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low value. Right- BEERERABHAEAERRNSBRER KL
of-use assets are recognised and measured at the same 2 WIFLFAEURBRETSERE F =T
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect R E R -

favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when
compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the B ZFERMBERE - REWEFOEMIE
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling e i s RE R 77 o BT i A UK 7 A A
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s (A A EREFEE R URRE B B ATURE A
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the ABNEERAENEENFENIES - [ME
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities et ) MBI BRI EE RTAEN AR
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the RS REER B AT RRE - R 5 (T FEIE
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities fEiE s &R R IIE AR B B 5 & (1
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, BINAFENER - BEI DR RI8S PR
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and REZBEERE -

the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit
or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be
initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other
types of non-controlling interests are measured at their fair
value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding
adjustments made against goodwill. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with
the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

Notes to the Consolidated Fir
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES BERETTHERE
(Continued)
Business combinations (Continued) e SRt 1€ =))

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date
when the Group obtains control) and the resulting gain or loss,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be
appropriate as if that interests were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement
period (see above), and additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed as at the acquisition date that,
if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that
date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy for business combination above)
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) (or groups
of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and
not larger than an operating segment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of profit
or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in associates and a joint venture

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and a joint venture
(Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate and a
joint venture are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting, except when
the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held for
sale, in which case it is or the portion so classified is accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 5. Any retained portion of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture that has not been
classified as held for sale shall be accounted for using the
equity method. The financial statements of the associate and
joint venture used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s
share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds
the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint venture),
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and a joint venture
(Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 36 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint
venture (see the accounting policy for impairment of other non-
current assets below).

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest
at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair
value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture is included
in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for
all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same
basis as would be required if that associate or joint venture had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore,
if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities,
the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or
loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method
is discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and a joint venture
(Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion
of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not
related to the Group.

Investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, an associate
and a joint venture, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date of the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investment. The investments are initially stated at fair
value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for
those investments measured at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL") for which transaction costs are recognised directly in
profit or loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines
fair value of financial instruments, please see Note 6. These
investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into
one of the following measurement categories:

e amortised cost: if the investment is held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely payments
of principal and interest. Interest income from the
investment is calculated using the effective interest
method (see the accounting policy for revenue and other
income recognition below).

e Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)
— recycling: if the contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and interest and
the investment is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income, except for the recognition
in profit or loss of expected credit losses (“ECLs"),
interest income (calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

e  FVPL: if the investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the investment (including
interest) are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES BEREFTBEKGE
(Continued)

Investments in debt and equity securities BERRABHFREGE)
(Continued)

Equity investments RERE

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL unless
the equity investment is not held for trading purpose and
on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
election to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on
an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is
disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained profits/accumulated losses. It is not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are
recognised in profit or loss as other income in accordance with
the accounting policy for revenue and other income recognition
set out below.
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Revenue and other income recognition WA R At U 25 FE 52
Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises AEEBERREBBETRHRBERHEEE R
from the provision of services and sale of goods in the ordinary FEEZWEZDBAWA -

course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue and other income recognition (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Franchising income includes initial fees and continuing
franchise fees. Initial fees are recognised when the Group
has performed substantially all initial services and other
obligations required of the franchisor (the Group) under the
franchise agreements. Continuing franchise fees represent fees
charged for the use of continuing rights granted by a franchise
agreement, or for other services provided during the period of a
franchise agreement, are recognised as revenue as the services
are provided or the rights are used.

Income from provision of tutoring and education services is
recognised when the tutorial and educational services are
rendered.

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the customer
takes possession of and accepts the products.

Supporting services income is recognised when the services
are rendered.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholder’s right to receive payment have been established.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES BEREFTBEKGE
(Continued)
Revenue and other income recognition (Continued) WAREMKRERE)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows: (Continued)

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the
effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount
of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see the accounting
policy for credit losses from financial instruments below).

Government grants are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised
as income in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same
periods in which the expenses are incurred.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of
low-value assets. When the Group enters into a lease in respect
of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic basis over the lease
term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leased assets (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate
are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and
hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see the accounting policy for impairment
of other non-current assets below). Depreciation is calculated
to write off the cost of right-of-use assets using the straight-line
method over the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Notes to the

BATBEENS

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023F6 A30R It F[E

BEAREFHEEGE)

HEEEE)

ERAMA ()

EREEEAMLE - HERBVIRZHEEHNAE
NEEMKNRERR  WERAEETRSHOF
Ky (M METAEZEE) EAREEERRK
FMERER - RUAHERR - HEREREHEKA
A8 MASFAXARABERMEAFTHE - T
RRE BB NI EREN R T EREN
ERENFER  AEREELENSHRNE
P FNER ©

REEE MR EREEETRRRANG
B HERHEREMNVHSEN EERG A M
K B EHHEMBEEN R - URELEWEAH
MEERKA - RERBRT - EREEEMNKA
MEREFEEBRAREERERBEBEENZ
BEMEMMELNETRA  ZRAERRE
HBPETMREMNERNNEEERE - EREE
ERERERABRAITE LR EBRIIKET
XEREMIRBDEEREZGHBER) - E
THIZE ORI E B 8 2 A B B RO AR AT

st
= o
Eas

ENTEREEEREIREFEVHREELSE
IRAR - RIRAFENETE - RIAHERE
HAFEEDOREDRRBEIMEN KL A
EREEEMRAN -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 %k

135



. thes to thééonso idated méhai Statements
HEMBHRERME
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

136

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leased assets (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or
rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment of whether
the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made
to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded
in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset
has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease. In
this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification. The only exceptions
are any rent concessions which arose as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the conditions
set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases,
the Group took advantage of the practical expedient set out in
paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and recognised the change in
consideration as negative variable lease payments in profit or
loss in the period in which the event or condition that triggers
the rent concessions occurred.

The Group presents right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as
separate line items in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out cost formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period
in which the reversal occurs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES BEAGHBEE
(Continued)
Foreign currencies hiE

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary
item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is also recognised in profit or loss. When a
fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
other comprehensive income, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the
net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the
Group’s interests.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.
partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint
control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those asset until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Short-term employee benefits and retirement
benefit costs

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are carried at their present values.

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and state-
managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss as and when employees have rendered
services that entitling them to the contributions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is
material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.

Provision for long service payments

Provision for long service payments under the requirements
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is recognised when
the employees have rendered services entitling them to the
benefits. The amounts recognised are determined at the
management’s best estimate of the future cash outflow for
settlement of the obligations and measured on a discounted
basis, if the effect is material.

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023F6 A30R It F[E
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payments arrangements

For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying
specified vesting conditions, the fair value of services received
is determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share options reserve).

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the
fair value of the share options granted is expensed immediately
to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share capital and share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Taxation

Income tax expense for the year represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from (loss before tax) as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates and interests in joint ventures, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the assets to be recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-
use assets over the lease payments for the principal portion of
lease liabilities results in net deductible temporary differences.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally unforeseeable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses (see accounting policy for
impairment on other non-current assets below), if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES BEAREFTBER(E
(Continued)

Intangible assets BEEE
Intangible assets acquired separately BUKBHEFEEE

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses (see the accounting policy for impairment
on other non-current assets below).

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair values at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
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that are acquired separately. Alternatively, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses (see the accounting policy for impairment
on other non-current assets below).

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to receive
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due. If revenue
has been recognised before the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration, the amount is presented as
contract asset (see the accounting policy for contract assets
and contract liabilities below).

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less allowance for credit losses
(see the accounting policy for credit losses from financial
instruments below).

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs in
accordance with the accounting policy for credit losses from
financial instruments below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES BEAREFTBER(E
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets FEFEREERE

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets EHMITARGHEEZIEEEE

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECLs on financial
assets measured at amortised cost (including bank balances
and cash, non-current deposits, trade and other receivables,
loan receivables and amounts due from related parties) and
contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15.

Financial assets measured at fair value, including equity
and debt securities measured at FVPL and equity securities
designated at FVOCI (non-recycling), are not subject to ECL
assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit
losses are measured as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive if the debt is drawn down),
discounted when the effect of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable
and supportable information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are
always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs which
result from possible default events over the expected lives
of these items. ECLs on these items are estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors
and an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the end of the reporting period.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of the financial instrument
since initial recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The 12-month
ECLs are losses that are expected to result from possible
default events within 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the end of the reporting period with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making this
reassessment, the Group considers that a default event occurs
when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to
the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such
as realising security (if any is held); or (ii) the financial asset
is 90 days past due. The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES BEREFTBEKGE
(Continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued) FEBEREEREGE)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal and interest on their
contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if
available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

—  existing or forecast changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation
to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at the end of each reporting period
to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk
since initial recognition. Any change in the ECLs amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets
(Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised (see the accounting policy for
revenue and other income recognition above) is calculated
based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e.
the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset
is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable events:

—  significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; or

= significant changes in the technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have an adverse effect on the
debtor.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets
(Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or contract asset
is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written
off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss
in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

= property, plant and equipment;

= right-of-use assets;

-  goodwill;

—  other intangible assets;

— interests in associates and a joint venture; and

— investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of
financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, for goodwill and intangible assets
that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is
estimated annually whether or not there is any indication of
impairment.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a CGU).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the CGU to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
CGU (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of units)
on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an
asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES BERETTHERE
(Continued)
Contract assets and contract liabilities BHNEEREGHNERE

A contract asset included in trade and other receivables is
recognised when the Group recognises revenue (see the
accounting policy for revenue and other income recognition
above) before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the payment terms set out in the contract.
Contract assets are assessed for expected credit losses (see the
accounting policy for credit losses from financial instruments
above) and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional (see the accounting
policy for trade and other receivables above).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see the accounting policy for revenue and
other income recognition above). A contract liability would
also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable would also
be recognised (see the accounting policy for trade and other
receivables above).

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the
effective interest method.

Payables

Payables are initially recognised at fair value and are
subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair
value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy for borrowing costs
above.

Asset acquisition

Group of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are assessed
to determine if they are business or asset acquisitions. On an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group chooses to apply a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is an asset rather than business, when substantially
all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated
in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable
assets.

Where a group of assets acquired and liabilities assumed do not
constitute a business, the overall acquisition cost is allocated
to the individual identifiable assets and liabilities based on their
relative fair values at the date of acquisition. An exception is
when the sum of the individual fair values of the identifiable
assets and liabilities differs from the overall acquisition cost. In
such case, any identifiable assets and liabilities that are initially
measured at an amount other than cost in accordance with the
Group’s policies are measured accordingly, and the residual
acquisition cost is allocated to the remaining identifiable assets
and liabilities based on their relative fair values at the date of
acquisition.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXBHBEE
(Continued)
Related parties 2l
(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is (@) MBUATAL BIZATHZALZAFE
related to the Group if that person: REEERAR

(i) has control or joint control of the Group; () EHISHEBESARER

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (il HEAEEEEATE : X

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of (i) RAEEIAEERS AR CEEEE
the Group or of a parent of the Group. [ERE o

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b) WRFE TOIEMGRG - AIZERBEASEE
conditions applies: A -

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same () ZEREASEHBR -—SEHIKEAR
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary AIANERAE - MBRRRERNEB
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others). NEE It E B EE) -

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other (i —HEBAEE—EBZBELAXE
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member BN E—EBRAEKBRATINE
of a group of which the other entity is a member). SEETKEARIZBEARNEGE

NG

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third (i) MEEBHARR—F=A26%2
party. Al e

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the (ivy —HERBAFE=ZFEBZEEAA
other entity is an associate of the third entity. MA—BRAZF-ZFERBZHBER

E o

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the ) BRAASESEAEEEFEBE2E
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity BEThiE B FIz5aR 3 v BEEBRE AT & o
related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a (vi) EEEX(a)NFTHAIM A T2 6k
person identified in (a). P o
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
chief operating decision makers for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES BEREFTBEKGE
(Continued)
Events after the reporting period wREHZEE

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after
the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT

SRR B RS R RO B E R
BRAEEABRYTEE Y BE N AAR
BEE  RRAGANBRE - WHAREAZ
BEHEEE - WBEABDREGA M ERM
HRE -

EREHABRMGETSRIABELNE
ERIR

RERMEIMAM RSB G REKR - EFA
HAREEZAEMEERENEENRBENERR
EEHHIE - AT RRER - fAat RABRERERIIA
BELRLREMKRSEENERS/EE - BR
RERAREEZFAET TR -

AEr RARERREFEETRE - WESFHEF
MERTEF EETERTHIRE - RAMERT IR &
R - RHEFT R E B AR ARRERE - AIRE
AT AR BOR R HA R HERR



CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment assessment for goodwill and other intangible
assets

The Group tests annually whether goodwill and other intangible
assets have suffered any impairment in accordance with
accounting policies stated in Note 3. The recoverable amounts
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations
or fair value less costs to sell, whichever are higher. These
calculations require the use of judgments and estimates.

Judgement is required to determine key assumptions adopted
in the valuation models for impairment review purpose.
Changing the assumptions selected by the management
in assessing impairment could materially affect the result
of the impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s
financial condition and results of operations. If there is a
significant adverse change in the key assumptions applied,
it may be necessary to take additional impairment charge
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Please refer to Note 17 for details.
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nsolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment allowances on trade and other receivables and
loan receivables

The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade and other
receivables and loan receivables by assessing the ECLs. This
requires the use of estimates and judgements. ECLs are based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general economic conditions
at the end of the reporting period. Where the estimation is
different from the previous estimate, such difference will affect
the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and loan
receivables and thus the impairment loss in the period in which
such estimate is changed. Details refer to Note 6.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes. The Directors determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
observable market data are not available, the Group engages
independent qualified professional valuers to perform the
valuation and works closely with the independent qualified
professional valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that
are not based on observable market data to estimate the fair
value of certain types of financial instruments. The use of
valuation models and assumptions in valuing these financial
instruments is subjective and requires varying degrees of
judgement. Note 6 provides detailed information about the
valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the
determination of the fair value of various assets and liabilities.

4.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The management reviews the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital, and
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new shares issues and debt financing.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank balances
and cash, lease liabilities, amounts due to related parties, other
borrowing and total equity (comprising issued share capital,
reserves and accumulated losses).

The gearing ratios as at 30 June 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

5. EXERER
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2023 2022

202345 20224

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Total debts (Note) B ES (T at) 30,165 6,798

Less: Bank balances and cash B IRITEREIRS (13,862) (14,512)

Net debt FHETS 16,303 N/AA~ 3 F

Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ ANA &% A A JEILHERS 111,608 145,801

Gearing ratio BEBBHE 15% N/AZ 3 FB
Note: Hiat -

Total debts included lease liabilities, amounts due to related parties BEBERASBENHEESR  BHBEB I RERE

and other borrowings of the Group as detailed in Notes 31 to 33.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

R - FERME31E33 -

AR R EAEFINE A RBESRNINEDHE Y
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The Group’s major financial instruments include financial
assets at FVOCI, trade and other receivables, loan receivables,
amounts due from related parties, financial assets at FVPL,
bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, amounts
due to related parties, other borrowing and lease liabilities.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate the effects of
these risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s exposure
in respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risks.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. €I H
Categories of financial instruments SWMIAEER
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHAETT FET
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at FVPL BAVEGFABENEREE 65,557 59,271
Financial assets at amortised cost HBENATTENERERE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BHEREMIREEEY) 62,211 63,951
Financial assets at FVOCI BAVEG AEMEARES
EREE 4,521 10,282
Financial liabilities o h=L
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEEKAGTTENSRAE 49,582 13,525
Financial risk management objectives and policies R EE B ZERBUR
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group is not exposed to significant currency risk as most
of sales, income, purchases and expenses are denominated in
the functional currency of the operations to which they relate.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s bank balances have exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest
rate on bank balances. The Group is also exposed to fair
value interest rate risk related primarily to its fixed-rate loan
receivables, other borrowing and lease liabilities. The Directors
consider the Group’s exposure of the fair value interest rate
risk on fixed-rate loan receivables, other borrowing and lease
liabilities and the cash flow interest rate risk on its bank
balances are insignificant. Therefore, no sensitivity analysis is
presented.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in unlisted and listed equity securities as included
in financial assets at FVOCI (see Note 21) and financial assets
at FVPL (see Note 27) respectively. The management manages
this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risks.

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023F6 A30R It F[E
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

SRITAGE
BREREEEERBEE

Equity price risk (Continued) FHFEEEREE)
Sensitivity analysis BRZE T

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risk at the end of the reporting
period.

If the prices of the respective listed equity securities had been
10% (2022: 10%) higher/lower, the post-tax loss for the year
would decrease/increase by approximately HK$2,897,000
(2022: approximately HK$3,112,000) as a result of the change
in fair value of listed security investments. Sensitivity analysis
for unlisted and suspended equity investments with fair value
measurement categorised within Level 3 were disclosed in the
fair value measurement of financial instrument.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on
its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank
balances, trade and other receivables, loan receivables and
amounts due from related parties. The Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are banks for which the Group considers to have
low credit risk.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

(i) Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which customers operate
and therefore significant concentrations of credit risk
primarily arise when there are significant exposure to
individual customers. At the end of the reporting period,
the Group has a certain concentration of credit risk as
66% (2022: 67%) and 96% (2022: 94%) of the trade
receivables and contract assets was due from the largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively.

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

(1)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

In respect of trade receivables and contract assets,
management has a credit policy in place and the
exposure to the credit risk is monitored on an ongoing
basis. Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. The Group allows an average credit
period within 30 days (2022: within 30 days) to its trade
customers. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers. Management considers the aggregate
risks arising from the possibility of credit losses are limited
and to be acceptable.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. The Group
segments its trade receivables and contract assets based
on the customer bases due to different loss patterns
experienced in the different industries.

\nlﬂj ¥

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £ 20236 A30H [t F &
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. EMIAE
Financial risk management objectives and policies HERBEERERBEK(E
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) =EmE (&)
(i) Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) (i) BZENRKBREWEE &)
The following table provides information about the Group’s THRIBHREHEAEEEZEWKRBERENE
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables and ENEERRAERBEHEESENER

contract assets:

2023
20234
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance

RYERE ARE A E BiERE
% HK$'000 HK$’000

FET FET
Provisional of private educational REMABERE
services
Current mEp 0.01 255 =
Past due B HA 0.46 178 (1)
433 (1)
Trading of VR products and provision of VRZERE 5 Ri2#t4E
related services B RS
Current ED 0.01 729 -
Past due 2 8 8 10.87 460 (50)
1,189 (50)
Trading of gaming products EHERES
Current mE 13.59 1,074 (146)
Past due S p:t 17.74 30,798 (5,465)
31,872 (5,611)
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £ 20236 A30H [t F &

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
(i)  Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables and
contract assets: (Continued)

SRITAGE
BRREREEEEREEE)

=EmE(E)

(1)

ESBWHAREKEE (&)
TREHEBAKEEZREFARENE
ENEERBAEREREEBENESR
(%)

2022
20224F
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHAE I = BRE4E Eria e
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Provisional of private educational RHEFAHE R
services
Current D 2.90 460 (13)
Past due B HA 19.87 151 (30)
611 (43)
Trading of VR products and provision of VRERE 5 & iZ410ES
related services R

Current mE 16.70 1,373 (229)
Past due B 38 5 50.39 1,542 (777)

2,915 (1,006)
Trading of gaming products BERERES
Current ViE) 9.60 7,166 (638)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 12 months. These rates are adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions during
the period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

BEHEEXDENEET —EANERER
RS ZRELRCIFERE - URBEE
BERBREALERRNER « BERR
DA B2 78 5% (8 1 e W R IR FE R T AR A AR B AR
MER -
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
(i)  Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of

SRMITAEZE)

MBEBEEERREEKGE

=EmE(E)
() EBEZERHBAREKEEE)
FRESHREFALENEENBRRER

trade receivables and contract assets during the year is as VEENINR ¢
follows:
Provision Trading of
of private VR products
educational  and provision of Trading of
services  related services  gaming products Total
Bt VRERESZR
AAHBRHE RALABRE BHERES Eh
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
T FiEr FET FET
Balance at 1 July 2021 R202157R 1R 2 &8k - - - -
Impairment losses recognised BRIHESE 43 1,006 683 1,737
Balance at 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 #2022F6 8308 ;202257 A1H
=3 43 1,006 688 1,737
(Reversal of impairment losses) impairment 2 B (R ERFEER)RESE
losses recognised (42) (956) 4,923 3,925
Balance at 30 June 2023 R2023F6 4308 2 &8k 1 50 5611 5,662
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
(i)~ Other financial assets

The Group considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as
at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

= internal credit rating

—  external credit rating (as far as available); and

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that

are expected to cause a significant change to the
counterparties’ ability to meet its obligations

wIFeMEE 890000900

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023%6 4308 [t F €
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Other financial assets (Continued)

A summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group’s
ECL model is as follows:

SRITAGE
BREREEEERBEE

R ER )

(i) EfpeBEEE
R E Y B REER R OB
m -

Category Definition of category Basis for recognition of ECL provision
5l BRHNER BREHEEFBRENEE
Stage 1 Exposures where there has not been a Portion of the lifetime ECL associated with the

significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition and that are not
credit-impaired upon origination.
E—IER B ViR E 2 S BRI R
- BRELRTEEEREZER

Stage 2 Exposures where there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition but are not credit-
impaired.

FEMER BYIRERIE 2 EERRBRZEILIN - 1
WEEEREBEZER

Stage 3 Exposures are assessed as credit-
impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that
asset have occurred.

E=MER ERLSHZEENMGARAKRERE
ERANRE —HNZEEMN - AIF
BAERASRIEREREERE -
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probability of default events occurring within
the next 12 months is recognised.

RERRT _EALRENEHZAIRLER
M EHBEMEERENED -

Lifetime expected losses (i.e. reflecting the
remaining lifetime of the financial asset) is
recognised.

EREHEEE - RREBEENTSRT

Lifetime expected losses is recognised and
interest revenue is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost (net
of provision) rather than the gross carrying
amount.

REMEHEE - WHERERERRER
B8 AR (FORR ) T SR BRI AR B AT E A Bk
A



6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Other financial assets (Continued)

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from other receivables
and loan receivables are set out in Notes 24 and 25
respectively.

(A) Loan receivables

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
a concentration of credit risk as 75% (2022: 38%)
of the loan receivables due from the Group’s three
(2022: three) largest borrowing customers.

The Directors consider that the credit risk arising
from the loan receivables is significantly mitigated by
the collaterals held, if required. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding loans and
interest receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by management.

B 7%

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & %= 20234
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Other financial assets (Continued)
(A) Loan receivables (Continued)

Movements in the gross amount of loan receivables

SRITAGE
BREREEEERBEE

=EmE(E)
(i) Eftz @ EE#E)
(A ERERE)

RS AR BB T

are as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

E-ER 123 FZRE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FET

At 1 July 2021 R2021%F7A1H - 35914 6,574 42 488

New loans originated TELER 21,473 = = 21,473

Transfer B (9,769) (1,118) 10,887 =

Repaid during the year RERBER (326) (13,279) - (13,605)

Disposed during theyear ~ REREHE - (13,836) - (13,836)

Written-off during the year ~ RER T Hi - = (6,574) (6,574)
At 30 June 2022 and #2022%6 4308 &

1 July 2022 202&7A18 11,378 7,681 10,887 29,946
New loans originated HELEX 3,854 720 = 4,574
Transfer i 5,395 (5,800) 405 =
Repaid during the year REREER (9,226) (720) (7,000) (16,946)
Written-off during the year ~ RERE (79) = - (79)
At 30 June 2023 20236 A30H 11,322 1,881 4,292 17,495
Byclassat30June 2023  M2023F6A30HLARIE S
~ Loan receivables - ERER 11,200 1,861 4,292 17,353
~ Interest receivables - EUH 2 122 20 = 142

11,322 1,881 4,292 17,495
By class at 30 June 2022 1202246 A30B 1B RIE H
— Loan receivables - ERER 11,270 7,605 8,000 26,875
- Interest receivables - EYFI S 108 76 2,887 3,071
11,378 7,681 10,887 29,946
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Other financial assets (Continued)
(A) Loan receivables (Continued)

ECLs allowances of loan receivables

=®
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023F6 A30R It F[E

SRITAGE

MBEBEEERREEKGE

=EmE(E)
(i) Efb @ EE &)
(A) ERERE)

RRER B EEEERE

An analysis of changes in the corresponding ECL EENEHEEREREZEH 2 n
allowances is as follows: W -
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E-KB E-RB EZRER @t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FAET FAT FET
At 1 July 2021 R2021F7A 18 - 12,498 6,574 19,072
Impairment loss recognised ~ DRHEARMEER 57 = = 57
Impact on year ended ECLs of FRZRE 2 REREFR
exposures transferred EHEEERERNYE
between stages during the
year - (5,483) 9,887 4,404
Impairment loss reversed FRREBEREE
during the year - (6,392) - (6,392)
Impairment loss written off FRMERESE
during the year - - (6,574) (6,574)
At 30 June 2022 and 2022964308 %2022%7A1H
1 July 2022 57 623 9,887 10,567
Impairment loss recognised ~ RREARMERE 22 = = 22
Impact on year ended ECLs of FREME 2 MEAHFR
exposures transferred BHEEBBRRNTE
between stages during the
year 95 (553) 405 (53)
Impairment loss reversed FARERERRD
during the year (17) - (7,000) (7,017)
At30 June 2023 32023464308 157 70 3,292 3,519
By class at 30 June 2023 14202356 A30 B R E I 5
- Loan receivables - ERER 156 69 3,292 3,517
~ Interest receivables - FEIFIS 1 1 = 2
157 70 3,292 3,519
By class at 30 June 2022 120226 A30 B REE I 5
- Loan receivables - ERER 56 621 7,000 7677
~ Interest receivables - EFIE 1 2 2,887 2,890
57 623 9,887 10,567
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. ERMIAE
BEREMREEEEREEE

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Other financial assets (Continued)

=EmE(E)
(i) Bz @ EE &)
(B) HEEKAFENHMSREE

(B) Other financial assets at amortised cost

174

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT

Other financial assets at amortised cost include other
receivables, amounts due from related parties and
bank balances. The Group accounts for its credit risk
by appropriately providing for ECLs on a timely basis.
In calculating the ECL rates, the Group considers
historical loss rates for each category of receivables
and adjusts for forward looking macroeconomic data.

At 30 June 2023, other receivables of approximately
HK$12,098,000 (2022: approximately
HK$8,098,000) were individually determined to
be impaired. The individually impaired receivables
related to debtors that were in financial difficulties
and management assessed that none of these
receivables were expected to be recovered.
Consequently, specific loss allowance was
recognised.

HEERAGENEMSREERR
H Al U IR - FE W A ESE J5 SRIA A )
RITHEH - AEBEREEERREE
iR EHIEEREEER - R ERE
HEEERXE  FAEEEERESR
FEMRIR 2 R S R R WA ATIE 2
REREBUIRIEL AR -

M2023F6 A30H © Hith U FRIFLY
12,098,000/ 7t (20224 : %78,098,000
BT RERNEERERIE - RIS R
BENRKFIAEMBRE  EBAR
W mERETEREFRWKIAES
AATYE - Ft - FENBREEE
MR o



6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Other financial assets (Continued)

(B) Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

ECLs allowances of deposits and other receivables

An analysis of changes in the corresponding ECL
allowances is as follows:

4B

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £ 20236 A30H [t F &

SRITAGE
BRREREEEEREEE)

=EmE(E)
(i) Efb @ EE &)
(B) REHEKAGENEMESBEEHE)
ReRHEMEWSKIE HHEEEE

Balance at 1 July 2021 R2021F7A18 2 &8
Reversal of impairment loss ~ FREEIHE—HMB AR
arising from disposal of a EEZRERE
subsidiary during the year
Written off of impairment loss R3S H AR
during the year

Balance at 30 June 2022 and ~ FA2022%F6A308 &

1 July 2022 20227 A18 2 8%
Impact on year ended ECLs of FREMER 2 MEAHEFER

exposures transferred BHEERERRNTE

between stages during the

year

Balance at 30 June 2023 #R2023F6A30R 2 &%

Except for the abovementioned receivables, the
Group has assessed that the ECL rate for other
financial assets at amortised cost is immaterial under
12 months expected losses method. Thus no loss
allowance for other financial assets at amortised
cost.

BB
HENTEREEBEEBZEH 2D
MR -

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E-KE& ERR E-RR w@st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET BT FET
- - 11,664 11,664
- - (350) (350)
- - (3,216) (3,216)
- - 8,098 8,098
- - 4,000 4,000
- - 12,098 12,098

B bt FRUCGRIRSN - N E D IR 12{E A FEREE
HERHAREBERAGTENEMEREE ZAHE
EBERLTER - Btk - I 8RR HK NG
EMHEMEREEFHEIAEERRE -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents which are

deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay and includes both interest and
principal cash flows for non-derivative financial liabilities.

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To
the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted

amount is derived from market interest rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period.

Notes to the Con

FREVKBERMTE
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023F6 A30R It F[E

6. ¢RI AE

MBEBEEERREEKGE

FBES B (D)
SIEBERERASESRE - EHERE BT
BFEL S MBER - RRBLEARSEEEK
BTSRRI -

More than
1 year
Weighted On demand but not Total
average or within more than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 5 years cash flows amount
o RERS, 155E RER

FHF = 157 {EFBBSE HERELE BEE
% HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET

As at 30 June 2023 R2023%6A30A

Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ FHT£ %M E &

Trade payables B HENTE N/A FEA 16,566 - 16,566 16,566
Other payables Bt A N/A RiE A 1,143 - 1,143 1,143
Accruals ity i N/A REA 1,708 - 1,708 1,708
Lease liabilities MEafk 12% 5,895 3,859 9,754 8,672
Amounts due to related parties  JEIT BB 7 FUB N/A FEA 430 - 430 430
Other borrowing HibfEmR 11% 22,095 - 22,095 21,063
47,837 3,859 51,696 49,582

As at 30 June 2022 R2022%6H30A

Non-derivative financial liabilities — 4742 BB &

Trade payables g S ENTE N/A NiEH 4164 = 4,164 4,164
Other payables HiENTE N/A T @A 844 = 844 844
Accruals FEER N/A @ 1,719 - 1,719 1,719
Lease liabilities HEBE 12% 4,926 2,296 7,222 6,498
Amounts due to related parties JE 1 BB 7 3008 N/A i F 300 = 300 300
11,953 2,296 14,249 13,525
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group determines
fair values of various financial assets.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. The following table gives
information about how the fair values of these financial assets
are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and
inputs used).

Fair value as at

6. ¢RI AE

EMIECAFETE
AR ERAERNTEESE TEeMEENA
FEEHAR -

REGE M EEEAFEH BN FEAS A E
HAFHE
AREBHSREENERE AR FEH
B - TRMRAHNANAET RS RAED
AFEERRMBOMEESERE AR -

RTIBEBHNAFEE Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 30 June 2023 30 June 2022  hierarchy and key input(s)
cHEE 2023F6H30H 202246H30H AFEAH RELTERBEERARE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Financial assets at FVOCI
(Note 21)
— Unlisted equity interest 4,521 10,282 Level 3 Market approach
Major significant unobservable inputs:
(i)  Price-to-book (“P/B”) ratio of
comparable listed companies;
and
(ii)  Discount for lack of marketability
BRAFEFTAEMMEZEKE
WEMEE W 221
- JE LT AR 4,521 10,282 FE=# mZE

TESATAEEHABE

() B EFATMEERE(TE
x)): R

(i) FLERZTIZRBIERIR
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Fair value as at

6. ¢RI AE
SRMIBECZAFENEGRE)

RELEMEER N FPHEM BN I EEAEHEE
B9 2 P18 ()

AT BN AFEE Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 30 June 2023 30 June 2022 hierarchy and key input(s)
SREE 20236 A30H 202246 H30H AFRERE - FELFEREAREARE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Financial assets at FVPL
(Note 27)
— Listed equity securities 34,693 37,277 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market
— Suspended listed equity - 1,667 Level 3 Index Return Method
securities
Maijor significant unobservable inputs:
(i)  Change in share price of
comparable listed companies
during the suspension period;
and
(ii)  Discount for lack of marketability
RAFEFABEN
EMEEW727)
- FTRATE 34,693 37,277 F—#H TEETIGFTEmE AE
- EHREE FTRAES = 1,667 H=# =t 2EEYN
FTESK T AIEHEH AR

() EHEERHEALRETIFN
REZS : &

(i) BLRZTIHRBIERER
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. ERMIAE
ERIAZATEFERE

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured

RELEMEER N FHEM BN I EEAEHEE

at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued) B R FAE ()
Fair value as at
AT EEHNAFE Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 30 June 2023 30 June 2022 hierarchy and key input(s)
SREE 2023%F6H30H 202246H308 AFEHRE HETERERRABE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT

Financial assets at FVPL
(Note 27) (Continued)

— Unlisted equity investment 17,369 20,327 Level 3
RAFEFTABEN

ERMEEWit27) (&)
- EETRARE 17,369 20,327 E=#H

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT

Index Return Method

Major significant unobservable input:

(i)  Change in share price of
comparable listed companies

during the delisted period; and

(ii)  Discount for lack of marketability

EEE AR

TESARTAEEHABE

() BRARERRIAT L BE b i) B R
B8 B

(i) BEAZMIZRBIERR



FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Fair value as at
AT BN AFEE

6. ¢RI AE
SRMIBECZAFENEGRE)

RELEMEER N FPHEM BN I EEAEHEE
B9 2 P18 ()

Fair value

Valuation technique(s)

Financial assets 30 June 2023 30 June 2022 hierarchy and key input(s)
SREE 2023%F6H30R 2022F6A30H AFEHH HEFER BERE A BUE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Financial assets at FVPL
(Note 27) (Continued)
— Convertible bond 1,544 - Level 3 Discounted cash flow model for debt
in Hong Kong component and the Binomial
option pricing model for equity
component
Major significant unobservable input:
(i)  Discount rate
— Unlisted equity funds 11,951 -  Level 2 Net asset value of the fund provided by
outside Hong Kong the broker
RATFETABREN
eMEEWH27)(E)
- BB ABRRES 1,544 - EB=R MBRBEREEX(EHBH) K18
AEAEEEER(ERHD)
FEEATAIEHRE AL
(i) BAIRE
- BERFIELTRAES 11,951 - B/ KREORHOESEEFE
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REMEKE®R «EE Fﬁ =
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

There was no change in valuation techniques during the year
ended 30 June 2023. The Directors believe that the estimated
fair values resulting from the valuation technique(s), which are
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position,
and the related changes in fair values, which are recorded
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that they were the
most appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.

Below is a summary of relationship of unobservable input(s) to
fair value, significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of

EMITRAE
EMTAZAFEFEGE

RELEMEEZ N FEFENIFEHLHBEE
HY 2 F {8 ()
)‘HAE%%E2023¢6H3OE!JL¢F : {Efﬁﬁiij’[ﬁﬂﬁl
Aﬁﬂ%ﬂi{ﬂ%)\ﬁ-ﬁ)&*ﬁ% EF{E“‘EJJ(E%?E}

aMEMEPERERARSAE  TARES
HIR&RE ZEE -

R2023F6A308 » TR BRGABIRENFE
MER SR ITAMEZEATAERE ARIE

financial instruments together with a quantitative analysis as at BRTESTHOBMELT -
30 June 2023:
Relationship of
unobservable input(s) ~ Significant Sensitivity of fair value
Financial assets Valuation technique  to fair value unobservable Input(s) ~ Range/ amount to the input(s)
TUBEHAREE EXTUHE
SREE hERE NTENEE BABE BE/ 8 BABBAYEZHRE
Unlisted equity interest Market approach Higher the P/B ratio, ~ P/B ratio 0.51 times 5% increase (decrease) in the P/
- approximately HK$4,521,000 higher the fair value (2022: 1.10 times) B ratio would result in increase
(2022: HK$10,282,000) and vice versa (decrease) in fair value of
approximately HK$67,000
(2022: HK$145,000)
Higher the discount rate  Discount for lack of 20.5% 5% increase (decrease) in the
of lack of marketability (2022:10.0%) discount rate of lack of
marketability, lower marketability would result in
the fair value and vice (decrease) increase in
versa fair value of approximately
HK$57,000
(2022: HK$58,000)
TR ER [k mREEE  ATE THRE 0515 mREEMOAD)5%EEH
- #14,521,000/8 T #E R2MA (2022 : 1.10f%) NFEEMCRD) 4167, 000 7T
(2022 : 10,282,000 ) (20224 : 145,000%7T)
b PADE Yk il ki R 5 20.5% Bzms B REEN
FREER MBI (20224 : 10.0%) (R)5% e 8H A TE
NHEWE (Bi>) & #957,00057T
Rz A (2020% : 58,0008 L)
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £ 20236 A30H [t F &

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Below is a summary of relationship of unobservable input(s) to
fair value, significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of
financial instruments together with a quantitative analysis as at
30 June 2023: (Continued)

SRITAGE
EWMIBEZATEFEE)

RELEMEEZ N FEFEHNIFEHLBEE
B9 2 F {8 ()

R2023F6A308 - TR EBRGABIRELNFE
MEE SR TAGBEIEATABERHARE
BEREEDTOBENT : (B

Relationship of
unobservable input(s)  Significant Sensitivity of fair value
Financial assets Valuation technique to fair value unobservable Input(s)  Range/ amount to the input(s)
TUREBRAUEE EAFUER
SREE HERE NTEHEE BAE 0E/ 8 BARBLVECHRE
Suspended listed equity securities  Index Return Method  Higher the share price  Change in share price of  N/A N/A (2022: 5% increase (decrease)
— approximately HK$Nil of the comparable comparable (2022:-26.9% to in share price of comparable
(2022: HK$1,667,000) companies, higher companies duringthe ~ 25.7%) companies would result in
the fair value and vice  suspension period increase (decrease) in fair value
versa of approximately HK$4,000)
Higher the discount rate  Discount for lack of N/A N/A (2022: 5% increase
of lack of marketability (2022: 49%) (decrease) in the discount rate

marketability, lower

of lack of marketability would

the fair value result in (decrease) increase
and vice versa in fair value of approximately
HK$80,000)
EREELMRAES b (EE S EBRARNRE TEEEMMTLRL TER TEA020F  LBATN
-NTET He - ATEER - ANREZY (2020 - -269%%  MREEMOAL)5%EEHA
(2022% + 1,667,000 L) &2 A 25.7%) T{EEMCA D) 414,000 7T)
BRemaRRtRER RRZTEREE  TER TERQ022F - Bz mmRA
g5 ATEE KR (20204 - 49%) HERREEMOAD)5%E
& R27A BHATEH)EM
4780,000 A7r)
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REMEKE®R «EE Fﬁ =
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured

6. SMIAE
EMIECAFEFESRE

RELEMEEZ N FEFENIFEHLHBEE

at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued) HI 2 FAE (1)
Below is a summary of relationship of unobservable input(s) to MR2023F6 H30R @ T E g ABIRE AT A
fair value, significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of MR - @R TEAMBEZERNTAEBREAZSIE
financial instruments together with a quantitative analysis as at BERTEDTHMENT : (&)
30 June 2023: (Continued)
Relationship of
unobservable input(s) ~ Significant Sensitivity of fair value
Financial assets Valuation technique to fair value unobservable Input(s)  Range/ amount to the input(s)
TUBEHARBE EXTUHE
SREE HER % NTENBE BABE 8E/2H BABBAYEZHRE
Unlisted equity securities Index Return Method ~ Higher the share price  Change in share price of - 5.55% t0 25.3% 5% increase (decrease) in share
- approximately HK$17,369,000 of the comparable comparable (2022: -54.2% to 7%)  price of comparable companies
(2022: HK$20,327,000) companies, higher companies during the would result in increase
the fair value and vice  delisted period (decrease) in fair value of
versa approximately HK$70,000
(2022: HK$920,000)

Higher the discount rate  Discount for lack of 53% 5% increase (decrease) in the
of lack of marketability (2022: 49%) discount rate of lack of
marketability, lower marketability would result in
the fair value (decrease) increase in fair
and vice versa value of approximately

HK$977,000
(2022: HK$1,096,000)
FETREES AR HRAGMKRE  BEABITHERAE  -555%%253% (2022 ALBLANRELM(RD)
- #717,369,000 7T e ATEER S  DREED F 1 542%% 5% EHATEEM
(2002 : 20,327,000/ L) Rz A 7%) (i) #70,000% 7T
(20229 : 920,000 L)

RemmnBERER RRSTRRAE  53% HEmBRBEREREEN
g5 ATE i) (20204 - 49%) (R)5% 8 ATE
BE - R2HA (i) $E 0041977, 000/ 7T

(20224 : 1,096,000 7T)
Convertible bond in Hong Kong Discounted cash flows Higher the discount Discount rate 13.4% 5% increase (decrease) in the
- approximately HK$1,544,000 for debt component  rate, lower the fair (2022: NIA) discount rate would result in
(2022: NIA) and the Binomial value and vice versa (decrease) increase in fair
option pricing value of approximately
model for equity HK$234,000 (2022: N/A)
component
BATBRES ERReneks AREZES ATE  URX 13.4% BREEMORD)5% 8BH AR
- 471,544,000 BT (EBHA)R BE - R2HA (20226 NER)  TE(RID)EM234,000%
(2022% : TER) “HEASERE TL(2022F : TER)

B3 (B H2)
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £ 202346

6. €I A(

b=

m=E

EWMIACAFENERE)

U
5

RELEMEEZ N FEFEHNIFEHLBEE

at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued) 2 FE ()
Fair value hierarchy RFERF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—& FH/ E=R @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
As at 30 June 2023 R2023%6A30H
Financial assets at FVOCI BRATER AR ZERER
- Unlisted equity interest - MRS - - 4,521 4,521
Financial assets at FVPL BATEMABENEREE
- Listed equity securities excluding - ERAEF (T BREEAEEEE
suspended shares in Hong Kong B 1) 34,693 = = 34,693
- Unlisted equity investment - AR LETRARE
in Hong Kong = = 17,369 17,369
- Convertible bond in Hong Kong - ARUARES = = 1,544 1,544
- Unlisted equity funds outside - BEERNELTRAES
Hong Kong - 11,951 - 11,951
34,693 11,951 23,434 70,078
As at 30 June 2022 7202266 A30R
Financial assets at FVOCI BRATEMARLMEZARSNEREE
- Unlisted equity interest - EmRAER = = 10,282 10,282
Financial assets at FVPL BRATEMAEZNEREE
- Listed equity securities excluding - LR AZEA(TBREEEEECES
suspended shares in Hong Kong HRR1) 37,277 = = 37,277
- Suspended shares in Hong Kong - BEEREERNRG - - 1,667 1,667
- Unlisted equity investment in - BAEE L IRARE
Hong Kong - - 20,327 20,327
37,277 - 32,076 69,553
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REMBHRERNE
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. EMIA(Z
Fair value measurements of financial instruments SRMIAZATEFEE
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured RIBEEMBEEZ N FETENIEBTHEE
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued) B2 FE ()
There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the year HE2023F6A30BIEFE  F—REE_F2
ended 30 June 2023. During the year ended 30 June 2023, B BT AR - HE2023F6A308 1IEFE -
there was a transfer of fair value measurement from Level 3 EIRABE AT EFERE-REREE—
into Level 1 for listed equity securities. & o
There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the year HE2022F6H30BIEFE  E—FEE_F 2
ended 30 June 2022. During the year ended 30 June 2022, R AT R - EE 202266308 LFE -
there was a transfer of fair value measurement from Level 1 ETIRABLE 2 ATEFERE—REBREE=
into Level 3 for listed equity securities. & o
The details of movements in fair value measurements in Level F=HMATEFENEBFHBOT -

3 are as follows:

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements E=RAFEGTENLH R
2023 2022
2023% 20226
Financial Financial Financial Financial
assets assets assets assets
at FVPL at FVOCI at FVPL at FVOCI
BAFE BRRTE

BOYE AR BATE FEAEA
FAREN REWEN  SAREN 2ERED
TREE TREE THEE TREE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAT FET
At beginning of the year REH] 21,994 10,282 27,857 18,243
Addition NE 1,499 - - -
Changes in fair value recognised in -~ RNEZBANAFEZHGIAR
profit or loss (included in change i~ AFEFABENLBEEN
fair value of financial assets at FVPL) ~ AF{EEE) (3,883) - (6,833) -
Changes in fair value recognised in -~ REMZ2EWNEEZN A TEES
other comprehensive income GIARTERE (I RE)
(included in fair value reserve
(non-recycling)) - (5,761) - (7,961)
Transfer from Level 1 to Level 3 AE—REAEZHWE)
(Note i) - - 970 -
Transfer from Level 3 to Level 1 BE=REANE—ROT:Li)
(Note i) (697) - - -
Atend of the year RER 18,913 4,521 21,994 10,282
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements
(Continued)

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 30 June 2023 and 2022.

Notes:

0]

(i)

The transfer from Level 1 to Level 3 is due to the suspension of
share trading of an equity security, EJE (Hong Kong) Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with stock code: 8101), since 2 August 2022. The
suspended shares is included in the equity securities classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at 30
June 2023 and 2022. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfer
into and transfer out of Level 3 as at the date of event or change
in circumstances that caused the transfer.

The transfer from Level 3 to Level 1 is due to the resumption
of share trading of an equity security, Beijing Gas Blue Sky
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange with stock code: 6828), since 25 July 2022. The
resumed shares is included in the equity securities classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at 30 June
2023 and 2022. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfer into
and transfer out of Level 3 as at the date of event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are not

measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of Group’s

financial assets and liabilities recorded at cost or amortised

cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values as at 30 June 2023 and 2022.

FREVKBERMTE
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023F6 A30R It F[E

6. ¢RI AE
SRMIBECZAFEFERE

B=RR-FEGTBREIERE)

REE RN 2023F 202246 308 I AL 4R A
FEAENEREE-

Witk :

(i)

(ii)

HE—RBAFE=RIIANB2022F8H2R K
EREmEB)ERER QT (—RRE M ER
ETRRF - BROMKE : 810D ZBAFHFE R
BN EE - H2023%F k202266 4308 @ iz B
BORMDAAADBREAFEFABENSHE
ENRAES - AEENERRERNEMHELEZA
REHEBNBERELERN  BREARBRE=

HE=ZREAF—RTIENB202247 4250 A
KA RMRERZERER D E (— MR E
REMHATE - Betd 5% - 6828) Z BAFE Ik
ERMES - N2023% &2022F6 4308 » #kiE
BEEMBMOFADBARATFEFABRENS R
BENEAES - AEBENBREINEMHEEZ
FREHFEBNERELR  BREARELSE
=

WHRBEEZEMBERNPETENEIEEEH
BENRFE

EERBMN20234F 202246 A30H Hpk A ok #
HXARGEVBRRCENTEESREER
BENREEREAFERES -
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inancial Statements

HREVHBEME
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating and reporting segments have been
identified on the basis of internal management reports
prepared in accordance with the accounting policies conform
to HKFRSs, that are regularly reviewed by the executive
Directors, being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM")
of the Group, in order to allocate resources to segments and to
assess their performances.

The Group’s operations have been organised based on
four operating divisions as described below. Similarly, the
information reported to the CODM is also prepared on such
basis. No operating segments identified by the CODM have
been aggregated in arriving the reportable segments of the
Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments are

as follows:

e Provision of private = secondary tutoring services,
educational primary tutoring services, skKill
services courses and test preparation

courses, franchising income,
English language training and test
preparation courses, dance tuition
services and STEAM education
services

* |nvestmentin —  trading of securities
securities

e Money lending = providing loans as money lender

e VR and digital —  trading of VR and gaming products

entertainment and provision of related services

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT

WAR 72 EER
AEENRERBREDHERENT BBV BR
SEAMNEABREHOAMERREELET A
Bl AARERERARBENERKERRE
(BEFEEERREDNPITEFEHARMARD
MOBERMEERS -

AEFENKLD RN T NELES BT
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B - WEAAARKERKEMBRINEED
B e
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(@) Segment revenue and results

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023F6 A30R It F[E

7. WARSBERGE)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and

(@) 7EYBARER
REBREE R RE

DR D BEHI A R

results by operating and reportable segments: BT -
For the year ended 30 June 2023 B Z2023F6H30H ILFE
Provision
of private VR and
educational Investment Money digital
services in securities lending  entertainment  Consolidated
R
HAHE R RE®RS & VRREBRE oy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A7 A7 A7 A7 A7
Disaggregated by timing of revenue R ABEREEE S
recognition
QOver time PR 27,125 - 1,674 1,813 30,612
Point in time R—{ERHE - - - 87,000 87,000
Segment revenue (revenue from D HBRACRESNFEE 2 A
external customers) 27,125 - 1,674 88,813 117,612
Segment results PEEE (5,095) (15,080) 3,871 834 (15,470)
Bank interest income FATMELA 4
Interests expenses on other EhEsfeRy
borrowing (1,064)
Share of results of a jointventure  HME—HAEREEE (824)
Share of results of associates MBS N REE (19)
Gain on deemed disposal of a RELE-MNBLRANE
subsidiary 6
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary 44— F SHELAEE 104
Unallocated corporate expenses RARBARR (9,942)
Loss before tax BEAIES (27,205)
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(a) Segment revenue and results (Continued)

7. WARDBERE)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by operating and reportable segments: (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

(@) PMBAREEE)

AEBREERATRED
BT - (&)

BB FHI WA R 2

B F2022F6 H30H IFFIZ

Provision
of private VRand
educational Investment Money digital
services in securities lending  entertainment Consolidated
1Rt
LAHERS REES B8 VRREBRE @it
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fir T T T FET
Disaggregated by timing of revenue %X ARSI & 2
recognition
Over time N—EE 26,278 - 3,245 1,203 30,726
Point in time R — R 2 50 = - 59,272 59,322
Segment revenue (revenue from A BIA(RENBEE ZIMA)
external customers) 26,328 - 3,245 60,475 90,048
Segment results NEEE 3R (6,584) (1,727) 473 (7,806)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE-FEHEA R 670
Share of results of a joint venture B —FHA S ARIEE (1,094)
Unallocated corporate income FN NI 515
Unallocated corporate expenses AP EAFHX (24932)
Loss before tax BHRAEE (32,647)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are LD T ECR EM STl AN E B A e s

the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in Note 3. The CODM assesses segment results using a
measure of operating profit (loss) whereby certain items
are not included in arriving at the segment results of the
operating segments (i.e. bank interest income, interest
expenses on other borrowing, gain on deemed disposal
of a subsidiary, gain on deregistration of a subsidiary,
share of results of a joint venture and associates, and
unallocated corporate income and expenses).

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT

FHERFHE D BEAE

E&%*HH c HIFRERKE S E RN (BER)B
ERETHBEEAERS
DEPE) D BR AR WM B IREA - EﬂﬁEﬁ?‘FngHSZ
A~ B ERN B
i i = PN 6
AR E RN B EREUNRRDER

BIELE—RMEBA
B — F'ﬂ/\**/‘

AIMA R



7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

(Continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and

4B

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £ 20236 A30H [t F &

BARDBER(E

(b) PMEERKE
AEBRELER AT REDETNEERA

liabilities by operating and reportable segments: BT
As at 30 June 2023 R2023F6H30H
Provision
of private VR and
educational Investment Money digital
services in securities lending  entertainment  Consolidated
Bt
PABBRE RERS £E \RREBREY o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TEx FET FiEx FET
Assets EE
Segment assets NHEE 12,590 65,572 19,016 50,468 147,646
Unallocated assets KAEEE
Bank balances and cash RiEHRES 8,839
Interests in associates REENRINER 10
Interest in a joint venture R-FEAERFRNER 121
Financial assets at FVOCI BATEFAEZALERNE
HEE 4,521
Other corporate assets ERREE 8,340
169,477
Liabilities 8%
Segment liabilities PHEE 14,318 327 - 17,193 31,838
Unallocated liabilities KARAE
Other borrowing HipfE 5 21,063
Current tax liahilities M#FEaR 1,615
Other corporate liabilities HtARBE 2,738
57,254
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION Vi

(Continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets
and liabilities by operating and reportable segments:

BWARDEBER ()

(b) PMWEEREBEHE)

AEBREERATREDMETNEENE

EAWWT : (&)

(Continued)
As at 30 June 2022 R2022%6 A30H
Provision of
private
educational Investment Money VR and digital
services in securities lending  entertainment Consolidated
Rt
BAHERE REES EE VRREBRE it
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FEL FEr FEL FET FET
Assets EE
Segment assets PHEE 13,640 59,29 29,609 33,047 135,592
Unallocated assets AOREE
Bank balances and cash RITEHBRES 11,082
Interest in a joint venture R-EagAfMER 945
Financial assets at FVOCI BATEH AL L2ENER
SREE 10,282
Other corporate assets EtNRIEE 7.174
165,275
Liabilities B
Segment liabilities PHEE 10,488 327 - 5,890 16,705
Unallocated liabilities FAEBE
Current tax liabilties MEHEAR 81
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEAE 88
Other corporate liabilities =R NSTEY 1971
18,845
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances

and allocating resources between segments:

all assets are allocated to the operating segments
other than bank balances and cash (other than those
included in the money lending segment), interests in
associates, interest in a joint venture, financial assets
at FVOCI and other corporate assets; and

all liabilities are allocated to the operating segments
other than other borrowing, current tax liabilities,
deferred tax liabilities and other corporate liabilities.

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z=202346 A308 |t FfE

7. WARDBER(E

(b) PBAEREEE
REHES BRARRD B2 MATA R B
SLER

s BREBETHESKEASGIABESBER
SN REEZE AR  R—HAE
AEIMERD  BAFEFARMBEE
W EREEREMAREESIN
FREEEADREREDE + &

o KREMEN MHMHREEE ELTH

BREREMBARAEIN  HERE

BHRELENE -
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(c) Other segment information

7. WARDBER(E

(c) HftnHER

Provision
of private VR and
educational Investment Money digital
services  in securities lending ~ entertainment ~ Unallocated ~ Consolidated
Rt
WAABRE RERS #E VRREBRY AR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
223 223 22 223 FEn S22
For the year ended 30 June 2023 BE202356A300LEE
Capital additions EXRE (7531) - (19 (225) (4,604) (12379)
Depreciation charge on owned property, plant and equipment BAN%  BERGENAEER (370) - 2) (180) (347) (8%9)
Depreciation charge on right-of-use assets FREAENNERR (4,260) - - (723) (%66) (5949)
Reversal of provision for long service payments RERBeRERRE 64 = = = = 64
Change in far value of financial assets at FVPL BATEHNERNE AR,
ATERY - (13,983) - - - (13983)
Reversal of impairment loss (impairment loss) on trade receivables & EMFE 2 EFEAMD
(EER) 82 - - (3.967) - (3,925)
Impairment loss on other receivables EtEWE REEE - - (4,000) - - (4,000)
Reversal of impairment loss on loan receivables BYER HEBERR - - 7048 - - 7048
Write off o loan interest receivable HERRERAS - - (79) - - (719
Write off of amount due from an associate WEEN-FRE AR (746) - - - - (746)
For the year ended 30 June 2022 HZ00F6A0BLEE
Capitaladdltons EARE (3447) 2 - (3564) (747) (7,760)
Depreciation charge on owned property, plant and equipment BENE  BEREN
HERR (10%8) (136) - (%) (70) (1399)
Depreciation charge on right-of-use assets FREEENNEER (4.362) - - (73) (378) (5,463)
Reversal of provision for long service payments RERBLEEAD 7 > = = > 7
Change in fair value of financial assets at FVPL BATEHAERNEREEY
ATEES - (6,184) - - - (6,184)
Impairment loss on trade receivables BARNGEZ HEER 43) - - (1,694) - (1737)
Impaitrent loss on loan receivables EREZZHESE = = (4461) = = (4461)

The Group’s assets, revenue and results for the year

derived from activities located outside Hong Kong are less

than 10% of the Group’s total assets, revenue and results

for the year.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(c) Other segment information (Continued)
Major customers

Revenue from major customers, each of whom accounted
for 10% or more of the total revenue, is set out below:

7. WARDBER(E

(c) Hittn&ER(E)
EEEF

KEXTEEPHKRA(ZEBEBEEEALO%
LA L)EINAT

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Customer A ZPA 39,671 11,625
Customer B ZFB 30,019 28,609
Customer C BFEC 13,848 13,734

The above customers are related to the VR and digital
entertainment segment.

A ERFHEVREBIEIRED AR -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 F 3

195



(XY

inancial Statements

ma
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WARDHBEREE)
(Continued)
(d) Revenue from major services (d) EERKWA
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT

Revenue from contracts with customers REBMKEREERAE 1557

within the scope of HKFRS 15 BRARBEFEHAZBA
Secondary tutoring services PEEE RB 893 1,197
Primary tutoring services, skill courses and  /NE2EERRTS - RERER

test preparation courses A RIE 20,231 19,855
Franchising income T I A 4,082 3,915
English language training and test HEBEE R EE R

preparation courses 85 77
Dance tuition services FEEHERTE - 807
STEAM education services STEAM# & AR 7 1,834 477
Trading of VR and gaming products and VREBEEIE mE 5 Kieft

provision of related services B AR 7% 88,813 60,475

115,938 86,803
Revenue from other sources HipRFE 2 WA
Loan interest income BERA B A 1,674 3,245
117,612 90,048

The Group has applied the practical expedient in AEEEEEBTEHRELENEISHELI2IEF
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its revenue contracts MAIITHRESZEARERAGY - Bt - W&
such that information about revenue that the Group will BEAEEERTZEWASN(RIEFTHRA
be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance —FRERETHBRBNEHREEERSH
obligations under those revenue contracts that had an IWAERL o

original expected duration of one year or less is not
disclosed.
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8. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

4B

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £ 20236 A30H [t F &

8. HMWA - WEKER  F8

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEr
Interest income from RELTEIENEHA
— bank deposits - RITIEZS 4 =
- others - HAth = 515
Dividend income from listed equity securities ETRAE SRR B A 61 =
Government grants (Note) RIS 5 Bh (fTat) 503 1,674
Supporting services income S IRBRFEWA = 43
Sponsorship fee income BEHBIKA = 2,100
Service charge income R & WA 1,956 3,091
Loss on write off/disposal of property, plantand 4, HEWE - W= LR ED
equipment 518 (434) (312)
Loss on disposal of loan receivable HERKERNER - (444)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 39) HE—EEB R A URES
(Ft5£39) - 670
Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary RIEHE—RIH B AR AU
(Note 19) (Mtz#19) 6 =
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries B AR A EE (7) -
(Impairment loss) reversal of impairment loss on LA N & IEH CRl{EE 1) BiE
BB
— trade receivables and contract assets, net -BORBFBEBREHNEE -
peit-S] (3,925) (1,737)
— other receivables - H b R FRIE (4,000) -
—loan receivables, net -ERER  FE 7,048 (4,461)
Write off of loan interest receivables Hi 55 JE I B FORE (79) -
Write off of amount due from an associate i EH pE U — B R B RIE (746) -
Settlement from legal case FARENES = 2,079
Gain on lease modifications HEEFT W= 124 37
COVID-19-related rent concessions COVID-19f8 T & E Rk = 150
Others Htb 552 1,131
1,063 4,536

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 232 197



198

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 8. HiA - WEKREE  FHEHE
(Continued)
Note: Biet -
For the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022, the Group successfully HZE2023F %2022F6A30H L FE + REEMK I
applied for funding support from the Employment Support Scheme FEHREBFNTRE(EBFRTHED BN &8
(“ESS”) and One-off Relief Grant for Private Schools Offering Non- EESTHRBEEFE(RUEFTEDOER RIZMHIE
formal Curriculum (“Grant for PSNFCs”) under the Anti-epidemic THRRENLTERY— IR MEARE B ([FEER R
Fund, set up by the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region HIFLL BRI EBN]) o
(“HKSAR") Government.
The purpose of the ESS is to provide financial support to employers RUEHEETEREZREVBRZEARB TSR
to retain employees who may otherwise be made redundant. Under BHHNES - BREFHER  A5EREHHATE
the terms of the grant, the Group is required not to implement HEWEHZHEPARINEEENTIE -
redundancies during the subsidy period and to spend all the funding
on paying wages to their employees.
For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Grant for PSNFCs is provided BHE202266 A30H ILFE - ERE2020F1 AKELA
as a relief measure in light of that the classes of the Group have been RAEBHRIEE2019EMEEZR([COVID-19)EE
suspended since end of January 2020 due to coronavirus disease 2019 = REFERRENLIERNEDR —HFRE
(“COVID-19”). The Group is required to use the Grant for PSNFCs Mo AEBABIFERRENALIERMEBAESR
for expenses in school operation and be responsible for ensuring its REERZIWBBEBRREGHER -
effective use.
FINANCE COSTS 9. MKER
2023 2022
20234 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Interest on other borrowing H b & A B 1,064 -
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGEHFE 1,039 950
2,103 950
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023F6 A30R It F[E

10. LOSS BEFORE TAX 10. BRFLFIES 1B
Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging (crediting): FrE AT ETIEE Mk (%) T5IEE -
2023 2022
202345 20224F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Directors’ emoluments (Note 11) BEME (HE11) 1,333 3,171
Other staff costs Hith 8 TR 24,683 24,595
Other staff’s retirement benefit scheme E B TR R IREFFT &K
contributions 1,042 1,057
Other staff's equity settled share-based Hih B TUAEREEURD A
transactions HEIFEHR 5 = 17,152
Total staff costs BT A% 27,058 45,975
Auditors’ remuneration 1% BB 5 B 840 740
Legal and professional fee FRENEEER 1,283 1,004
Rental related fees and charges (including HeHBEERA R L (BIEEF
building management fee, air conditioning ERE - THEBEUARBUT
charges and government rent and rates) A N 2= W) 1,753 1,617
Related expenses for copiers SENHAERAR X 42 32
Other daily operation related expenses Ht A EEMRBEREZ 6,984 4,511
Total other operating expenses HihEER % 10,902 7,904
Changes in inventories of finished goods WK MIFEEE 76,591 54,273
Reversal of provision for long service payments  =HIARTG & &R D (64) (71)
Short-term lease payments not included inthe ~ Tt AFHE & ETEREH
measurement of lease liabilities HERK 899 582
COVID-19-related rent concessions COVID-19#8 8 & &Rt - (150)
Tutor contractor fee is calculated based on (i) certain EEEB B TR R A P B E IR R R iEE
percentage of revenue derived from secondary tutoring services IREARBRANETED L ¢ Ri))\BEE
and English language training and test preparation courses; R% - REFELESARE 2SI BETWE
and (ii) fixed hourly rate on primary tutoring services, skill o

courses and test preparation courses.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 11 EERFIETHRAENMERAVLES

EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID 5N E 8 KB
EMPLOYEES AND TUTORS

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Directors’ fees = okn 495 480
Other emoluments to Directors MESEXFHEAMNES
— basic salaries, allowances and other benefits ~ — EZA&R#H 4 - 2R EMEY
in kind &7 765 756
— discretionary bonus - BYIETEAL 45 =
- retirement benefit scheme contributions — RIREFET SR 28 29
- share-based payments - LARR S BEREI = 1,906
1,333 3,171
The bonus is determined with reference to the operating AT BERMENNLEEE - AARRK
results, individual performance and comparable market AL BTSSR BEMET -

statistics during both years.
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES AND TUTORS (Continued)

Details of emoluments paid by the Group to the Directors are

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £ 20236 A30H [t F &

FMEEREM(E)

AEFREEMHOMSFBFNOT

ILESRIETRAEBNMERANVES

as follows:
Other emoluments
Hfthe
Basic
salaries,
allowances Retirement
and other benefit Share-
Directors’ henefits  Discretionary scheme based
fee in kind bonus  contributions  payments Total
Exge
R
RN EUKER  URBA
£k BA BERL HEHR ERAR it
Note HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Hi FEi Fii FEr FEi Fir FEr
Year ended 30 June 2023 BE2023F6A300LFE
Executive directors #iEE
Mr. Tsang Ka Wai ERERE ) = 198 = 10 = 208
Mr. Yip Kai Pong EEBRE 120 567 45 18 - 750
Mr. Li Ming Him e Rt (i) 15 = = = = 15
Independent non-executive directors BIFHTES
Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee I |-l (i) 66 = = = = 66
Mr. Fenn David TERRE (i) 66 = = = = 66
Mr. Yuen Chun Fai féEss (i) 120 = = = = 120
Mr. Hong Ka kel ERRLL ) 54 = = = = 54
Ms. Leung Sze Ki 2EEL L ) 54 = = = = 54
Total Bt 495 765 45 28 - 1,333
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FEMKEBRE
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES AND TUTORS (Continued)

Details of emoluments paid by the Group to the Directors are
as follows: (Continued)

FMEEREM(E)

AEFREEXMOMESFENAT : (&)

IL.EERFETRAENMERANVES

Other emoluments
Hfe
Basic
salaries,
allowances Retirement
and other benefit Share-
Directors' benefits ~ Discretionary scheme based
fee in kind bonus  confributions  payments Total
E1Fe-
R
LUk U BAEN DRAA
EEL0E) B BERL HEHR  ERGH it
Notes HK$000 — HKSO00 — HKSO00  HKSUOO  HKSOOD  HKSOOO
Hit AT A7 AT A7 AT A7
Year ended 30 June 2022 HENNECRNALER
Executive directors #i7Es
Mr. Tsang Ka Wai LRERE ) - 26 = 11 = 27
Mr. Yip Kai Pong EE 120 540 - 18 1906 2,584
Independent non-executive directors BukafEs
Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee rEknt (i) 120 = = = = 120
Mr. Leung Ki Chi James RHELE ) 70 = = = = 70
Mr. Fenn David bl Vi (i) 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Yuen Chun Fai féEs s (i) 50 - = = = 50
Total o) 40 756 - ) 1,906 3171
Notes: Hret -

(i) Resigned with effect from 1 June 2023.

(ii)  Appointed with effect from 1 June 2023.

(iii)  Resigned with effect from 20 January 2023.

(iv)  Appointed with effect from 2 February 2022.

(v)  Appointed with effect from 20 January 2023.

(vi) Resigned with effect from 2 February 2022.

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £ 20236 A30H [t F &

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 1. ZEZERFETHRAENMERAENVES
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID FMEES RER(E)
EMPLOYEES AND TUTORS (Continued)
Among the five highest paid individuals (excluding tutors) of AEERAFEZAMNESHHAL(TRIES
the Group during the year, one of them is Director (2022: one AR —IATAEE(Q022F : BE—{ALTAE
of them was Director). Details of the remuneration for the four =) o PRI (20224F : PUAL) B = B B A 4= 2 B M
(2022: four) highest paid individuals are as follows: FFIEME -
2023 2022
2023% 20224
HK$’000 HK$000
FAET FET

Basic salaries, allowances and other benefits EAEE 2R NEMEYD

in kind & H 2,317 1,641
Discretionary bonus EIEIEAL 123 =
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREFET B K 72 65
Share-based payments VAR 10 A E AT 3k - 7,623

2,512 9,329

The number of the highest paid individuals who are not FWRATHEE ZIEZ o HZEHMA T AR
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands is ™

as follows:

2023 2022

20234 20224

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AE A&

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001/ 7L & 1,000,0007% 7T 4 -

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 T 2 2,500,000 7T - 3

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T 23,000,000/ 7T - 1

4 4
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REMBHRERNE
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 11 EERFIETHRAENMERAVLES

EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES AND TUTORS (Continued)

Details of tutor contractor fee of the five highest paid tutors
(excluding Directors) during the year are as follows:

FMEEREM(E)

RER > AURSHFHEM (T REEE) NG
EBEFHBWT

2023 2022

202345 20224

HK$’000 HK$000

FET FHET

Tutor contractor fee ERIARE 269 565

The tutor contractor fees to the five highest paid tutors
(excluding Directors) were within the following band:

R BEHWEN FREED HENRDEN
FUTRE -

2023 2022

20234 20224

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AE AZ

HK$1 to HK$500,000 17870 =500,0007 7T 5 5

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the existing or
former Directors or the five highest paid employees and tutors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

During the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022, no director
waived or agreed to waive their emoluments on a voluntary
basis.

Salaries, allowance and other benefits in kind paid to or
for the executive Directors are generally emoluments paid
or receivable in respect of those persons’ other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company
and its subsidiaries, while directors’ fees are paid to or for
the independent non-executive Directors in respect of those
persons’ services as Directors.

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT

AEBYEABRERFNEEFR ALK FE
B NGRS EAR S MAKR IMAREHE
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & %= 20234

By #5 # 3}_

6A30E IEFE

12. INCOME TAX 12. fr8%
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHETT F&Er
Current tax: BIHARRIE -
Hong Kong Profits Tax BERGEH
— Provision for the year - FEHE 1,323 =
— Under-provision for prior year -BEFERETR 211 =
1,534 -
Deferred tax (Note 34) EERTB (B 7334) (88) -
Total income tax expense recognised RIERERZFEHRAS R
in profit or loss 1,446 -

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year ended 30
June 2023 is calculated at 8.25% of the first HK$2,000,000
estimated assessable profit and 16.5% of the remaining
estimated assessable profit for the relevant years.

For the year ended 30 June 2022, no provision for Hong Kong
Profits Tax has been made as the Group has no assessable
profits or have sufficient tax losses brought forward to set off
against the year’s estimated assessable profit.

ELE2023F6A30H L FE - FENSHBEED
il &T RERT B A E & 2,000,000/ 7T J5#2 L £ 8.25%
FHE - MR FE R T A (AT R A B AR
F16.5%=TH o

EE2022F6A30H L FE - ANEEY EEFH

MBXEFTERABREE A EEZFE 2GR
FERFIAE - MU BB BN SHIELBRE -
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

wR

12. INCOME TAX (Continued) 12. FREBL(E
The tax expense for the year can be reconciled to loss before AEEMEBERAXTEEGSEERAMEEEEE
tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other FreimBR T AT ES B B RR AT

comprehensive income as follows:

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEr
Loss before tax B AT BT 18 (27,205) (32,647)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, calculated %7 B B1;A4E 1= i P O B 18 71 &
at the rates applicable to loss in the ATERNREATEENRETIE
jurisdictions concerned (2022: 16.5%) (20224 : 16.5%) (4,489) (5,387)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose ~ HZE R HI U A BT TS5 & (529) (2,097)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax BRI BTE
purpose 973 3,568
Under-provision in respect of prior year BEFERENZE 211 =
Tax effect of share of results of associates JEMREE R EENB S 2 3 =
Tax effect of share of results of a joint venture Bh—HAERBIEENTG
oE 136 179
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised RIER T =N HIE T E (216) (47)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBEEEOT S E 5,971 3,803
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised BB R HER TR S E 1B (443) (19)
Tax concession M ER (171) -
Income tax expense for the year FEMEBHRAX 1,446 -
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13.

14.

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company for both years are based
on the following data:

13.

BREE
RATRE ARTEEE R 2 FREE RIS
BADREN TREHE -

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FE&r
Loss for the purpose of basic and diluted BUGTEEREAREEEERN
loss per share 518
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the KARVEE ANELFESE
Company (28,541) (32,892)
2023 2022
2023% 20224
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for R bAFHE &A% E A & #5855 18
the purpose of basic and diluted loss per share &) @A% H0#E T 15 % 596,430,880 596,430,880

The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume the
exercise of the Company’s share options because the exercise
price of those share options was higher than the average
market price for shares for the years ended 30 June 2023 and
2022.

DIVIDENDS

The board of Directors does not recommend the payment
of a final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2023 (2022:
HK$Nil).

14.

AEESREEEBRYERRARAZBREET
% - REREZE2023F &2022F6 A30H IEF/E
ZEBBREZITEESNBN 2 FHHE -

[ g=\

EEGTERAMNEET2023F6A30H IEFEIRT
REARR B (20224 « T TT) ©
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REMBHRERMNE
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BEKRZRE

Motor
Leasehold Fumiture Office Computer vehicle/
improvements ~ and fixtures equipment equipment vessel Total
RE/
AELE  BAREE  BOERB BB M st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FAT AT AT AT AT AT
COST A
At 1 July 2021 R021E7R1R 4229 1216 3182 9397 - 18,024
Additions AE hg84 100 102 273 - 1,059
Disposalsfwrite off e /s (692) (31) (13) (59) - (79)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 39) HE-RRBARWZY) (1,480) (101) = - = (1,581)
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 R022456R308 k202247818 2,641 1,184 3,211 9,611 - 16,707
Additions NE 1,282 141 167 200 1,750 3,540
Disposalsfirite off e /i (840) (57) (133) (82) = (1,112)
At 30 June 2023 R2023F6A30H 3,083 1,268 3,305 9,729 1,750 19,135
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 2itiE
At T July 2021 R021E7R1R 2997 995 291 8901 - 15,884
Depreciation expense HEER 756 165 79 399 = 13%
Eliminated on disposals/write off L& /M (398) (21) (12) (52) - (483)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 39) hE-RHBARWHY) (1479) (100 - - = (1579)
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 R2022F6A30F R202E7A1H 1,876 1,039 3,058 9,248 - 15,221
Depreciation expense TEER 389 68 18 218 146 899
Eliminated on disposalshwrite off HE /M A (415) ) (133) (82) - (677)
At 30 June 2023 Ho36A A 1,850 1,060 3,003 9,384 146 15,443
CARRYING AMOUNTS REE
At 30 June 2023 H2023E6A30H 1,233 208 302 345 1,604 3,692
At 30 June 2022 #2022F6A308 765 145 213 363 - 1,48

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant
and equipment over their estimated useful lives, using the

ME - BEMRENRRNABSETE - REM
AT RS HIT UAMGHE - SENFTERNT

straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements  Over the shorter of the term of the HEHE EHBPHREE

lease, or 20% — 30% 5%,20%— 30%
Furniture and fixtures 20% —30% RRREE 20%— 30%
Office equipment 20% WRERME 20%
Computer equipment 20% BISERE 20%
Motor vehicle/vessel 25% T R 25%
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023F6 A30R It F[E

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. EFEEE
Leased Leased office
properties equipment Total
HEME HERLERME st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FETL FET FET
(Note i) (Note ii)
(HaEi) (B atii)
cosT R
At 1 July 2021 MR2021F7H1H 13,303 838 14,141
Additions arising from entering  FIMFTEIHEANESL

into new lease contracts HIANE 5,361 - 5,361
Derecognition HHRER (3,719) - (3,719)
Derecognition resulting from s — B AR ERN

disposal of a subsidiary iR TR (KT 7£39)

(Note 39) (892) - (892)
At 30 June 2022 and 7202296 A30H Kk20224F

1 July 2022 7HA1H 14,053 838 14,891
Additions arising from entering I HE]HEAWELE

into new lease contracts RRNE 8,069 770 8,839
Derecognition BAETER (3,386) - (3,386)
Lease modifications HEEE] (762) (344) (1,106)
At 30 June 2023 12023F6 A30H 17,974 1,264 19,238
ACCUMULATED RIiFE

DEPRECIATION
At 1 July 2021 MR2021F7H1H 7,003 357 7,360
Depreciation expense EEZHA 5,296 167 5,463
Derecognition R FTER (3,453) - (3,453)
Derecognition resulting froma  H& —EHE R a1 E B

disposal of a subsidiary B EFER (B 7E39)

(Note 39) (397) - (397)
At 30 June 2022 and R20229F6 A308 &

1 July 2022 202247 A 1H 8,449 524 8,973
Depreciation expense EEHR 5,782 167 5,949
Derecognition RIETER (3,386) = (3,386)
Lease modifications HEERT (468) - (468)
At 30 June 2023 7202346 4300 10,377 691 11,068
CARRYING AMOUNTS BRTEE
At 30 June 2023 72023465308 7,597 573 8,170
At 30 June 2022 7202296 A30H 5,604 314 5918
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Notes to the %onsolldat

REMBHRERNE
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

lvétatemets

HT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

(0

(ii)

(iii)

The Group has obtained the right to use certain properties as
its education centres, office premises and warehouse through
tenancy agreements. The leases typically have no extension
option and run for an initial period of 2 to 3 years, at the end of
which period all terms are renegotiated.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group leased a
number of education centres which contain variable lease
payment terms that are based on gross receipts generated from
the education centres and minimum annual lease payment terms
that are fixed. These payment terms are common in Hong Kong
where the Group operates. The amount of fixed and variable
lease payments for the year is summarised below:

16. FAEEEE)
Biat -

(0

AEECERHERBEREERETHEER
EHBAEPL  MOENEREE - HE—RIE
BHINE - DA REI2E3F - B GRRNEIREN
BER o

MNEE2023F6 A30B ILFE - AEHHEESE

BEHL uZ#TE‘*AﬁgﬁA%lﬁ F D PITEE A WY
ANBFEOAERENHERLEEREFERE

A kam e ;Z%H%’i\ S *—J}()‘gAE%(z]gE .g«%}aﬁ

M

COVID-19-
related
Fixed Variable rent Total
payments payments concessions payments
CoviD-19
EEMES
B E R CIE-ZOE- BiR RSt ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FE&ET FE&ET
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6H30H LLFE
Education centres — Hong Kong BEPL-BB 1,410 = = 1,410
For the year ended 30 June 2022 HZE2022F6 4308 L FE
Education centres — Hong Kong HEPL-BB 1,410 = (101) 1,309
At 30 June 2023, it is estimated that an increase in gross receipts MH2023F6A30H © B ZEHEHR L F)’TE EE
generated from these education centres by 5% would have no WABREBIEMS% BT EHEENRELE
material impact on the lease payments. 2.

The Group leases certain office equipment under leases expiring
5 years. None of the leases includes an option to renew the lease
or purchase the leased equipment at the end of the lease term
at a price deemed to be a bargain purchase option. None of the

(i)

AEBERBAOBES THAERME - HH
R5F - ZEMRAMER S AIREERRINA
WREEEEABRNEREARBEAER

leases includes variable lease payments. fRERZE - BEHEE RS RHEE M -
(iii)
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Expenses relating to short-term leases S HHEEE AR 899 582
Total cash outflow for leases HERESRHELRE 7,841 6,928

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT




For the year ended 30 June 2023 &%=

2023F6A30H IEFE

1 g

17. GOODWILL 17. &
CGU 1 CGU 2 CGU 3 CGU 4 Total
HeEL BEESE HeEE HeELE
Bl B2 B3 B4 @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
COST BA
At 1 July 2021 R2021F7A1H 60 25,448 559 20,655 46,722
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 39) & — R B L B (B77£39) - (25,448) - = (25,448)
At 30 June 2022, 1 July 2022 and M202256 5308 + 20224
30 June 2023 7R 18 K%2023%6A30H 60 - 559 20,655 21,274
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND ~ Eit R E
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 July 2021 R2021%7A1H - 23,492 559 - 24,051
Impairment loss derecognised arising from & — K B A 7 E 4 848
disposal of a subsidiary (Note 39) IR BB (F77£39) - (23,492) - = (23,492)
At 30 June 2022, 1 July 2022 and R2022F6 8308 »
30 June 2023 2022F7R18 &
2023F6A30H - - 559 - 559
CARRYING AMOUNTS REE
At 30 June 2023 W2023F6 4308 60 = = 20,655 20,715
At 30 June 2022 R2022F6A30H 60 - - 20,655 20,715
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRERNE
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

17. GOODWILL (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to four CGUs which are engaged in money lending
business (“CGU 1”), private educational services (“CGU 2"), IT
services (“CGU 3"), and VR and digital entertainment services
(“CGU 4”) respectively.

CGU 1 — Money lending business

Based on the result of impairment test, no impairment loss
on goodwill allocated to CGU 1 is recognised during the years
ended 30 June 2023 and 2022.

CGU 2 - Private educational services (dance tuition
services)

During the year ended 30 June 2022, CGU 2 was disposed to
an independent third party and as a result, the goodwill related
to CGU 2 was derecognised. Details refer to Note 39.

CGU 3 - IT services

Due to uncertain operating environment, the estimated
recoverable amount of CGU 3 was below its carrying amount
and goodwill allocated to this unit was fully impaired in prior
years.

CGU 4 - VR and digital entertainment services

The recoverable amount of CGU 4 is determined based on
value-in-use calculation using discounted cash flow method
under income approach by reference to the valuations carried
by an independent qualified professional valuer, which is
considered to be more likely to capture the future growth
potentials of CGU 4. That calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering
a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using an estimated weighted average growth rate
of 2.5% (2022: 2%). This growth rate does not exceed the
long-term average growth rates for the market in which CGU 4
operates. The cash flows are discounted using a discount rate
of 18.9% (2022: 17.0%). The discount rate used is pre-tax and
reflects specific risks relating to CGU 4. Other key assumption
for the value-in-use calculation relates to the estimation of
cash inflows/outflows which included budgeted revenue,
such estimation is based on the CGU 4’s past performance
and management’s expectations for the market development
including the fluctuation in digital entertainment services
business in the current economic environment in Hong Kong.

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT

17. B8 (&

AETREND AR IEZNERSELE
i DHIRREEEXR(REELEML]) -
FAAHBERB(REELEM2]) - EARER
BUReEEEMI]) RVRR BTG RERS ([
TELEM4]) -

ReE4EEN] - BEXK
RIBFE R B R - 8 Z 20234 202246 A 30
BUEFEYERSEEREELBEMINEHERE
RRMEEE

REELEMN2 - RAHBERB(EHEHE
AR #%)

BE2022F6 A30R L FE - REELFEM2E
HEFT—RBYFE=7 At r BERSEL
BRU2HEEBECRILER - BEFER2HME
g e

REELEMU3 - EANERK
HREERIRE AN - REELBUINMAEEA
WEERRENEREE - MoEEXEMNEE
ERBEFEBBRE

BEELENS - VREEB IR &R
REELBMAZ RO A2 EB LA ER
BRGEEMETZEE  FRRAE TR
SHMEFRFERAEEMEET  ZHFERAR
B HIRBCEABNINRTIERESD - %
STEFRAERNEEBI AN A F T KBEEER
MBS REEN - AFTHENRERESE
FAEETH2.5% (20224  2%) fEF19E R =K -
FEEERTNBBERCELBENACENETS
NEHFHERER - L& REHFA18.9%(2022
F 0 17.0%)WBAIR KRR - FTEARMBNIREZ
ATl IR & E A BA4EBNIETERE -
FRAEEFENEMBEREBRERSRA R
NHEE(ETPREREERA)EH  WHEEER
REeELBEMANBAERAREBEH MR ER
MTEHR - BIEEBE AT EIRE T 8ISRELIR
EBERRE o



17.

18.

GOODWILL (Continued)

CGU 4 - VR and digital entertainment services
(Continued)

The Directors are of the opinion that based on the value-in-
use calculation of CGU 4, there is no impairment of goodwill
allocated to CGU 4 during the years ended 30 June 2023
and 2022. The Directors believe that any reasonably possible
change in the assumptions used in the calculation of the
recoverable amount would not cause the carrying amount of
the unit to exceed its recoverable amount as at 30 June 2023
and 2022.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

CeampmaME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023F6 A30R It F[E

17. BB (E
BEEAENG - VREEBIRERS (&

EERA ERBcELBUINEREBES
8 BE2023F 20226 H30B LFEH R E
ReELBEMANBEYERE BEFRR &
BRI E & 7RI RR AR & IR Al s Z E S T
SEHZEMMRAERBEN20235F %2022
FOA30HMAIKEIEEE

18. Ht B EE

Franchise Digital
Trademark rights  IT systems assets Total
&
G AT BMERSK BISEE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FET FET FAET
COST R
At 1 July 2021 M2021F7R 1R 2,957 1,979 2,960 - 7,896
Additions NE - - - 1,340 1,340
At30June 2022, 1 July 7202296 H308 -
2022 and 30 June 2022F7R1B K&
2023 202356 H30H
2,957 1,979 2,960 1,340 9,236
ACCUMULATED R BHERRE
AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1July 2021, 30 June  H202147H18H -
2022, 1 July 2022 and 202256 H30H -
30 June 2023 2022 7R18 &
202346 A30H 2,957 1,979 2,960 - 7,896
CARRYING AMOUNTS fREE
At 30 June 2023 7202356 H30H - - - 1,340 1,340
At 30 June 2022 202296 A30H - - - 1,340 1,340
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group’s trademark protects the design and specification of
“MODERN BACHELOR EDUCATION" logo, and was assessed
to have an indefinite useful life. On the date of acquisition
(i.e. 31 December 2010), the fair value of this trademark is
assessed using an income approach under the relief from
royalty method by an independent qualified professional valuer.

Franchise rights represent the right to use the name “MODERN
BACHELOR EDUCATION" under contractual franchise
agreements in the business of primary tutoring services. The
amortisation period of franchise rights is 10 years.

The above trademark registration and franchise rights have
been renewed for a period of 10 years, up to 6 October 2030.

Digital assets represent the virtual lands purchased on a
blockchain platform. The Directors consider the economic life
of digital assets are indefinite as they lack physical form and
there is no limit to their useful life.

At the end of the reporting period, the digital assets with
indefinite useful life is allocated to the VR and digital
entertainment CGU for impairment assessment, please refer to
Note 17 for details of impairment assessment.

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT

18. At B A E (&

AE BB RREIRA N2 IEHRET MR
1% WHFEREBERRAMERFS - NEER
Hi(BI2010F12A31R) » AR A FETIH—
EBUAERBEXGEMRAENSHEETH
WASEMEHFFAE -

R e RIB N EWERBEEBN S N ihE
ERAMRA/NEL | RRERER o 45FF R 5H
106 -

A ERREM R EEERIOF - HE£2030
#F10A6H -

BBEEENRRBYBENER LTI - EF
Re HRBBEERZERE  ARERSF
IR - s EESPALTHEE ©

RBEMKR - BAERAEAFHNBBEED
DEEVREBBREA & E L BETRER
- BRBER M BHE2HMEL -
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £ 20236 A30H [t F &

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 19. REEZE QAR RERS
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost of unlisted investments IEETIRE KA 29 5
Share of post-acquisition results and reserves, EREB R EE RHEEFRE
net of dividends received WpgB) (19) (5)
Balance at end of the year RERLEER 10 =

Particulars of the Group’s associates at 30 June 2023 are as

REEP2023F6 H30A MBS R RIFBEAT ¢

follows:
Proportion of nominal value
Place of incorporation o issued capital held by Proportion of
Name of associate and operation the Group voting power held Principal activities
ERELR AREFRERT
BeENTER EEBY REEELA s RERELA TEER
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023% 2020 2023 2020%

Modern Legend Management Hong Kong - 50% - 50%  2023: N/A (2022: Investment holding and its
Consultant of Education Limited subsidiary is principally engaged in the provision
(“Modern Legend”) (Note /) * of private educational and training

services in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC")

ARERHEERENERAT Bl 20235 : TER (026 | REERRENBL

(RRE&E]) W) AFERFEARLRE (RE ISR
NAE RSEHIR%)
Animation & Technology Company British Virgin Island 36.65% - 36.65% = Inactive
Limited (“Animation & Technology”) (“BVI")
(Note ii)* (Hi&i)
EBRAHS BEH
([£BRxAHE))

Millennium Success Modern Strategy Hong Kong 40% - 40% - Intellectual property collaboration and project
Limited (“Millennium Success”) management
(Note i) *

RARRERERAT Bl HBEEAfERARER

(RABRRE) Hraii)*

*

Neither Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited nor another member firm

of Baker Tilly International is the auditor of the associate.

Y RBEZEEHMEFHERATRXBER SR
/K B 23 7] 2 FF ez i & Al A 2 LA
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REMBHRERNE
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes:

0]

(i)

(iii)

On 18 November 2016, Modern Legend was incorporated and
the Group subscribed 50% equity interest of Modern Legend.
The Group has ability to exercise significant influence through
its shareholding. On 23 June 2023, Modern Legend was
deregistered. The Group therefore ceased to have significant
control over Modern Legend and derecognised it as an associate.

On 7 July 2022, Animation & Technology was incorporated
and the Group subscribed 36.65% equity interest of Animation
& Technology. The Group has ability to exercise significant
influence through its shareholding.

On 22 August 2022, Millenium Success was incorporated as a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

On 21 March 2023, Millenium Success issued 600 ordinary
shares to an independent third party which resulted in a dilution
of the Group’s shareholding in Millennium Success from 100%
to 40%. The Group ceased to have control over Millenium
Success but has ability to exercise significant influence through
its shareholding. During the year ended 30 June 2023, gain on
deemed disposal of a subsidiary of approximately HK$6,000 was
recognised in profit or loss.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method in

these consolidated financial statements.

The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of profits

(losses) of certain associates. The amount of unrecognised

share of results of the associates, extracted from the relevant

management accounts of the associates, for the year and

cumulatively, are as follows:

19. REFE QTR (B)
HiE -

()  PM2016F11A18H  HRE R EEMA Y - &
ERBRRERMNO0%ME - AEBEEEBE
Hﬂféfﬂiiﬁﬁf%ﬁ o 20236 H23H - B
BERoEH At AEEETHEHRARE R
BEREHIE  TRILEBER—HBERF -

(i)  H2022497A7H © Animation & Technology/& 3+
Ak - AREEREAnimation & TechnologyA)
36.65% %1 - REBEEHFEREREITEERY
27 o

(i)  M20229F8H22A  RITH A KM EMAL -
KAREEZEHEANE QR

M2023F3A21R  RARNKEMM —BHEULE
=77 #7600 BB - ERAKBERRIT AR
REEHAE AR 100% B EA0% - AEB T BH
ROBREEEBESE - B BERET
BERTES - HE2023F6A30B ILFE - &
& — M B AR 2 W 46,0008 TR B
HER -

FZEBERRNZELEA
ZYAN:

B EmER P IR

P

AEECDRUEEREEBEETHERAR SN
(B18) - FARRFAEREBEXSHELRZ
XeeB(MERBE R ZABETERE) N
T

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHETT FEr
Unrecognised share of profits (losses) of the FRRERELBE QR
associates for the year s ) (B 1) 536 (303)
Cumulative unrecognised share of losses of the ~ Rt RIERFE(LEE L QT EE
associates (183) (869)
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20. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

SwFRMNEFE

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023%6 4308 [t F €

20. A—HEEE DA ER

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FEIT

Cost of unlisted investments FELETHREA 14,000 14,000
Share of post-acquisition results, net of dividends &1 U 8814 % 4& (FIF 2 W A% 2

received (13,879) (13,055)

Balance at end of the year RFRAEER 121 945

At 30 June 2023, the Group had interest in the following joint
venture:

R2023F6A30H @ AEBPRUTELRRHEE
M

Place of Proportion of nominal value
incorporation and of issued capital held Proportion of
Name of joint venture operation by the Group voting power held Principal activities
SRR AEBFBERT
RENFER EENHY BAERELLA iR R Al TEEH
2023 2022 2023 2022
20235 20024 2023% 200226
Full Profit Hong Kong Development Hong Kong 50% 50% 50% 50%  Provision of management and consultancy

Limited (“Full Profit")
REERREARAR(RL) Bk

The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in
these consolidated financial statements.

services for kindergartens

BPSEREERRH RS

ZRERANZFERAMBHRERT RAERE
N
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

% %

20. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

Summarised financial information of a material joint

venture

Summarised financial information in respect of the material

joint venture of the Group is set out below. The summarised

financial information below represents amounts shown in the

20. R—EEENRINER (&

BEAGEQARAZHMBERBE

AEEERAERAZHMBEMNREZHINWNT -
TXAz A EERBETRGEARREBER
MBRELNER P BERRTPAROEE -

joint venture’s financial statements prepared in accordance

with HKFRSs.
Full Profit BE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FHET
Current assets mBEE 270 271
Non-current assets IERBEE - -
Current liabilities mEAE 10 —
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the M EEREESHEBEUATSE
following:
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEFEY 260 261

Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and
other payables and provisions)

RBEREBEATBRERES R

HoAth A SRR K B )

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT




For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023%6 4308 [t F €

o i

20. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 20. R—EEE QRN ER(E
Summarised financial information of a material joint BERGERTEIZHKEERNBME(E
venture (Continued)
Full Profit (Continued) E 160
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FA&T
Revenue N - -
Loss for the year FEBE (10) 2
Other comprehensive income for the year FEHMEBEBA = -
Total comprehensive expense for the year FEXHMAYERE (10) 2)
Dividend received from the joint venture EEX=VNSIINEEo) ) = =
The above loss for the year includes the following: Ll FEEBEREATEIA !
2023 2022
2023% 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET

Depreciation and amortisation PTE R#H - -
Interest income FEWA - -
Taxation g - -
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

20. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 20. R—RIEENRINER(E
Summarised financial information of a material joint ERGEQTIZUBERBEE
venture (Continued)
Full Profit (Continued) BE(E)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information LTl BRI E B AE BN A M B IRER AL
to the carrying amount of the interest in Full Profit recognised RREBE 2 E=REE R -
by the Group in the consolidated financial statements:
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Net assets of Full Profit BEMNEEFE 260 271
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest AEBRRLHBEER
in Full Profit s ddl 50% 50%
The Group’s share of net assets of Full Profit AEBEGHREEEFE 130 136
Effect of fair value adjustments at acquisition IR AT ERAR ZTE 14,000 14,000
Other adjustments H (14,009) (13,191)
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest TEERBE  ERxREE
in Full Profit 121 945
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Notes to the Consolidated |
GABEENE
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z£20234F6 A30H L F[E

21. RAVEFARMEZAKRSENEREE

2023 2022
2023% 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET F&Er
Financial assets at FVOCI BRAFEFAHMEERZEN
SREE
— unlisted equity interest in overseas, - BINELETRARER
at fair value (Note) BRAFEMR 4,521 10,282
Note: Hiet -

On 9 November 2016, Fastek Investments Limited (“Fastek”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a subscription
agreement with the investee and the guarantor, to subscribe
approximately 9.49% of unlisted equity interest at a cash consideration
of approximately HK$28,459,000. On 24 January 2017, Fastek further
subscribed 13 rights shares of the unlisted equity interest at a cash
consideration of approximately HK$2,372,000. The investee acts as an
investment holding company and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Investee
Group”) are principally engaged in the dealing in securities, advising on
securities, advising on corporate finance, asset management, provision
of wealth management service and money lending business in Hong
Kong. The Group designated its investment in the Investee Group at
FVOCI (non-recycling), as the investment is held for strategic purposes.

On 6 December 2019, an independent third party had subscribed 35
shares of the unlisted equity interest of the investee. As a result, the
shareholding of Fastek in the Investee Group has been diluted from
9.49% t0 8.41%.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, two independent third parties
had subscribed total of 45 shares of the unlisted equity interest of the
investee. As a result, the shareholding of Fastek in the Investee Group
has been further diluted from 8.41% to 7.34%.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the management had
determined a fair value loss of approximately HK$5,761,000
(2022: HK$7,961,000) by reference to valuations carried out by an
independent qualified professional valuer. No dividends were received
on this investment during the year (2022: nil).

The fair value of the unlisted equity interest is assessed by market
approach which is considered that such method can reflect the going
concern of the investee and provide direct market reference on the
value from a group of comparable companies in the market. Details
on the valuation technique(s) and inputs used are set out in fair value
measurements of financial instruments in Note 6.

MR2016%F 11 A9H r MEE2EWEB AR Fastek
Investments Limited ([ Fastek]) B335 1% & 75 RIER AGT S
REEHE - ABELREH28,459,000/8 TREIE LT
A% AHEZS #)9.49% o FA2017F 1 8248 - FastekAIR &
RIEX2,372,000/8 70 — HREIE LT RAEZRH13
BRI - WIREH A —BIREER AR RENE
AR(FEIEREEEANFERNEBNEESLFRS - &
FEi - PEMEAGZN AEEE  REMEEER
BREBER AEEBHEREREERNREET
ERAFEFAEMZEWRES R ERE) - RREZZIE
BT FHEBBE AR -

2019 12A6H - —BBUE=FERBEIRETIF
ETRR AR M35 o Bt - FastekM R IRE £ E
HIREC HO.49%# HE8.41% °

BIE2022F6A30RILFE - MEBLE=AERE
WIREFIE L TRAEzRN S KA - Bt
Fastek M 1% & S B R T 841 % HEHE7.34% °

BIE2023F6H30RALFE EREL2E 2B
REREXMAEMET CHECSEEAFEBRDN
5,761,000/ 7T (20224 : 7,961,000/ 7T) © & Mf & 5t
ZIREWEAE AR B (20224 © &) -

SEEMRAE RN R FETVERMS A ETRE
ZIERER B ARRBIZTE TR ELEHR R - X
REMS L -ATELRARANEBEFEEETSZ
Z o RO ETEREABIRF BN e
ERMTAZRATENE -
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

22. NON-CURRENT DEPOSITS

; ///‘ ﬁ@g\‘\\\x\t\ 1z S;tem

22. FRBEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Rental deposits (Note 24) Hetms (Bat24) 1,744 826
23. INVENTORIES 23. 7€
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Finished goods LIRK on 525 790
24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24. E 5 R HAbEEWFRIE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Contract assets and trade receivables, BHEENRE S EWGIE
net of loss allowance R EIB 27,832 8,955
Rental deposits Hekse 2,747 2,659
Other deposits Hibike 375 482
Prepayments TEfTRIR 2,615 577
Other receivables, net of loss allowance H b U sRIE - HBRE B R 729 17,171
34,298 29,844
Less: Rental deposits (shown under B BeES GIASERBEE)
non-current assets) (1,744) (826)
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H A e FIE
(shown under current assets) FIARBEE) 32,554 29,018
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Included in the Group’s other receivables, prepayments and
deposits were rental deposits amounting to approximately
HK$1,744,000 (2022: approximately HK$826,000), which is
expected to be recovered or recognised as expenses after more
than one year. All of the other trade and other receivables are
expected to be recovered or recognised as expenses within one
year.

(a) Ageing analysis
The following is an ageing analysis of contract assets and
trade receivables (net of loss allowance), presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period
which approximated the respective revenue recognition

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £ 20236 A30H [t F &

24. ES R HMEWRIE#E)
SR E EE E U EE - FEN RIE RIS A
S REA)1, 744,000 7T (20224F = #9826,000/%8 7T.)
W eRe  EHENE—FRKE KR AR
¥ o EHEEME SR E BRI N —F
Ak E R ARY -

(a) ERER 7 #T
T ABRERSHAREZAH(HAZKA
HREHER) Z2VNEHNEERE FEI
RIEIBRBEES) MERE ST

dates:

2023 2022
202345 20224F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Contract assets EHEE 255 447

Trade receivables: B S rEWGE
1 to 30 days 1230H 4,283 7,706
31 to 60 days 31%60H 6,727 578
61 to 90 days 61%290H 4,666 224
More than 90 days HBiE90H 11,901 =
27,832 8,955

Trade receivables are usually due within 30 days (2022:
within 30 days) from the date of billing. Further details on
the Group’s credit policy are set out under “Credit risk” in
Note 6.

BHRWFRBEAHLREZ AE30
B R (2022% : 30HA)EIH - BAAKHE
EERRNE - FHBRRHEZ[EER

7 -
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25. LOAN RECEIVABLES 25. BEIWE R

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$'000 HK$000

FET FET

Loan receivables e E X 17,495 29,946
Less: Impairment loss B REEE (3,519) (10,567)
13,976 19,379

Loan receivables represent outstanding principals and interest
arising from the money lending business of the Group.

A maturity profile of the loan and interest receivables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the maturity date, net of
provision, is as follows:

EREFEREAKEEEXBZ HAREERS
KRS o

FEWE TR N M B R HIR BB B B HIBR B 5
B SR

2023 2022

2023% 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T/87T

0-90 days 0Z90H 2,811 8,059
91-180 days 91%180H - 11,320
181-365 days 181&365H 11,165 -
13,976 19,379

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
loan receivables so as to minimise credit risk by receiving
borrower’s and their guarantors’ financial positions. The
granting of loans is subject to approval by the management,
whilst overdue balances are reviewed regularly for
recoverability. As at 30 June 2023, loan receivables are
charging on effective interest rates mutually agreed with the
contracting parties, ranging from 9% to 15% (2022: 9% to
15%) per annum.

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT

AEBEHHEHKREERKER I KEFBREE
fl - BRBEEERAREERAZTBEMRR - A
RERECEERR BREERALHETEE
o WK TEAER M RS B R 2 PTRE I o
2023F6A30R ' EREFIRETH A EXRABEZ
BEBREMEGTE - FRHENFI%ZE15%(2022F :
9%ZE15%) °



25. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group has a policy for assessing the impairment on
loan receivables on an individual basis. The assessment
includes evaluation of collectability and ageing analysis of
the loan receivables and on management’s judgement on
creditworthiness, past collection history of each borrower and
forward-looking information.

Loan receivables with outstanding principal and interest
as at 30 June 2023 in aggregate amount of approximately
HK$3,519,000 (2022: approximately HK$10,567,000) which
have been past due and impaired as at the reporting date, and
additional impairment loss of approximately HK$22,000 (2022:
approximately HK$4,461,000) and reversal of impairment
loss of approximately HK$7,070,000 (2022: HK$Nil) were
respectively recognised for the year ended 30 June 2023.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group disposed
one of the loan receivables with outstanding principal and
interest in aggregate amount of approximately HK$13,836,000
and accumulated impairment loss of approximately
HK$6,392,000 to an independent third party at a consideration
of HK$7,000,000. As a result, loss on disposal of a loan
receivable of approximately HK$444,000 was recognised in
profit or loss during the year ended 30 June 2022.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in Note
6(ii)(B).

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023F6 A30R It F[E

25. BB R (&

A ER B 1% (8 51 E R (4 U E SR R B B IR
KR - FHEBREEWE Kz i W E G &R
o URERBHEBRAZEE  BEKEK
FOSR N ATHEME B F 2 FI T -

BE202356A300 R HEAS R A M
FEWE R ABEEL3,519,0008 7T (20224 : 49
10,567,000 ) + 5 R # % B HE M H &
- BXEE2023%6A308 1L FE 5 BB RE
SR RTRK22,00078 7L (20224 © 494,461,000
% 7) B (86 18 5 47,070,008 7t (2022
£ THT) -

BHZE202266A30BLEFEE AEBEURE
7,000,000 LB E=HFHE—FEHKEE
K MF|E4RE#)13,836,0007%8 T & B 51 RE
E518#96,392,0008 T EIE R - FItL » HE
2022F6A30RLLFE - RERBREE—$E
U & TR 518 49444,000/8 7T ©

ERASBEERRNE - HPHBHERME
6(ii)(B) °
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26.

27.

B3 4 & Fﬁ =
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES

26. FEURRAEE S FOIE

Maximum amount
outstanding during the year

REAMKENESSHE
At 30 June At 30 June
2023 2022 2023 2022
M2023F R20224F
6H30H 6H30H 2023 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000
FET FAET FET FAET
Associates i LN 2,524 793 2,524 793
A joint venture —fH&aERA 10 = 10 =
A non-controlling shareholder — % 3E1ZE AR AR R 156 = 200 =
2,690 793

Except for amounts due from an associate amounting to
approximately HK$2,426,000 bear interest ranging from 1% to
8% per annum and repayable within one year, the amounts are
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

B FE Uy — R B & A B RRIB 492,426,0008 7T + 1%
FHENF1%E8%TEBARN—FREESN -
FZRBEREER R NRAREREE -

27. RAREFFAEEZZERMEE

2023 2022
2023% 20224
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B et FHET FET
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong, at 12 A FEFIERNEE FH% ()
fair value REH 34,693 37,277
Suspended listed equity securities in T§Q$TE§|JHEE'J%§5%%H1$ (ii)
Hong Kong, at fair value BE LmRARE - 1,667
Unlisted equity securities in Hong Kong, BAFEHENEBIELET i)
at fair value f% A 35 5 17,369 20,327
Convertible bond in Hong Kong BEUBERES (iv) 1,544
Unlisted equity funds outside Hong Kong ~ &F#&IEINE FTIRAES (v) 11,951 =
65,557 59,271

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT



27. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes:

0}

(ii)

The amount represents equity securities listed in Hong Kong. The
fair values of the investments are determined with reference to
the quoted market bid prices in the Stock Exchange.

As at 30 June 2022, the fair value of the suspended listed equity
securities represents the equity securities of Beijing Gas Blue
Sky Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange with stock code: 6828) (“BG Blue Sky Shares”)
and EJE (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 8101) (“EJE
(Hong Kong) Shares”), which were determined by the Directors
with reference to valuations carried out by an independent
qualified professional valuer. During the year ended 30 June
2022, loss on change in fair value in respect of the BG Blue Sky
Shares and EJE (Hong Kong) Shares amounting to approximately
HK$343,000 and HK$994,000 respectively were recognised in
profit or loss.

On 25 July 2022, BG Blue Sky Shares had been resumed
trading upon the exchange notice by the Stock Exchange and
was classified as listed equity securities. During the year ended
30 June 2023, gain on change in fair value in respect of the BG
Blue Sky Shares amounting to approximately HK$335,000 was
recognised in profit or loss.

On 21 December 2022, EJE (Hong Kong) shares was delisted
from the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. During the year
ended 30 June 2023, the EJE (Hong Kong) Shares was classified
as unlisted equity securities.

As at 30 June 2022, BG Blue Sky Shares and EJE (Hong
Kong) shares were assessed by index return method, which
is a generally accepted approach in the industry. Details on
valuation technique(s) and inputs used are set out in fair value
measurements of financial instruments in Note 6.

Notes to the Cons ‘Financial Stateme
FREVKBERMTE
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023F6 A30R It F[E

27. RAVPEFABRSZERMEE(GE

Kt -

() FRFAENREBLTHERAES - REZAFE
TS ERBZAHRT S EABREE

(i)  M202296A30R - BIFEE LmKRAZESFHQ
FEEILRRRERZERER D E (— MR
PrERETHAR - RO - 6828) (ML KA
REREH D RERER(EB)ERERQF(—
P REE S PrER E R E - IREIASR - 8101)
(EREREBE)BRMD2BEAES  ERAES
B2EBUAERIEXMEMETZHEEE -
BUZE202266 H30H IEFE - RERBER BRI
PRRERXROEERER(FEE)ROAFEE
B 2 B85 51 £1343,0007%8 7T 2994,0008 7T °

720229 7A258 @ L RRRERIRGD ERBER
BEHZSABERMEEE - YHBEALETR
KFEH - HE2023F6A30R L5 E - NEzME
REBUERMRRERBRN ATEEZES 2 WEH
335,000/ 7T °

R2022% 128218 » EXR=E W% (EB) B B R
TETERBREE - BIE2023F6H830BILEE - 5
REMEB) BB A EAIELTRAES -

M20229F6A30R @ IERRREXBRHRERE
i (BB IR IR IE B 3 ORE TR - UL TR
RRBETTE - HERM &AM BHABEF SRR
e mEeEmMI A A FEHNE -
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

27. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(i) As at 30 June 2023, the fair value of the unlisted equity securities
represents the equity securities of Convoy Global Holdings
Limited (“Convoy Shares”) and EJE (Hong Kong) shares, which
were determined by the Directors with reference to valuations
carried out by an independent qualified professional valuer.
During the year ended 30 June 2023, loss on change in fair value
in respect of the Convoy Shares and EJE (Hong Kong) shares
amounting to approximately HK$3,929,000 and HK$Nil (2022:
approximately HK$6,490,000 and HK$994,000) were recognised
in profit or loss, respectively.

The fair value of Convoy Shares and EJE (Hong Kong) shares are
assessed by index return method, which is a generally accepted
approach in the industry. Details on the valuation technique(s)
and inputs used are set out in fair value measurements of
financial instruments in Note 6.

(iv) On 5 June 2023, the Group subscribed two-year maturity
3% coupon convertible bonds with a principal amount of
approximately HK$1,499,000 from a listed company incorporated
in Hong Kong, During the year ended 30 June 2023, gain
on change in fair value in respect of the convertible bonds
amounting to approximately HK$45,000 (2022: HK$Nil) was
recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value of the convertible bonds is assessed by discounted
cash flow model and Binomial option pricing model with
reference to the valuations carried out by an independent
qualified professional valuer, which is a generally accepted
approach in the industry. Details on the valuation technique(s)
and inputs used are set out in fair value measurements of
financial instruments in Note 6.

(v)  The unlisted equity funds at fair value represent the investments
placed to private funds incorporated in the Cayman Islands.

28. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances carried interest at market rates ranging from
0.875% 10 0.9% (2022: 0.001% to 0.05%) per annum.

27. BAFEFAEBRZEZEREE(E)

Hret o ()

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

28. $R1T

72023F6A30R @ F EMBRAEZFN A FERE
BRRHERERARNZBRAER(EREMD )
&E%Eu‘%(%%)ﬁ%ﬂ HBBERE2E 45

UAEREXGEMET ZAEEE - 8122023
¢6H3OEIJJ:¢J‘“=‘ FHRREROEERER(F
BIRG A TFEZE 2 BB 543,929,000 T

K Z 7 7T (20224F ¢ 496,490,0007% 7T &% 994,000
BIDPMERTER °

FERRGRERER (F8) R 2 A FERIEH
ARG - UL HEADROIE - (R
i B PR A BB B P L B R 6 O T A
ZAFEE -

M2023F6A58 - AEEEB —MBEAZMKLH

T ATREARSEEL1,499,000/8 T R E H
ZE3% 2 ARRES - HZE2023F6A30A LF
E - AEWIRRES A FEE S 2 U5445,000
IT (20224 1 THEIT) R IEEIER ©

AHEEFZ ATELZE -2 BUABEREE
1ﬁf§Em%&/_Z{ﬁ@&ﬁﬁiﬁ;ﬁ%/m§$§_t&—I,E\_t
R BEETHE W DEARRNTE -
HERN B AREFBRNEeT NS
BMTAZRAFHEE -

BAFEASNFELTRAESENRESHEST
MRINLEESKRE -

FBREAE

RITHEBRIZN T EF0.875%ZE0.9% (20224 -
0.001%Z0.05%) KI5 F TR °
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & %= 20234

0 e

6A30E IEFE

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 29. E5 R HMEMRNKIE

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade payables E S ENFE 16,566 4,164
Other payables HAtb T RE 1,143 844

Accrued tutor contractor fee, salary and other EATEMARE  Fek
accruals HihEsTE A 4,135 4,597
21,844 9,605

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled
within one year or are repayable on demand.

Included in trade and other payables are trade creditors with
the following ageing analysis, based on the invoice date, as of
the end of the reporting period:

BESREMENFRBRRRIRN —FREEL
BERERE -

AT REAE S MEMENRIAZ ENE SR
(EREZAPBERSHRZIRE DN

2023 2022

2023% 20224

HK$’000 HK$000

FET FET

1 to 30 days 1£30H 4,104 4,076
31 to 60 days 31£60H 7,772 50
61 to 90 days 61£290H 4,674 13
More than 90 days HB3890H 16 25
16,566 4,164
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30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 30. BB E
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET
Provision of private educational services RRIEFAHE RIS
— advances received from customers - BRP KRR 3,271 1,841

BRAET2ERRHILAZE RB RSB LRI
MIRMNREER - Fit - WATEE AR B

private educational services, for which revenue is recognised R o

The contract liabilities primarily related to the advance
consideration received from the students for the provision of

when the services have been rendered.

BHAENZESHANT

The movements in contract liabilities are summarised as
follows:

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FA&T
At beginning of the year REY] 1,841 5,992
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 39) HE—RIk B AR (B£39) = (2,190)
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of ARFVIRRETAGHEED
recognising revenue during the year that was FRKEEEHNEERD
included in contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year (1,811) (3,710)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of Em R BALALRE R MSEE
receiving advance consideration from the WERFERREFEE DA EIE M
students for the provision of private educational
services 16,555 13,766
Decrease in contract liabilities as a revenue HFmlam 2 st AF AR
during the year that was included in new FeathaEFEenaERD
contract liabilities entered during the year (13,314) (12,017)
At end of the year REFR 3,271 1,841

BN —FAERR/RENENTRRFESRER
#93,271,0007 7T (20224 1,841,000/ 7T) °

The amount of billings in advance of performance expected
to be recognised as revenue within one year is approximately
HK$3,271,000 (2022: HK$1,841,000).
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & %= 20234

31. LEASE LIABILITIES 31. HEAE

6

H30H LEFE

The following table shows the Group’s lease liabilities at the TRINTASEERRERRNEEARE -

end of reporting period:

repayable on demand.

2023 2022
202345 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Within 1 year —F RN 5,131 4,405
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMENRN 2,748 1,361
After 2 years but within 5 years MERBRFA 793 732
3,541 2,093
At 30 June 2023 202396 530H 8,672 6,498
32. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 32. E{JEAEE S TR
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Amounts due to a director of Bachelor Education JENEZ+#=HR A7
Centre Limited (“Bachelor Education Centre”) ([BEHZE)—RESEHE 300 300
Amount due to a director of UFO Digital JERHEF B ST IREE AR N )
Entertainment Limited (“UFO DE”) (B RHIEIRE])
—REHRNIAE 130 -
430 300
The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and ZEFEVEERR B MIEERERE -
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33.

34.

BB REME
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

OTHER BORROWING

As at 30 June 2023, other borrowing of the Group from
an independent third party was secured by the corporate
guarantee executed by the Company, repayable within one year
and carried a fixed interest rate at 11% per annum.

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following are the deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised
and movements thereon during both years:

33.

34.

Hitbfa =k

20236 A30R « AEEA—BBLE=HH
B A RBA R R 2 CEERIEER - AR
—FRERLEETFREIL%EE -

NN

ELEHRERE
AT B I 4 RO IEIE BB 4 2 (& ) Bt
28 :

Accelerated

Intangible tax
assets  depreciation Total
BREE MEHERE et
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FET FET
At 1 July 2021 202147 A 18 1 (89) (88)
Credited to profit or loss during the year FFAFRERE = = =

At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 1202246 730 220224

7H1H 1 (89) (88)
Credited to profit or loss during the year FFAFEANERE (1) 89 88
At 30 June 2023 72023F 6 A30H - - -

As the end of the reporting period, the Group has not
recognised deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax
losses of approximately HK$542,161,000 (2022: approximately
HK$508,657,000) and deductible temporary differences
of approximately HK$6,700,000 (2022: approximately
HK$7,258,000) as it is not probable that future taxable profits,
against which the assets can be utilised, will be available in any
relevant tax jurisdiction or entity.

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT

RBEMKR - ARREFABEARERERRELE
BTAMREAERRERB AN B BEE - BA
SEYWEE BRI HIAEELL42,161,0008
7T (20224 1 #9508,657,00078 7T) K A H1 8 & B
ZFH#6,700,000/% 7T (20224 : #97,258,0007%8
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023F6 A30R It F[E

35. PROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS 35. RIS RE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
At beginning of the year HREY) 432 533
Credited to profit or loss during the year FFAFEAER (64) (71)
Reduction arising from payments NREE 2R 9) (30)
At end of the year RER 359 432

The provision for long service payments is based on the
best estimate of the future payments required to settle the
obligations under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance in
relation to the employees of the Group in Hong Kong.

In June 2022, the Government of the Hong Kong SAR (the
“Government”) gazetted the Hong Kong Employment and
Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”),
which will eventually abolish the statutory right of an employer
to reduce its long service payment (“LSP”) and severance
payment payable to a Hong Kong employee by drawing on
its mandatory contributions to the mandatory provident fund
(“MPE") scheme (also known as the “offsetting mechanism”).
The Government has subsequently announced that the
Amendment Ordinance will come into effect from 1 May 2025
(the “Transition Date”). Separately, the Government is also
expected to introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers
after the abolition.

RERB S BRETDERH AR RO REGHE
H o MARRNSRTBABETRIEE B REE G
AEBERBNEBRARENESE -

R2022F6 A BEFEBRA ((HRFDRERT
(20225 F B B R KRG 8UED GRIHZ HF)
EFD B (MERTRB)) - 15RO A H RE R (B
TREEHRGIMELES (RES]) SR
HHFARDHEENEBREENRIRE 2 (R
IR £ 1) KB BB ROXTE RN (TR B[ 5 i
#1) - BFBERE M - ERT &G 820255541
B(@EBMDELERR - I - BHBRF RS S
Heh —TREBYET &) - ATEEUB SR I 1 Bh 8
x o
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234

(Continued)

Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting
mechanism takes effect, an employer can no longer use
any of the accrued benefits derived from its mandatory MPF
contributions (irrespective of the contributions made before, on
or after the Transition Date) to reduce the LSP in respect of an
employee’s service from the Transition Date. However, where
an employee’s employment commenced before the Transition
Date, the employer can continue to use the above accrued
benefits to reduce the LSP in respect of the employee’s service
up to that date; in addition, the LSP in respect of the service
before the Transition Date will be calculated based on the
employee’s monthly salary immediately before the Transition
Date and the years of service up to that date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong” that provides guidance on the accounting considerations
relating to the offsetting mechanism and the abolition of
the mechanism. In particular, the guidance indicates that
entities may account for the accrued benefits derived from
its mandatory MPF contributions that are expected to be
used to reduce the LSP payable to an employee as deemed
contributions by that employee towards the LSP. However,
applying this approach, upon the enactment of the Amendment
Ordinance in June 2022, it is no longer permissible to apply
the practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 and
recognise such deemed contributions as reduction of current
service cost in the period the related service is rendered, and
any impact from ceasing to apply the practical expedient is
recognised as a catch-up adjustment in profit or loss with a
corresponding adjustment to the LSP liability during the year
ended 30 June 2022.

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT
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36.

PROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS
(Continued)

In these consolidated financial statements and in prior periods,
consistent with the HKICPA guidance, the Group has been
accounting for the accrued benefits derived from its mandatory
MPF contributions that are expected to be used to reduce the
LSP payable to an employee as deemed employee contributions
towards the LSP. However, the Group has been applying the
abovementioned practical expedient. The Group has assessed
the implications of this new guidance on the above accounting
policies and has decided to change those accounting policies to
conform with the guidance. The management has commenced
the processes on implementing the change including additional
data collection and impact assessment. However, the impact
of the change is not reasonably estimable at the time these
consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue,
as the Group has yet to fully complete its assessment of the
impact of the HKICPA guidance. The Group expects to adopt
this guidance with retrospective application in its annual
financial statements for the year ending 30 June 2024.

Notes to the Consolic
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35. RIS BB (E

RZFFEEMHEREILDBENE - REFES
ARV AEIES B AEE-BESEHARR
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EENRFREANABRARIRESORIEEEH
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ERFEHERETEPEAZIES

SHARE CAPITAL 36. A
Number of
shares Amount
R EE S8
HK$'000
TFET
Authorised EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each BREEC.0SB T T R
At 1 July 2021, 30 June 2022 and M2021%F7A18 * 20226 A
30 June 2023 30H & 2023%F6A30H 6,000,000,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid B#TRHE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each FREEEO.05 Jr Y E 3@ i
At 1 July 2021, 30 June 2022 and 20217818 ~ 202246 A
30 June 2023 30H & 2023%F6A30H 596,430,880 29,822

The shares issued rank pari passu with other shares of the
Company in issue in all respects. None of the Company or its
subsidiaries repurchased, sold, redeemed or cancelled any of
the Company’s shares during the years ended 30 June 2023
and 2022.

BERTERONAETEHEARREHITZHMK
RSEHAL o 220235 & 202246 H30H

e

B S ERAR R
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 37. BRAERTE

236

The Company has a share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme 2021") which was adopted pursuant to a resolution
in writing of all shareholders passed on 4 December 2020 and
became effective on 8 December 2020 (“Effective Date”). The
purposes of the Share Option Scheme 2021 are to attract and
retain the best available personnel and to provide additional
incentives or rewards employees and the directors of the Group
and the associated company (“Associated Companies”) for
their contribution to, and to promote the success of the Group
and the Associated Companies. The Share Option Scheme
2021 shall be valid and effecting for a period commencing from
the Effective Date and expiring at 5:00 p.m. on the business
day preceding the tenth anniversary of the Effective Date.

The total number of shares of the Company available for issue
under Share Option Scheme 2021 must not in aggregate,
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company at the
Effective Date.

The maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise of the
options which may be granted under Share Option Scheme
2021 (including exercised, cancelled or outstanding options)
to each participant (other than a substantial shareholder, chief
executive or director as explained below) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company for the time being. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules),
are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-executive
Director who is the grantee of the options). In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director of the Company, or to any
of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue with an aggregate value (based on
the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of the
grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of grant, are subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options, which may specify
the minimum period for which the options must be held
before they can be exercised, may be accepted in writing
by a participant within 21 days from the date of offer upon
payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 by the grantee.
No consideration is payable on the grant of an option. The
exercise period for the share options granted is determined by
the Directors, which period may commence from the date of
acceptance of the offer for the grant of share options but shall
end, in any event, not later than 10 years from the date of the
conditional adoption of the Share Option Scheme 2021 by the
shareholders subject to the provisions for early termination
under the Share Option Scheme 2021.

Notes to the Con
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 37. BRAESHEI(E
Details of the share options granted under the Share Option FRRIB221FEREFEIMNARFES - EE
Scheme 2021 to Directors, employees and other eligible REMEERZEERTMBREREEEH 25
participants of the Company and movement in such holding =N

during the year are as follows:

Granted Outstanding
during at 30 June

Exercisable Outstanding the year 2022, 1 July
price at 1 July ended 30 2022 and
Date of grant Exercisable period per share 2021 June 2022 30 June 2023
H2022%F
68308 -
2022%F
Bz 718K
H2021% 2022F 2023%F
BRRH 781H 6830H 6830H
RHAH TS TfEE i R AT EEERE e RATHE
Director 30.06.2022 30.06.2022 t0 29.06.2025 1.76 - 5,808,000 5,808,000
) 2022%6A30H 2022683062
2025%6A29H
Employees 30.06.2022 30.06.2022 t0 29.06.2025 1.76 - 52,272,000 52,272,000
EE 2022%6A30H 20226683082
2025%6A29H
Total - 58,080,000 58,080,000
@
Exercisable at end
of the year - 58,080,000 58,080,000
RERATE
Weighted average
exercise price (HK$) - 1.76 1.76
IETEHTEE(ET)
During the year ended 30 June 2022, 58,080,000 options were HZE2022F6 A30H [EFE + 58,080,00017 & i
granted to the Group’s Directors and employees on 30 June HER2022F6 A30ER TASEEERES ° &
2022. The Group recognised total expense of approximately ZE202266H30B ILFE - AEEF AR A MR
HK$19,058,000 for the year ended 30 June 2022 in profit or SEHEEREERLBERENBETEREH
loss in relation to share options granted by the Company to % #919,058,000% 7T &£ 202296 A30H L5
the Group’s Directors and employees. The weighted average B BRI EAEEESREENBRENGTZHH
fair value of share options granted to the Group’s Directors KN R E AN T HERE03IBIT -

and employees during the year ended 30 June 2022 at
measurement date was approximately HK$0.33 per option.
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 37. BRAESHEI(E
The share options of the Group are accounted for equity share- AEERERERBEEVBREENE2HA
based payment under HKFRS 2. RS BERARGD BERE 2K -
Options granted are fully vested at the date of grant. BRENR L AEEES -
The fair values of the share options granted to Directors and RTESREENEREZATFENFEAZER
employees were calculated using the binomial option pricing T EENTUHE - A HEEERA M
model. The inputs into the binomial option pricing model were R ABENT
as follows:
Date of grant 30 June 2022
BB 2022%6HA30H
Closing share price at the date of grant PR A BRI E HK$1.7678 7T
Exercise price T(E(E HK$1.7678 7T
Contractual option life BRI R 3 yearsF
Risk-free rate [ ) & 2.62%
Annualised dividend yield FREER 0%
Expected volatility of underlying share TEEERAD M TE R IR 48.85%
Expected exercise multiple TEERTTEE &L 2.2X—2.8X
Expected volatility was determined by using the historical TEHRE 18 Ty AN A RIR% (& HA R B AR 4 TR HA 7 HR
volatility of the Company’s share price over the most recent MRz R BMELIRIBET -
period commensurate with the expected life of the share
options.
The fair values were calculated by an independent qualified REETH—BBULAEREEGEERM TG
professional valuer. (=R
During the year ended 30 June 2023, no share option was HE2023F6A30R I FE - WHEBREER
granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed. o AT - FESEEARRK -
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38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 38.
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash

BEETHELERAENYHIR

TERHNAEEREETHMELRENES &
ERENFRESEY  METHMELNAER
REMEFIRRREREFNAKEGZESREIN
BERDVBRAREZPAENRSRE -

changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in

the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows

from financing activities.

Amounts
due to
Lease related Other
liabilities parties borrowing Total
EBEES
HERE HE HirfE % @it
(Note 31) (Note 32) (Note 33)
(#:331) (32 (H##£33)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 July 2021 R202147R1H 7,603 977 - 8,580
Repayment to related parties bl ] = (104) - (104)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BNHEERECEATS (5,396) = = (5,396)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ERNHERS 2 FEHD (950) - - (950)
Non-cash changes: I EE :
Finance costs HBER 950 = = 950
New leases entered HIVE i) 5,361 = = 5,361
Lease modifications MEBE] (303) - - (303)
Decrease resulting from disposal of a subsidiary 15— B2 7] £ 4 #jm
(Note 39) (B5#39) (617) (573) - (1,190)
Rent concessions received BUBHASER (150) = = (150)
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 202246 A308 k202257 F1H 6,498 300 - 6,798
Advance from related parties B @ 7 B0 = 130 = 130
Other borrowing raised g EMER = = 31,000 31,000
Repayment of other borrowing EREMER = = (10,000) (10,000)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEERE 2 EARLS (5,903) = = (5,903)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BERHERE 2 FMESS (1,039) = - (1,039)
Interest paid on other borrowing BENEMERFIE = = (1,001) (1,001)
Non-cash changes: HH2E
Finance costs HKER 1,039 = 1,064 2,103
New leases entered HIRE ik 8,839 = = 8,839
Lease modifications MEB (762) - - (762)
At 30 June 2023 7202368308 8,672 430 21,063 30,165

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT




39. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

Disposal of a subsidiary during the year ended 30
June 2022

On 15 November 2021, the Group disposed of its 100% equity
interest in Wind Fly to an independent third party at a cash
consideration of HK$50,000.

The net liabilities of Wind Fly at the date of disposal were as

U
5

)

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023%6 4308 [t F €

39. HE— KB RQ T

REZE2022F6 A30H L FEHE—MH
B8 2 &

F2021411A158 « A& MR £ K E50,000
ALA—BBLF =S HEANTERENZH

REERH - TERENREFEOT

B

follows:
Wind Fly
TEREE
HK$'000
FET
Assets EE
Property, plant and equipment (Note 15) VI - BB L& EHEF15) 2
Right-of-use assets (Note 16) FRAEEEWFI6) 495
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H A fE Y FIR 539
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBeEEY 29
Liabilities =N
Other payables and accruals HEmErRIENEEA (261)
Amounts due to a director R —REEHIE (573)
Contract liabilities ABHEE (2,190)
Lease liabilities HEEE (617)
(2,576)
Goodwill arising from acquisition of Wind Fly RBEFERBETEREEENDE
in prior years, net of impairment losses MR REEE 1,956
Net identifiable liabilities attributable to owners of ~ ANEE#EA A BIE A5 & & F58
the Group (620)
Gain on disposal MEEE W 670
50
Satisfied by: FERATHAER
Cash consideration RENRE 50
Net cash inflow arising on disposal HEMELENBESRANTE
Cash consideration BeERE 50
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of It ERE KB EEFED (29)
21
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HEMBHRERME
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

40. LITIGATION

on)

On 19 December 2017, Fastek received a writ of
summons (“Writ”) with statement of claim issued in the
Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong
(“CF1”) by Convoy and certain subsidiaries of Convoy
(“Plaintiffs”) to claim an order against Fastek, as one
of the placees under the placing of Convoy Shares
conducted in October 2015, that Fastek wrongly placed
the Convoy Shares and wrongly received certain circular
financing facilities by one of the Plaintiffs.

On 31 May 2018, the Plaintiffs filed an amended
statement of claim (“Amended SoC”) against, among
other defendants, Fastek, pursuant to which:

(i) Convoy (the 1st plaintiff) seeks, inter alia, (i) a
declaration and order as against the placees that
the allotment of the Convoy Shares is null and void
or has been rescinded and set aside; (ii) an account
of profits and an order for payment of any sums
found to be due, equitable compensation to be
assessed, and/or damages to be assessed for breach
of fiduciary, common law and/or statutory duties,
dishonest assistance, unlawful means conspiracy
and/or lawful means conspiracy, as against, among
others, Fastek;

(i)  Convoy Collateral Limited and CSL Securities
Limited (the 2nd plaintiff and the 3rd plaintiff) seek,
inter alia, an order against, among others, Fastek
as one of the direct recipients of funds under the
said circular financing arrangement for an account
of profits and an order for payment of any sums
found to be due, equitable compensation to be
assessed, and/or damages to be assessed for breach
of fiduciary, common law and/or statutory duties,
dishonest assistance, unlawful means conspiracy
and/or lawful means conspiracy; and

(iii) the Plaintiffs seek against all the defendants (a)

general or special damages; (b) interests; (c) costs;

(d) further and/or other reliefs.

40.

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT
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40. LITIGATION (Continued)

o))

(Continued)

On 5 June 2018, the solicitors for Fastek received a letter
from the solicitors for the Plaintiffs dated 4 June 2018
which clarified that the Amended SoC (which states “re-
filed on 31 May 2018") served on Fastek on 31 May
2018 has yet to be officially filed in the CFI pending the
resolutions of the Plaintiffs’ applications lodged with Mr.
Justice Harris on 4 June 2018 to amend the statement of
claim and to add new parties by amending the Writ.

On 25 July 2018, Fastek received a sealed order of the
hearing for the Plaintiffs’ summons held on 28 June 2018
(“Order”). Pursuant to the Order, it is ordered, among
other matters, that as between the Plaintiffs and Fastek
(among certain other defendants), the Plaintiffs do have
leave to file and serve the Amended SoC. On 9 July 2018,
the Plaintiffs served on Fastek copies of the amended Writ
and Amended SoC.

Pursuant to the order of Mr. Justice Harris granted on
12 July 2019, the Plaintiffs have filed and served its re-
amended Writ and the re-amended statement of claim on
16 July 2019.

The Plaintiffs filed and served their reply to Fastek’s
defence filed on 18 October 2018 on 13 February 2020.

Thereafter, the Plaintiffs filed their re-re-amended
statement of claim on 27 July 2020 pursuant to the order
of Mr. Justice Harris granted during the hearing of the
striking out application taken out by the 26th defendant
on 9 January 2020.

40. &
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40. LITIGATION (Continued)

(2) On 2 January 2018, Fastek received a petition dated 27
December 2017 made by the petitioner filed with the
CFl, whereby the petitioner seeks, among other things, a
declaration that the placement of Convoy Shares to Fastek
in October 2015 is void ab initio and of no legal effect.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 19
December 2017, 2 January 2018, 4 June 2018, 7 June 2018
and 25 July 2018 for details on the litigations involving the
Group.

Given that the litigations are still at a preliminary stage and
has not gone into substantive pleading stage, and having
considered the alleged claims and consulted with the
Company’s legal advisers, the Directors are of the views that
(i) it is premature to assess the possible outcome of any claim
which is pending, either individually or on a combined basis;
(ii) it is uncertain as to whether there will be any impact, and
if so, the quantum, on the financial position of the Group; and
(iii) no provision for the claims in these legal proceedings is
required to be made based on their current development. The
Directors will monitor these litigations against the Group closely
and the Company will continue to keep the shareholders of
the Company and potential investors informed of any further
material development.

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £ 20236 A30H [t F &

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 41. B AR S

(a) Parties are considered to be related if one party has, (@) fW—HBRENES — HIEHT 7 RACERE
directly or indirectly, the ability to control or jointly control REEXREER SRS —FE
or has significant influence over the other party in making EATE AT SWRERES —H WA
financial and operating decisions. The management is of 7o BEERA  UTARRFAMEKEH
the view that the following company was related party that EITERARZHE EHIOBER R -
had significant transactions or balances with the Group
during the year.
Name of related party Relationship with the Group
B £ HEAEBWER
|IAHGames Hong Kong Limited A company controlled by one of the directors of certain subsidiaries

of the Company
AREETHBAREF —BESZH A

(b) Save as the balances with related parties as disclosed in (b) BREGETBRRARMEFEEBE 5L
the consolidated statement of financial position, the Group N REBRFRNEBEBFEI A TEAR
entered into the following significant transactions with 2

(c)

related party during the year:

2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FAET
Sales income from: REUATRELZHEWA :
—-IAHGames Hong Kong Limited — IAHGames Hong Kong Limited 420 -
The key management personnel includes Directors and (c)

%%‘: AEBEEERARFEEBITH
B MAESEINHMESRMELILP

chief executive of the Company and the compensation

o

B>

paid to them is disclosed in Note 11.
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W

42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42. T EHBAT
Particulars of Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 30 June AARNR2023F6 4308 2 = EHB AR FFIEH
2023 are set out as follows: FAR

Issued and fully paid

Name of Place of incorporation/ share capital/ Attributable equity
principal subsidiary establishment Place of operation  registered capital interest of the Group Principal activities
BRITRAR
TEMBARER M/ R mEnE RE/ZRA  AEBEGRAER  FEER
2023 2022

20235 20204

Able Investment Development Limited 2 BV Hong Kong 1S$10,000 - 88.75%  2023: Deregistered
(2022: Investment
holding)

NMRREZRERAR? EERREHS BE 10,000% 7T 2023F | i

(20225 : RERR)

Bachelor Education Centre Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 88.75%  Inactive

E+H=E & i 10,000 7T BEK

Intelligent Education Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Inactive

RRABEAEERAA Bl A 100% 7 BEK

Modern Education (Hong Kong) Limited  Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$41,429,473 100% 100%  Provision of tutoring

services

ARHUE (BER)ERAA B A 414294733 T REBHERS

Rosy Lane Investments Limited ! BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EERLHS A 1%7T RERR

Sino Network ! BVI Hong Kong 1S$13,983 100% 100%  Investment holding
EERLHS A 13983% T RERR

Wise Action Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Inactive

BEERAA 3 A 10,0007 BEH

China Rich Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000 100% 100%  Money lending

25 Bl A 1,000% 7 fE&

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT



For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023%6 4308 [t F €

42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 42. TENB AT (F
Particulars of Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 30 June RARNR2023F6 4308 2 EEHB AR FFIFH

2023 are set out as follows: (Continued) R - (&)

Issued and fully paid

Name of Place of incorporation/ share capital/ Attributable equity
principal subsidiary establishment Place of operation registered capital interest of the Group Principal activities
BRITRAR
TEMBARER i/ L mEn RE/ZMRA  AEBEGRAER  FEER
2023 2022
2023%F 20226
Modern Bachelor Education Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Provision of primary
tutoring services,
skill courses and test
preparation courses
B8t A A 10,000/ 7T R NEHERT -
RERERESRE
Fastek BV Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment in securities
ERRLHS A %7 REES
Central Talent Holdings Limited BVI Hong Kong Us$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
ERRLHS G %7 RERR
Modern iClass Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Provision of interest classes
BRETHEERAA EE & 1007t RAtEEN
Lucky Joy Investment Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Provision of physical offices
to fellow subsidiaries
EEREARAT &k B 10,000% 7T RAZMBAFARHEER
/N
Noble Heartland Limited ! BV Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
AERLES A IES RERR
Cosmic Path Holdings Limited BV Hong Kong US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
AERLES A 100%7T RERR
Wisdom Union Holdings Limited * BV Hong Kong US$4,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
AERLES Eh 4,000%7T RERR
Paramount Ride Limited ! BV Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
AERLES A IES RERR
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42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 30 June

2023 are set out as follows: (Continued)

42. T EMB AT (&
AATIN2023E6H308 2 F BH B A T EBER
BN ¢ ()

Issued and fully paid

Name of Place of incorporation/ share capital/ Attributable equity
principal subsidiary establishment Place of operation  registered capital interest of the Group Principal activities
BRITRAR
TENBARER M/ R LEwY RE/ZRA  AEBEGRAER  FEER
2023 2022
2023%F 20205

Diligent Lush Holdings Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Inactive

HYERERAA EERAES G IE BEK

Smart Now Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment in securities

BAERAT & i L&T REES

GO VR Immersive Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 60% 60%  Trading of VR and gaming
products and provision
of related services
and provision of STEAM
education services

RRERIEBRERAA 3 B 10,0007 VREBEEME 5 IR
AR AR DA R R
STEAM#E fR#%s

UFO DE Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 60% 60%  Trading of VR and gaming
products

B RBERY 3 B 1007t VREEBERES

1 The companies are directly held by the Company. All other 1 ZERFARRAREERE - MEHEMIHEBRR

subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company. AARRIEERSR -
2 The company was deregistered on 31 January 2023. 2 HARIN2023F1A31HEH -

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at

the end of, or during, either reporting period.

RBERARKBERR - HLEHNE QB EA T
HARITENERHES

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT



42.

43.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affect the results or
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

As at 30 June 2023 and 2022, there were no non-controlling
interests material to the Group.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operated a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The
assets of the MPF Scheme were held separately from those
of the Group in funds under the control of an independent
trustee. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the scheme at rate specified in the rules. The only obligation
of the Group with respect of MPF Scheme was to make the
required contributions under the scheme. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees and each required
to make contribution to the scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000 effective from 1 June 2014 for the MPF Scheme.
Contributions to the scheme vest immediately, there is no
forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group to reduce
the existing level of contribution.

The employees employed in the PRC are members of the
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the
PRC government. Each of the PRC subsidiaries is required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement
benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefit schemes
is to make the required contributions under the schemes.
Under the state-managed retirement benefit scheme, the
contributions once made by the employer will vest fully with
the employees, and no forfeited contribution available for the
Group. Accordingly, there is no forfeited contribution available
for the Group to reduce its existing level of contributions to the
retirement benefit scheme in future years.

The total cost charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of approximately
HK$1,070,000 (2022: approximately HK$1,086,000)
represented contributions payable to the above schemes by the
Group during the year ended 30 June 2023.

Notes to the Consolidated Fina;éial Staté

REUBERHE

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023F6 A30R It F[E

42.

43.

TENEARE
ERFFIZAARNBAF  DEERAHAS
B AR EAEATAREZHEBAT - EHR
B B ERIE AR SRS E A
RITE -

20234 K 20226 A308 BB ALEMS
EEEPN: B e E il

EBIRBEREE
REBEBREBAFNMERESHBKN AT BHME
AEREERBHEAFE B ((HRESF
2l - RBERIENEEEB BB ILALE
FINESHEAEBEMBEESHEES - RikRiE
SEEIMAE - EEREEE D RIERBARTHA
MR M EEEHR - AEBMERBESTEN
M— BT AREZTEEE TR HK - RIERE
8  BEEREEESAERESEEBAKRA
(ZHFEETE B2014F6 A1 HEERNER A
AU A Z EBR30,0007 TTATIRRR) 2 5% M 5T 2]t
oo FTEMEZRBNESRE - WED U R AT AR
SEANREREHIKTE -

NS

RPBEXENREESEPEBRARINERE
BERAENE - STEMBARBREEER
FMONETA I LMZFRABAEIHRR - B
ZERAMRHEE S - NEEE RGN B0
—EERRBREFEELAFERR - REERERE
BAEMETE - BE—BELHR - HREER
RETES  AKENADUER - Hitt - #i8E
BOR WA R A] (AR 5= [ O R SR 4R [ FR R IR AR A
B2 BBEEFOKF -

RigaBEkEM2ERERPHIBRZABRY
1,070,000 7T (20224 : #91,086,00078 L) 36 A
EENEE2023F6 A308 Lt FEAE Lzt 2l
FEBIAN 2 TR -
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

!

\|

1
es
HREVHBEME
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & Z2023F6 A30H Lt F /&

A

4 @

44, R BRI B b 4 2=

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FéET FHET

Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment in subsidiaries R BRRRRE 353 353

Current assets mBEE
Prepayments and other deposits FEMFE R AL 159 180
Amounts due from subsidiaries Nl EEPNGIE 96,968 126,476
Amount due from an associate FES — BB 2 A R FIE 2,524 -
Bank balances and cash R1TEEBRNMIRS 4,644 343
104,295 126,999
Current liabilities mEEE

Accruals R4 814 1,528
Amounts due to subsidiaries Rl EPNGIE 64,010 64,031
64,824 65,559
Net current assets MEVEEFE 39,471 61,440
Net assets BEFE 39,824 61,793

Capital and reserves BEARK G
Share capital [E&N 29,822 29,822
Reserves (Note) 1 (KT at) 10,002 31,971
Total equity R BRE 39,824 61,793

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved
and authorised for issue by the board of Directors on 22
September 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Yip Kai Pong
ERF

Director

EZE

250 Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JRFEHZE (B E LB BR AR

Li Ming Him
Xk

Director

EFE

RRARNF BN REN2023FIA2ARES
SHERIRETIE - WA TIATRREE



44, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 44. XA EIMBR R R EEERE
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note: Hiet -
Movement in the Company’s reserves are as follows: AARIFEEZSHOT -
Share
Share Contributed Merger options  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
R E BaRH afRE BRERE EY ] @t
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
FHET FAET FHET FAET FET FHET
At 1 July 2021 R2021%€7A1R 451,044 386,954 (28,079) - (745,442) 64,477
Loss and total comprehensive FEBBREZERAL
expense for the year ekl - - - - (51,564) (51,564)
Equity seftled share-based EREE ARG A
transactions EfRNR5 = = = 19,058 = 19,058
At30June 2022 and 1July 2022 720229 6A30A &
2022%7R18 451,044 386,954 (28,079) 19,058 (797,006) 31,971
Loss and total comprehensive FEBBRZERAY
expense for the year ekl - - - - (21,969) (21,969)
At 30 June 2023 #2023%F6A30H 451,044 386,954 (28,079) 19,058 (818,975) 10,002

45.

46.

Notes to the

FREVKBERMTE
For the year ended 30 June 2023 & £2023F6 A30R It F[E

At 30 June 2023 and 2022, the Company had no reserves
available for distribution in accordance with the Company Law
of Bermuda.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

The fair values of listed equity securities are determined based
on the quoted market closing price available on the Main Board
and GEM of the Stock Exchange at the end of the reporting
period.

As at the date of the board of Directors’ approval of these
consolidated financial statements, the realised and unrealised
losses on financial assets at FVPL from changes in fair value on
financial assets at FVPL held as at 30 June 2023 amounted to
approximately HK$1,222,000 and HK$5,850,000 respectively.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform
with the current year’s presentation.

45.

46.

20234 k202246 A30R + AR A A M #E ]
HRBAREQREETOIR °

BEMRER
E AR H A FE TR B EE AT IR M GEM
RERRABOTIZRTEREE

REFSHEZFHREVBHRERBEH - R2023F
6A30BEFKANZATEAABENEREER
FEEPEBARTEFENEREENEER
RAREEEE S BIA1,222,000/% 7T 1 5,850,000
ABTT

EEEmEF

ETHBBFRENNE  UNEAFENZT
AR e
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The following is a summary of the published results and assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years prepared on the

basis set out in the notes below.

AT BAREEIZ T XM EMEEEREEE D EN K
FENDTHERRENEERREHR -

RESULTS EF
Year ended 30 June
BZE6H30BLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20235 20224 20214 20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FETL FETL FET
Revenue WA 117,612 90,048 43,301 67,243 108,940
(Loss) profit before tax BF AT (E518) @ A (27,205) (32,647) 3,825 (107,260) (76,895)
Income tax (expense) s (A EE
credit (1,446) - (65) 53 65
(Loss) profit for the year & (E518) % F (28,651) (32,647) 3,760 (107,207) (76,830)
(Loss) profit for the year LA N ALEIEFEE
attributable to: (E518)m 7 -
Owners of the Company AR THEA A (28,541) (32,892) 3,617 (107,194) (77,438)
Non-controlling interests ~ 3EZEp&#E 25 (110) 245 143 (13) 608
(28,651) (32,647) 3,760 (107,207) (76,830)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREGE
As at 30 June
A6H30H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224F 20214 20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FHEITL FHEITL FHEIT
Total assets mEE 169,477 165,275 194,022 150,476 253,985
Total liabilities waE (57,254) (18,845) (26,042) (42,527) (35,828)
112,223 146,430 167,980 107,949 218,157
Equity attributable to: AT AT G
Owners of the Company A FIEHEA A 111,608 145,801 167,596 107,864 218,059
Non-controlling interests ~ 3E3% A& i 2 615 629 384 85 98
112,223 146,430 167,980 107,949 218,157

Bradaverse Education (Int'l) Investments Group Limited JEFE# A (BB REEEBER AT
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